

Department of Medicine Division of Cardiology University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

METABOLIC AND GENETIC DETERMINANTS OF HDL IN FAMILIES WITH LOW HDL CHOLESTEROL AND PREMATURE CORONARY HEART DISEASE

Aino Soro-Paavonen

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in auditorium 2, Helsinki University Central Hospital, Meilahti, on 14th of May, 2004, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2004

Supervisor	Professor Marja-Riitta Taskinen, MD
	Department of Medicine
	Division of Cardiology
	University of Helsinki
	Helsinki, Finland
Reviewers	Professor Markku Savolainen, MD
	Department of Internal Medicine
	University of Oulu
	Oulu, Finland
	and
	Docent Katriina Aalto-Setälä, MD
	Department of Medicine
	University of Tampere
	Tampere, Finland
Official opponent	Professor Petri Kovanen, MD
	Wihuri Research Institute
	Helsinki, Finland
ISBN 952-91-7195-1 (pap	erback)
ISBN 952-10-1850 (pdf)	
Yliopistopaino	

Helsinki 2004

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	5
Abbreviations	6
1. ABSTRACT	8
2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	9
2.1 DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROTIC VASCULAR DISEASE	9
2.2 OVERVIEW OF LIPOPROTEIN METABOLISM	9
2.2.1 Structure of the HDL particle	.10
2.2.2 HDL subclasses and apolipoproteins	.11
2.2.3 Metabolism of HDL particles	.11
2.3 REGULATION OF HDL LEVELS	.12
2.3.1 Monogenic HDL deficiency syndromes	.14
2.3.1.1 ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 and Tangier disease	.14
2.3.1.2 Familial LCAT deficiency and Fish-Eye Disease	.14
2.3.2 Mutations in apolipoprotein genes	.15
2.3.2.1 ApoA-I	.15
2.3.2.2 ApoC-III, apoA-IV and apoA-V	.15
2.3.2.3 ApoA-II	.15
2.3.3 Effect of lipolytic enzymes and lipid transfer proteins on the regulation of HDL levels.	.16
2.3.3.1 Hepatic lipase (HL).	.16
2.3.3.2 Lipoprotein lipase (LPL)	.16
2.3.3.3 Phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP)	.17
2 3 3 4 Cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP)	17
2 3 4 Low HDL-C as a complex disorder – previous linkage findings	18
2.3.5 Environmental factors regulating HDL levels	.19
2.3.5.1 Effects of alcohol consumption on HDL	20
2.3.5.2 Effects of exercise on HDL	20
2.3.5.2 Effects of linid-lowering drugs on HDL	20
2.5.5.5 Encess of tiple to weiting drugs on TIPE	20
2.4.1 Enidemiological studies	$\frac{22}{22}$
2.4.2 Reverse cholesterol transport	22
2.4.3 Pleiotronic effects of HDI	24
2.4.3.1 HDL -bound Paraoxonase-1	24
2.4.3.7 Platelet activating factor (PAE) and Platelet activating factor acetylhydrolase (PAE)	LE-
AH)	24
2.4.3.3 Inhibition of leukocyte adhesion molecule expression by HDI	25
2.4.3.4 HDL's effect on the endothelial vasodilatiation and coagulation	25
2.4.5.4 HDL 3 CHECT ON THE CHAOMENTAL VASOUNATION and COAGUNATION	25
2.5 CERNEAL CONDITIONS RELATED TO LOW TIDE	26
2.5.2 Low HDL trait as a component of the metabolic syndrome, obesity and type 2 diabetes	20
2.5.2 Low TIDE that us a component of the metabolic synarome, obesity and type 2 diabetes	26
2.5.2.1 Type 2 diabetes	20
2.5.2.2 The inclusion of syndrome	27
2.5.5 Effects of inflation on TIDE	20
4 SUBJECTS	30
4 1 Family collection	30
4.2 Low HDL families	30
4.3 Familial combined hyperlinidemia families	31
4.5 I annual combined hyperhpherina families	31
5 METHODS	37
5.1 Linid linonrotein and other analytical methods	22
5.2 B-mode ultrasonography and intima media thickness measurement	32
5.2 G mode undustrio gruphy and menna mean unexpess measurement	34
5 3 1 Genotyping	35

5.3.2 Marker maps	35
5.4 Sequence analysis of the ATP-binding cassette transporter –A1 gene	35
5.5 Statistical methods	35
5.5.1 Statistical analyses of continuous and categorical variables	35
5.5.2 Linkage and haplotype analysis	36
5.5.3 Quantitative trait analysis by SOLAR program	
6 RESULTS	38
6.1 Identification of low HDL-C loci in the genome-wide scan (Study I)	38
6.1.1 Linkage results in a two-stage genome-wide scan	38
6.1.2 Testing the identified loci in familial combined hyperlipidemia family sample	39
6.1.3 Contribution of the ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 – gene	41
6.2 HDL particle composition and apolipoprotein distribution in familial low HDL	family
members in the carotid intima media thickness (IMT) study (Study II)	43
6.3 Carotid artery intima-media thickness in subjects with familial low HDL (Study II)	44
6.4 Determinants of low HDL-C in familial combined hyperlipidemia families (Study III).	45
6.5 Soluble cellular adhesion molecules in subjects with familial low HDL (Study IV)	48
7 DISCUSSION	51
7.1 Significance of the observed low HDL loci in the genome-wide scan	51
7.3 Methodological limitations in the linkage analyses in the genome-wide scan	52
7.4 Studies on the <i>ABCA1</i> region	53
7.5 Mechanisms of HDL lowering in hypertriglyceridemic states; FCHL as an example	53
7.5.1 Contribution of PLTP, CETP and LPL on the regulation of HDL levels in FCHL	54
7.6 Carotid artery intima-media thickness in subjects with familial low HDL	54
7.7 Elevated concentrations of circulating cellular adhesion molecules in low HDL subject	s 55
8. SUMMARY	57
9. CONCLUSIONS	58
10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	59
11. REFERENCES	61

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals

I Aino Soro*, Päivi Pajukanta*, Heidi E. Lilja, Kati Ylitalo, Markus Perola, Tero Hiekkalinna, Jorma S. A. Viikari, Marja-Riitta Taskinen, Leena Peltonen. Genome scans provide evidence for low HDL loci on 8q23, 16q24.1-24.2 and 20q13.11 in Finnish families. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 2002; 70(5):1333-4012.

II Corradina Alagona*, Aino Soro*, Kati Ylitalo, Riitta Salonen, Jukka T. Salonen, Marja-Riitta Taskinen. Low high density lipoprotein (HDL) level is associated with carotid artery intima-media thickness in asymptomatic members of low HDL families. *Atherosclerosis* 2002; 165(2):309-316.

III Aino Soro, Matti Jauhiainen, Christian Ehnholm, Marja-Riitta Taskinen. Determinants of low HDL levels in familial combined hyperlipidemia. *Journal of Lipid Research* 2003; 44(8):1536-1544

IV Aino Soro-Paavonen, Jukka Westerbacka, Christian Ehnholm, Marja-Riitta Taskinen. Inflammation and endothelial activation coexist with the metabolic syndrome in subjects with familial low HDL. *Submitted for publication*.

*)Equal contribution

Abbreviations

θ	recombination fraction
ABCA1	ATP-binding cassette transporter A1
ANOVA	analysis of variance
Аро	apolipoprotein
ARIC	Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities
ASP	affected sibpair
ATP III	Adult Treatment Panel III
ΔΤΡ	adenosine tri-phosphate
RP	blood pressure
CAM	cellular adhesion molecule
CR	carotid bulb
	carotid outo
CETD	common carona anter y
CEIP	
CHD	coronary heart disease
СК	creatine kinase
сM	centiMorgan
CM	chylomicron
CRP	C-reactive protein
d	density
DBP	diastolic blood pressure
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
EUFAM	European Multicenter Study on Familial Dyslipidemias in Patients with Premature
	Coronary Heart Disease
FCHL	familial combined hyperlipidemia
FED	fish-eve disease
FH	familial hypercholesterolemia
FHΔ	familial hypotenoiesteroienna familial hypotenoiesteroienna
	far wall
	Idi Wali formaggid V potivated recentor
HA	
HDL	nign-density lipoprotein
HL	hepatic lipase
HMG-CoA	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A
HOMA IR	homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance
HRT	hormone replacement therapy
IBD	identical-by-descent
ICAM-1	intracellular adhesion molecule-1
IDL	intermediate density lipoprotein
IL-1	interleukin-1
IMT	intima media thickness
km	kilometer
LCAT	lecithin:cholesterol -acyltransferase
LDL	low-density lipoprotein
LDL-r	low-density lipoprotein recentor
LDL I I nA-I	linoprotein A-I
	lipoprotein A I/A II
I PI	lipoprotein lipase
	Inpuprotein Ilpase
	linear X measure shake
LXKα	liver-A-receptor alpha
m	men
MI	myocardial infarction
NEFA	non-esterified free fatty acids

nitric oxide
non-parametric linkage
not significant
near wall
platelet activating factor - acetylhydrolase
polymerase chain reaction
phospholipid transfer protein
paraoxonase
peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
etude PRospective de l'Infarctus du MyocardE
pulse wave analysis
quantitative trait loci
correlation coefficient
reverse cholesterol transport
retinoid-X-receptor alpha
serum amyloid A
systolic blood pressure
standard deviation
single nucleotide polymorphism
The Sequential Oligogenic Linkage Analysis Routines
Group IIA secretory secretory phospholipase A ₂
scavenger receptor B1
sterol regulatory binding protein
Tangier disease
triglyceride
tumor necrosis factor
triglyceride-rich lipoprotein
Veterans Affairs HDL Intervention Trial
vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
very-low density lipoprotein
women
waist/hip

1. ABSTRACT

Aims

The main objective of the current thesis is to elucidate the metabolic and genetic defects underlying low levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and premature coronary heart disease (CHD) in the Finnish population. Low HDL occurs as a heterogeneous disorder and in most cases is associated with other lipoprotein abnormalities, such as hypertriglyceridemia or familial combined hyperlipidemia (FCHL). Numerous population and intervention studies have revealed low HDL as a major independent risk factor for CHD. Despite intensive research, many unanswered questions remain regarding the role of various HDL actions with respect to its cardioprotective activity.

Methods and results

This thesis involved the investigation of the metabolic and genetic defects underlying low HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) in Finnish families with low HDL and premature CHD. A genome-wide scan in 25 low HDL families was performed to identify novel low HDL loci. The significance of the observed loci was further tested in an independent study sample of 29 Finnish FCHL families. The use of the low HDL trait as a disease phenotype (HDL-C <10th age- and sex-specific Finnish population percentile) in both low HDL and FCHL families provided evidence for linkage to three loci, on chromosomes 8q23, 16q24.1-24.2 and 20q13.11. Region on 8q23 produced the best linkage evidence, a two-point lod score of 4.7. Carotid ultrasonography with intima-media thickness (IMT) measurement was performed in 89 low HDL family members to define the parameters of HDL metabolism that predict thickening of the arterial wall. The affected family members in low HDL families had higher mean IMT than did the unaffected family members. They had markedly reduced levels of the large HDL particles, HDL₂ and LpA-I particles. Mean IMT was inversely associated with HDL-C and HDL₂-C. Metabolic studies were conducted in FCHL family members to examine which of the lipolytic enzymes and lipid transfer proteins contribute to the decreased HDL levels observed in FCHL dyslipidemia. Postheparin plasma activities of hepatic lipase (HL) and lipoprotein lipase (LPL), and activities of phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) and cholesterolester transfer protein (CETP) were measured. Subjects affected by FCHL had a distinct reduction in the larger HDL₂-particles and a small low-density lipoprotein (LDL) particle size. Increased HL activity was found as a significant independent predictor of decreased HDL-C and HDL₂-C levels in FCHL family members. Finally, the levels of soluble cellular adhesion molecules (sCAMs) and Creactive protein (CRP) were measured in subjects with familial low HDL and in matched normolipidemic controls. The low HDL subjects had significantly increased levels of sCAMs and CRP, and this increase was strongly related to the accumulation of the features of the metabolic syndrome.

Significance of the study

The present thesis showed that familial low HDL has partially shared genetic background with the FCHL. Chromosomal regions on 8q23, 16q24.1-24.2 and 20q13.11 may harbor genes important for HDL-C level regulation. 8q23 has provided evidence for linkage to HDL-C regulation in Mexican-American families. Thus far, no candidate genes contributing to HDL metabolism have been identified in 8q23. According to previous linkage studies, in turn, chromosome 20g harbors genes contributing to body adiposity, fasting insulin levels, and type 2 diabetes. This region may conceal loci involved in the regulation of HDL metabolism, particularly in the presence of decreased insulin sensitivity. Also the region on 16q has provided linkage evidence for the regulation of HDL and triglyceride (TG) levels in other study samples. The affected FCHL family members have enhanced HL activity, together with a higher degree of insulin resistance, decreased HDL-C and smaller HDL and LDL particles. Both in FCHL and in low HDL families, the affected family members have reduced concentrations of HDL₂-C and LpA-I, suggesting that the same regulatory pathways are disturbed in these lipoprotein abnormalities. Subjects with familial low HDL have early atherosclerotic changes as indicated by the increased carotid artery IMT. Finally, the familial low HDL trait associates with the metabolic syndrome. Low HDL-C, together with other features of the metabolic syndrome, predisposes the affected subjects to increased endothelial activation; increased inflammatory cytokine expression, and thereby, to increased risk for atherosclerotic disease.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROTIC VASCULAR DISEASE

Atherosclerotic vascular diseases are the leading causes of death in the Western world. The classic risk factors for atherosclerosis include increased total and LDL cholesterol, cigarette smoking, hypertension, male gender, and a family history of myocardial infarction (MI) (Kannel et al. 1979; (NCEP) 2001). Low level of HDL is a well-known cardiovascular risk factor (Brewer 2004). Evidence from epidemiological and clinical studies has established that inflammation has a role in the development of atherosclerosis (Ross 1999). The earliest changes in atherogenesis are increased endothelial permeability, migration of monocytes, and transcytosis of lipoproteins into the artery wall. LDL particles bind to the extracellular matrix within the intima, where they are predisposed to oxidative modification (Yla-Herttuala 1991). The oxidized LDL activates the endothelial cells, which attract more monocytes that transform into macrophages. As the macrophages accumulate the extracellular cholesterol they are transformed into foam cells that are the earliest sign of lipid retention in the artery wall (Stary 1989). Subsequently, smooth muscle cells join the foam cells and a fatty streak starts to develop. As the fatty streak expands, it forms an atheroma that has a core containing leukocytes, lipid, and necrotic cell debris, and a fibrous cap facing the arterial lumen. Any endothelial injury may weaken this fibrous cap, leading to an acute cap rupture, local thrombosis, and eventually, to the occlusion of the vessel lumen. For the effective treatment and prevention of atherosclerotic vascular events, we should identify the complex processes predisposing to the vascular injury and to the accumulation of lipids within the arterial wall.

2.2 OVERVIEW OF LIPOPROTEIN METABOLISM

Lipids are carried in the circulation in water-soluble lipoprotein particles that consist of a hydrophobic core of esterified cholesterol and triglycerides (TGs), and a hydrophilic surface of free cholesterol, phospholipids and apolipoproteins. Apolipoproteins maintain the structural integrity of lipoproteins and direct their metabolic interactions with cell-surface receptors, hydrolytic enzymes, and lipid transport proteins. Lipoproteins are classified on the basis of particle size, electrophoretic mobility, apolipoprotein content or hydrated density in ultracentrifugation. Traditionally, five classes of lipoproteins are separated according to the hydrated density (d) in ultracentrifugation as follows: chylomicrons (CMs, d<0.96 g/ml), very-low density lipoproteins (VLDL, d<1.006g/ml), intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL, d=1.006-1.019 g/ml), low-density lipoproteins (LDL, d=1.063-1.21 mg/dl) and high density lipoproteins (HDL, d=1.125-1.21 mg/dl)(Gotto et al. 1986).

The absorbed dietary lipids are packed into CMs in the gut epithelium. CMs are first secreted into the lymph, from where they enter the general circulation. CMs have a TG-rich core and apolipoproteins (apo) B48, apoA-I, apoA-IV, apoA-IV, apoC-I, apoC-II, apoC-III and apoE as their protein constituents. Endogenously produced TGs and cholesterol are secreted from the liver in VLDL particles. The major protein in VLDL is apoB100, but they also contain apoC-I, apoC-II, apoC-III and apoE. CMs and VLDLs release fatty acids, which either serve as energy in muscles, or are stored in the adipose tissue. Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) hydrolyzes the TGs in the CM and VLDL particles, creating CM and VLDL remnants (Santamarina-Fojo and Dugi 1994). The apoC-II on the surface of CM and VLDL activates the hydrolytic activity of LPL.

The remnant particles are removed from the circulation to the liver, by hepatic LDL receptor or the LDL-receptor related protein (LRP) (Herz et al. 1988). VLDL remnants can also be transformed into IDL particles. IDL is further hydrolyzed by hepatic lipase (HL) and LPL into LDL particles (Demant et al. 1988). LDLs are cholesterol-rich particles that serve as the major cholesterol carriers

to the peripheral cells. Hepatocytes and peripheral cells have LDL receptors on their surface (Brown and Goldstein 1986). After binding to the LDL receptor on the cell membrane, LDL is taken into the cell, which results in the suppression of cellular cholesterol synthesis by the suppression of microsomal enzyme 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase. The intracellular cholesterol content down-regulates the LDL receptor expression, with the intention to prevent excess cholesterol accumulation within the cells (Brown and Goldstein 1986). Thus, the LDL receptor system coordinates the cellular cholesterol homeostasis. ApoB-100 and apoE proteins on LDL surface act as ligands to the LDL receptor. Macrophages, however, express also scavenger receptors that are not down-regulated by intracellular cholesterol level (Steinberg et al. 1989).

HDL particles originate *de novo* from liver and intestine, or they are synthesized from excess surface components during lipolysis of CMs and VLDL particles (Eisenberg 1984). Lipid-free, nascent HDLs (also called pre- β_1 -HDL particles) acquire also intracellular cholesterol from peripheral cells. Maturation of discoidal HDL particles includes esterification of non-esterified cholesterol on HDLs by lecithin:cholesterol-acyltransferase (LCAT) (Rye et al. 1999). Subsequently, cholesterol esters on mature HDLs are transferred back to the liver or are taken up by steroidogenic cells that express scavenger receptors on their surface. In addition, cholesterol esters in mature HDLs can be transferred to apoB-containing particles by cholesterol-ester transfer protein (CETP) and replaced for TGs.

2.2.1 Structure of the HDL particle

HDLs are the smallest of the five lipoprotein classes. HDLs are rich in protein, containing approximately 50% of lipid and 50% of protein by weight (Gotto et al. 1986). HDL contains a hydrophobic lipid core of cholesteryl esters and TGs surrounded by phospholipids, unesterified cholesterol and apolipoproteins. ApoA-I and apoA-II are the main structural proteins in HDL, accounting for approximately 70% and 20%, respectively, of total HDL protein mass. ApoA-I is found in all HDL subclasses, but apoA-II is present only with apoA-I. ApoA-IV, apoA-V, apoC-I, apoC-II, apoC-III, apoIV, apoD, apoE, and apoJ are found in lower amounts in mature HDLs (Barter et al. 2003). Some HDL-associated proteins are enzymatically active, e.g. LCAT, paraoxonase 1 (PON1), and platelet activating factor - acetylhydrolase (PAF-AH), or serve as lipid transfer proteins, e.g. CETP and phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP).



Figure 1. Structure of the HDL particle. PL, phospholipid; FC, free cholesterol; CE, cholesterol ester; TG, triglyceride; apoA-I, apolipoprotein A-I; apoA-II, apolipoprotein A-II

2.2.2 HDL subclasses and apolipoproteins

HDLs are a heterogeneous group of particles, which can be separated according to particle size, protein composition, or hydrated density in ultracentrifugation. The two main fractions according to the density in ultracentrifugation are HDL₂ and HDL₃. HDL₂ particles are less dense, having a higher relative amount of cholesterol and phospholipids than HDL₃ particles (Gotto et al. 1986). Non-denaturating gradient gel electrophoresis separates HDLs according to particle size into five subclasses: HDL_{2b}, HDL_{2a}, HDL_{3a}, HDL_{3b}, and HDL_{3c} subclasses. HDLs can be divided into subclasses having either an α - or a β -electrophoretic mobility as follows: pre α -HDL, α -HDL, and pre β -HDL (Davidson et al. 1994). Furthermore, as many as 12 distinct HDL subpopulations have been identified using two-dimensional electrophoresis (Asztalos et al. 1993).

HDLs can also be classified on the basis of their apolipoprotein composition into A-I -containing lipoproteins without A-II; lipoprotein A-I (LpA-I), and A-I -containing lipoproteins with A-II (LpAI-AII) (Cheung and Albers 1984). LpA-I particles are denser and have higher cholesterol content than LpAI-AII particles. Overall, subclasses based on apolipoprotein content do not exactly correspond to those separated by ultracentrifugation, and they widely overlap. LpA-I predominates in HDL₂ density range, while LpAI-AII predominates in HDL₃ density range.

2.2.3 Metabolism of HDL particles

Nascent HDL particles originate from excess surface components during lipolysis of CMs and VLDL particles, or from apoAI-containing particles secreted by the liver and intestine (Eisenberg 1984). ApoA-I is produced both in the liver by hepatocytes, and by the intestinal mucosa, while apoA-II is produced in the liver only. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPAR- α), a nuclear transcription factor, upregulates the hepatic synthesis of apoA-I and apoA-II (Staels et al. 1998). The nascent, lipid-free apoA-I-phospholipid complexes are termed as pre- β_1 -HDL particles due to their electrophoretic mobility (Davidson et al. 1994). The pre- β_1 -HDLs receive cellular cholesterol by the ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) mediated cholesterol efflux (Lawn et al. 1999). Thereby, lipid-poor pre- β_1 -HDL transforms into discoid pre- β_2 -HDL complexes with a small amount of unesterified cholesterol. ApoA-I serves as a ligand for HDL in the binding to ABCA1 on the cell membrane.

LCAT esterifies the cholesterol on HDL, transforming the discoid particles into small, spherical HDL₃ particles (Rye et al. 1999). The apolipoproteins in HDL, including apoA-I, apoA-II, apoA-IV and apoC-I, activate the esterification by LCAT. LPL hydrolyzes circulating TGs in CMs and VLDL particles (Santamarina-Fojo and Dugi 1994). As a result, more phospholipids and apoA-I are transferred into pre- β_1 -HDLs. PLTP transfers the surface lipids from the post-lipolytic VLDL and CM particles to HDL (Tall 1995). CETP, in turn, transfers the cholesterol esters from HDL to VLDL and LDL. TG is transferred in reverse direction, resulting in TG-enrichment of HDL. TG-enriched-HDL is a preferred substrate for HL, which then hydrolyses TGs and phospholipids in HDL. The combined action of CETP and HL reduces the core of large HDL₂ particles converting these to smaller HDL₃ particles (Clay et al. 1992). The endothelial lipase hydrolyses HDL phospholipids generating free fatty acids, which are taken up by the endothelial cells (Jaye et al. 1999).

Eventually, by the action of CETP, HL and PLTP, lipid-free apoA-I, or pre- β 1-HDL, is released. These particles may either serve again as acceptors for cellular lipids and phospholipids, or they may be re-incorporated into pre-existing HDL particles. Scavenger Receptor B1 (SR-B1), defined as the selective HDL receptor, regulates the selective uptake of HDL lipids to the liver and

steroidogenic tissues, namely the adrenal gland, the ovaries, and the testes (Krieger 1999). HDLbound apolipoproteins, including apoE, apoA-I, apoA-II, and apoC-III, serve as ligands in the binding to the SR-B1 (Xu et al. 1997; Bultel-Brienne et al. 2002). The catabolism of the HDL protein components is less well understood than the removal of HDL-associated lipids. HDL particles are secreted into glomerular filtrate in the kidney, from where they are either excreted or reabsorbed. HDL particles, apolipoproteins, or other HDL constituents may be reabsorbed from the tubular lumen. The endocytic receptors, cubilin and megalin, mediate this reuptake in the proximal tubulus lumen (Barth and Argraves 2001). Cubilin deficiency has first been found in patients with selective vitamin B_{12} malabsorption and increased proteinuria. It serves as the receptor for intrinsic factor/vitamin B_{12} complex, and as an albumin-binding protein for normal proximal tubule reabsorption (Kozyraki et al. 1999; Birn et al. 2000). However, the importance of cubilin with respect to determining the rate of apoA-I removal or regulating the circulating levels of HDL is somewhat unclear.



Figure 2. Simple scheme of the HDL metabolism. CM, chylomicron; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; PLTP, phospholipid transfer protein; ApoA-I, apolipoprotein A-I; ApoA-II, apolipoprotein A-II, PL, phospholipid; ABCA1, ATP-binding cassette transporter A1; HDL₂, high density lipoprotein 2; HDL₃, high density lipoprotein 3; LCAT, lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase; HL, hepatic lipase; CETP, cholesterol ester transfer protein; CE, cholesterol ester; TG, triglyceride; VLDL, very low density lipoprotein

2.3 REGULATION OF HDL LEVELS

HDL levels are regulated by both environmental and genetic factors; approximately half of the variation is attributable to genetic factors (Breslow and Dammerman 1995; Almasy et al. 1999; De Oliveira e Silva et al. 1999). There exist certain genetic defects that cause structural changes in HDL particle, or prevent the secretion of either HDL apolipoproteins or the lipid-transfer enzymes involved in HDL formation (listed in Table 1). Such candidate genes have been linked to HDL levels in various study samples. However, these do not necessarily increase the risk for CHD. The genetic regulation of HDL levels is still largely unknown.

Protein	Syndrome	HDL	CHD	Locus	Site of synthesis	References
ABCA1	TD, Familial hypoalphalipoproteinemia	\downarrow	\uparrow	9q31	Liver, intestine, lung, kidney,	(Bodzioch et al. 1999; Brooks-Wilson et al. 1999;
					tissues containing	Rust et al. 1999; Lawn et al. 2001)
LOAT		I		16.00	inflammatory cells	(Sec.14. et al. 1000; E.al.; et al. 1001;
LCAT	LCAT deficiency, FED	¥	\leftrightarrow	16q22	Liver, epidermis, testes, central nervous system	(Smith et al. 1990; Funke et al. 1991a; Kuivenhoven et al. 1997)
ApoA-I	ApoA-I mutations (listed below)			11q13-qter	Liver, intestine	(Assmann et al. 1993)
	ApoA-I _{Zavalla}	\downarrow	(1)			(Miller et al. 1998)
	ApoA-I _{Milano,} ApoA-I _{Paris}	\downarrow	\downarrow			(Franceschini et al. 1980; Perez-Mendez et al. 2000)
	ApoA-I _{Helsinki}	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow			(Tilly-Kiesi et al. 1995)
	ApoA-I _{Marburg}	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow			(Utermann et al. 1982)
	ApoA-I _{Fin}	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow			(Miettinen et al. 1997)
	Familial hypoalphalipoproteinemia	\downarrow	↑			(Ordovas et al. 1986; Yamakawa-Kobayashi et al. 1999)
	ApoA-I deficiency with corneal opacities	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow			(Funke et al. 1991b)
	ApoA-I deficiency with periorbital xanthelasmas	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow			(Romling et al. 1994)
	Familial hyperalphalipoproteinemia	↑	\downarrow			(Jeenah et al. 1990; Rader et al. 1993b)
ApoA-I, C- III	ApoA-I/C-III deficiency	\downarrow	\uparrow			(Norum et al. 1982; Karathanasis et al. 1983; Forte et al. 1984)
ApoA-I, C- III. A-IV	ApoA-I/C-III/A-IV deficiency	\downarrow	\uparrow			(Schaefer et al. 1985; Ordovas et al. 1989)
ApoA-II	ApoA-II _{Hiroshima}	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	1q21-q23	Liver	(Deeb et al. 1990)
ΗĹ	Familial HL deficiency	\uparrow	\uparrow	15q21	Liver	(Breckenridge et al. 1982; Knudsen et al. 1997; Connelly and Hegele 1998)
LPL	Familial LPL deficiency*	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow \uparrow	8p22	Muscle, adipose tissue, macrophages	(Brunzell 1989; Reymer et al. 1995a)
PLTP	No described mutations in human	\downarrow †	↓ †	20q12-q13.1	Liver, endothelium	(Whitmore et al. 1995; Jiang et al. 2001)
CETP	CETP deficiency	↑	↑↓	16q21	Liver, small intestine, macrophages spleen	(Brown et al. 1989; Zhong et al. 1996; Barzilai et al. 2003)
SR-B1	No described mutations in human	↑†	↑†	12q24.2-qter	Liver, adrenal, testes, ovary,	(Rigotti et al. 1997; Acton et al. 1999)
Cubilin	Megaloblastic anaemia	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow	10p12-p14	Kidney, intestine, placenta	(Aminoff et al. 1999)

Table 1. Molecular defects leading to increased or decreased level of HDL

*) More than 50 different mutations have been described; †) In mice with a targeted null mutation in the gene

2.3.1 Monogenic HDL deficiency syndromes

2.3.1.1 ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 and Tangier disease

Tangier disease (TD) is a rare autosomal recessive disorder, characterized by enlarged yellow tonsils, hepatosplenomegaly, peripheral neuropathy, a virtual absence of HDL-C, apoA-I and apoA-II from plasma, and frequently premature CHD (Assmann et al. 1995). It is caused by a homozygous mutation in the ABCA1 gene (*ABCA1*) [MIM 205400, 600046] located in chromosome 9q31 (Bodzioch et al. 1999; Brooks-Wilson et al. 1999; Rust et al. 1999). The cholesterol efflux from cells is blocked in TD patients, which results in cellular accumulation of cholesterol esters. This prevents the lipid transfer to apoA-I, which leads to a rapid clearance of apoA-I from the plasma, and an abnormally low level of circulating HDL.

In subjects heterozygous for a defective allele in the ABCA1 gene, the cholesterol efflux is decreased to approximately one-half of those in normal individuals (Clee et al. 2000). The heterozygotes also have increased carotid artery intima-media thickness (IMT), and thus an increased risk for the development for early atherogenesis (van Dam et al. 2002). The identification of ABCA1 as the gatekeeper in the cellular cholesterol efflux has been considered as an important step in the HDL research. In the general population, however, the data on the association between the allelic variants in ABCA1 and HDL-C level regulation is inconsistent. Some studies have reported associations between ABCA1 and HDL level regulation (Brooks-Wilson et al. 1999; Wang et al. 2000), while in others no such association existed (Brousseau et al. 2001; Kakko et al. 2003). The substitution of a lysine for arginine at amino acid 219 of the ABCA1 protein (R219K), a common variant with a carrier frequency of 46% in Europeans, has been linked to increased levels of HDL, lower TGs and reduced progression of atherosclerosis (Clee et al. 2001). In transgenic mice, the upregulation of hepatic and macrophage ABCA1 expression raises the levels of HDL-C and apoA-I, enhances the reverse cholesterol transport (Singaraja et al. 2001), and reduces diet-induced atherosclerosis (Joyce et al. 2002). Novel ATP-binding cassette transporters, which belong to the ABCG subfamily, have been recently identified, including ABCG1, ABCG5 and ABCG8; all these contribute to cholesterol-trafficking in macrophages, hepatocytes, and intestine (Schmitz et al. 2001).

2.3.1.2 Familial LCAT deficiency and Fish-Eye Disease

LCAT plays a central role in the maturation of the HDL particles, by esterifying the non-esterified cholesterol on HDLs (Rye et al. 1999). Gene coding for LCAT is located in chromosome 16q22 (Azoulay et al. 1987). Several LCAT mutations have been described, as reviewed by Kuivenhoven et al. (Kuivenhoven et al. 1997). In patients homotsygous for mutated LCAT, serum HDL is nearly absent whereas in heterozygotes, HDL-C is reduced 30% to 50%. However, premature CHD is uncommon in LCAT deficient patients. They have accumulation of lecithin, free cholesterol and nascent type of HDLs in the plasma, and a triad of diffuse corneal opacities, hemolytic anemia, and proteinuria (Norum and Gjone 1967). In the classic LCAT deficiency, cholesterol esterification in plasma is reduced, whereas in fish-eye disease (FED), there is a specific inability of LCAT to esterify the free cholesterol on HDL particles (Funke et al. 1991a). The FED patients have normal serum TC but raised TG, VLDL, strikingly high LDL, and a 90% reduction in the level of esterified cholesterol in HDL.

2.3.2 Mutations in apolipoprotein genes

2.3.2.1 ApoA-I

The apoA-I gene [(MIM 107680)] is located in chromosome 11, in ApoAI/CIII/AIV gene (APOA1C3A4) cluster (Law et al. 1984). Several mutations that affect apoA-I production have been described (Assmann et al. 1993; Romling et al. 1994; Tilly-Kiesi et al. 1995; Miettinen et al. 1997). Variants in the APOA1C3A4 that affect the synthesis of either apoA-I (Miller et al. 1998), apoA-I and apoC-III (Norum et al. 1982; Karathanasis et al. 1983), or apoAI, apoC-III, and apoA-IV (Ordovas et al. 1989), have been associated with premature atherosclerosis. Certain variants appear to protect from CHD (Franceschini et al. 1980; von Eckardstein et al. 1989; Rader et al. 1993a). The apoA-I_{Milano} and apoA-I_{Paris} increase the antioxidant capacity of apoA-I particles (Bielicki and Oda 2002). Moreover, studies in mice and rabbits with experimental atherosclerosis have demonstrated that intravenous administration of reconstituted apoA-I_{Milano}/phospholipid complexes decreases atherosclerotic plaque lipid and macrophage content (Shah et al. 2001). Recently, Nissen et al. confirmed that an intravenous treatment with recombinant apoA-I_{Milano}/phospholipid complex (ETC-216, Esperion Therapeutics, Ann Arbor, Michigan) causes significant regression in the volume of coronary atheromas in patients with acute coronary syndromes (Nissen et al. 2003). Also such variants exist that cause increased levels of HDL-C, apoA-I, and LpA-I, potentially due to the selective upregulation of apoA-I production (Jeenah et al. 1990; Rader et al. 1993b).

2.3.2.2 ApoC-III, apoA-IV and apoA-V

The in vivo role of apoC-III, an apolipoprotein found on both apoB-containing lipoproteins and HDL, is poorly understood. Both apoC-III and apoC-I inhibit LPL activity (Brown and Baginsky 1972; Ginsberg et al. 1986). ApoC-III also inhibits the lipolysis of VLDLs and reduces the remnant lipoprotein clearance. In mice overexpressing human apoC-III, the tissue uptake of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRLs) from the circulation is reduced, due to increased apoC-III and decreased apoE on VLDL particles (Aalto-Setälä et al. 1992). The specific physiological function of apoA-IV, a minor protein component of HDL, has also remained unclear (Aalto-Setälä et al. 1994). It is synthesized mainly in the intestine, and associates with CM and HDL particles. Together with apoA-I, apoA-IV activates LCAT (Steinmetz and Utermann 1985). ApoA-IV is involved in intestinal cholesterol absorption and in the postprandial clearance of TRLs (Hockey et al. 2001). Furthermore, plasma level of apoA-IV appears to correlate inversely with the presence of CAD (Kronenberg et al. 2000). ApoA-V, a recently characterized apolipoprotein, was first found to be expressed in liver in studies with rats (van der Vliet et al. 2001). ApoA-V is suggested to have a role in the metabolism of TRLs, and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) across the APOAV locus have been linked to FCHL and TG level regulation in separate study samples (Pennacchio et al. 2002; Ribalta et al. 2002; Talmud et al. 2002; Mar et al. 2004). The locus for the apoA-V gene (APOA5) locates near to the APOA1C3A4, which in fact, could be termed as the APOA1C3A4A5 cluster (Pennacchio et al. 2001). PPAR- α increases the hepatic expression of apoA-V (Prieur et al. 2003).

2.3.2.3 ApoA-II

ApoA-II is the second most abundant protein component of HDL, having several potential roles in lipid metabolism. ApoA-II stabilizes the structure and function of apoA-I and modulates the reaction of HDL with LCAT (Durbin and Jonas 1997). ApoA-II expression in the liver is upregulated by nuclear transcription factors, including PPAR- α , sterol regulatory binding protein (SREBP), and retinoid-X-receptor (RXR) (Tailleux et al. 2002). The apoA-II locus [APOA2 (MIM *107670)] is mapped to chromosome 1q21-q23 (Middleton-Price et al. 1988). The first familial apoA-II deficiency trait was discovered in Hiroshima, Japan, and designated apoA-II_{Hiroshima} (Deeb et al. 1990). However, the carriers of this variation do not have either dyslipidemia or increased risk for CHD. So far, no significant association has been reported between common apoA-II variants

and CHD. *In vitro*, human apoA-II reduces the PLTP-mediated HDL interconversion (Pussinen et al. 1997).

Studies in transgenic mice overexpressing apoA-II have not resulted in a clear conclusion on the atherogenic properties of apoA-II. Mice transgenic for both human apoA-I and apoA-II are more susceptible for atherogenesis than mice transgenic for human apoA-I only (Schultz et al. 1993). Moreover, mice that overexpress mouse apoA-II exhibit increased atherosclerotic lesion development as compared to normal mice, despite elevated HDL-C concentrations (Warden et al. 1993). ApoA-II inhibits the LPL and HL mediated hydrolysis of VLDL-triglycerides, and thereby affects the clearance of TRLs (Boisfer et al. 1999). Sauvaget et. al (Sauvaget et al. 2004) recently showed that glucose induces the *APOA2* expression in mice, and that the mice overexpressing human apoA-II are glucose intolerant. Moreover, they suggested that increased apoA-II causes hypertriglyceridemia, low HDL, and contributes to the development of type II diabetes.

2.3.3 Effect of lipolytic enzymes and lipid transfer proteins on the regulation of HDL levels

2.3.3.1 Hepatic lipase (HL)

HL is an endothelial enzyme, found in the luminal surface of endothelium of hepatic sinusoids and in capillaries lining the tissues that synthesize steroid hormones (Kuusi et al. 1979). HL can hydrolyze TG and phospholipid in all lipoprotein classes, though the most preferable substrates are TG-rich HDL particles (Clay et al. 1991). The HL-mediated hydrolysis of HDL increases in hypertriglyceridemia, and in fact, data from *in vitro* and animal studies suggest that HL activity in hypertriglyceridemic states leads to increased catabolic rate of HDL (Rashid et al. 2003). HL is also involved in the SR-B1 mediated selective uptake of HDL cholesteryl esters in liver and in steroidogenic tissues. It serves as a cofactor for the interaction between HDL and SR-B1, and remodels HDL by hydrolyzing its phopholipids (Ji et al. 1997c; Lambert et al. 1999). In addition, HL acts as a ligand in the binding of LDL to the LDL receptor (Choi et al. 1998).

HL gene resides in chromosome 15q21 (Sparkes et al. 1987b). Some data exist supporting the role of HL locus in the regulation of HDL levels (Guerra et al. 1997; Almasy et al. 1999). Familial HL deficiency is a rare, single point mutation disorder, characterized by increased HDL-C, enlarged, TG-rich HDL particles (Knudsen et al. 1997) and frequently, premature CHD (Connelly and Hegele 1998). The HL activity level is regulated by hormonal, environmental and genetic factors. Exercise training decreases HL activity, whereas chronic alcohol abuse enhances the hepatic expression of HL (Kuusi et al. 1982; Taskinen et al. 1982). Androgen steroids markedly increase, and estrogens decrease HL activity (Ehnholm et al. 1975; Tikkanen et al. 1982). Consequently, estrogens have a moderate HDL₂-increasing effect.

2.3.3.2 Lipoprotein lipase (LPL)

LPL is located on the luminal surface of the capillary endothelium in several tissues, being abundant in skeletal muscle, myocardium and adipose tissue. The primary function of LPL is to catalyze the hydrolysis of TGs and phospholipids within CM and VLDL, converting these into remnant particles (Santamarina-Fojo and Dugi 1994). The resulting phospholipid and apolipoprotein remnants are transferred to HDL. Apo-CII serves as a cofactor in the LPL-mediated hydrolysis. LPL enhances the clearance of CM and CM surface remnants by the liver, and promotes cellular catabolism of VLDL via LRP (Mann et al. 1995). Macrophages are the primary source of LPL in the subendothelial space of the capillary vessel wall. Indeed, LPL may exert proatherogenic effects when produced by macrophages: It facilitates the macrophage lipoprotein uptake, and increases lipoprotein retention within the subendothelial space (Lindqvist et al. 1983; Rumsey et al. 1992; Saxena et al. 1992).

Increased LPL activity reflects increased lipolysis and availability of surface compounds for HDL formation; therefore, it decreases TGs and increases HDL levels (Nikkila et al. 1982). Reduced LPL activity results in an atherogenic plasma lipid profile, i.e. elevated levels of TC and TGs, and low HDL. Thus, the LPL gene has been extensively studied as a potential candidate gene responsible for familial dyslipidemic syndromes, namely FCHL or low HDL (Babirak et al. 1992; Reymer et al. 1995a; Reymer et al. 1995b; Hoffer et al. 1996; Fisher et al. 1997). The LPL gene is located on chromosome 8p22 (Sparkes et al. 1987b). Patients homozygous for a mutation in the LPL gene typically have fasting chylomicronemia, elevated TGs and decreased HDL. Over 50 mutations within the LPL gene have been identified (Santamarina-Fojo 1992). Reymer et al (Reymer et al. 1995a) first identified an LPL variant A291S in patients with CHD and low HDL. This relatively common variant has a carrier frequency of approximately 4% in the European population. The heterozygosity for A291S predisposes to lower LPL activity, and preponderance for small, dense LDL particles, hyperinsulinemia and hypertriglyceridemia. In addition, carriers of the A291S variant have prolonged postprandial lipaemia (Mero et al. 1999). In contrast, no linkage evidence has been found between the LPL locus and the low HDL or FCHL traits in Finnish families (Pajukanta et al. 1997; Lilja et al. 2002).

2.3.3.3 Phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP)

PLTP is a plasma glycoprotein that transfers surface phospholipids and unesterified cholesterol from the post-lipolytic VLDL and chylomicron particles into HDL and other plasma lipoproteins (Jauhiainen et al. 1993). Thereby, PLTP contributes to the fusion of HDLs into large HDL₂ particles and small pre β -HDL-precursors. The TG-enrichment of HDL enhances this particle conversion (Settasatian et al. 2001). Interestingly, the majority of PLTP in the circulation is inactive, while the metabolic role of the inactive form remains to be established (Karkkainen et al. 2002).

The gene encoding PLTP is located on chromosome 20q12-q13.1 (Whitmore et al. 1995). Genetic PLTP deficiency has not been described in humans. Studies in mice and in humans have provided evidence for the contribution of the chromosome 20q locus to body adiposity, fasting insulin levels and to the development of type 2 diabetes (Lembertas et al. 1997; Zouali et al. 1997; Frayling et al. 1999; Ghosh et al. 2000; Mehrabian et al. 2000). In mice, the farnesoid X-activated receptor (FXR) and PPAR- α are involved in the regulation of the transcriptional activity of the PLTP gene (Tu and Albers 2001). Mice treated with fenofibrate, a fibric acid derivative, have an increased activity level of PLTP as well as an increased HDL particle size through a PPAR- α -dependent increase in PLTP expression (Bouly et al. 2001). PLTP may also be involved in the intracellular lipidation of apoB containing lipoproteins. A recent study in PLTP deficient mice showed that the absence of PLTP causes decreased hepatic secretion of apoB-containing lipoproteins and decreased atherosclerosis (Jiang et al. 2001). Consequently, high PLTP activity, observed in hyperinsulinemia or obesity, might enhance hepatic production of apoB-containing lipoproteins.

2.3.3.4 Cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP)

CETP is a hydrophobic plasma glycoprotein that redistributes cholesteryl esters and TG between HDL and apoB-containing lipoproteins (Tall 1995). It is most abundantly expressed in the liver, spleen and adipose tissue (Jiang et al. 1991). CETP plays a major role in the catabolism of HDL, as it transfers HDL cholesteryl esters to TG-rich lipoproteins. As a result, the lipid content in the HDL core is reduced, and large HDL₂-particles transform into smaller HDL₃-particles. The resulting HDL particles are TG–enriched, which in turn, are preferred substrates for HL. CETP also exchanges cholesteryl esters between LDL and VLDL. CETP activity levels are increased in type 2 diabetes, FCHL, hypercholesterolemia, and combined hyperlipidemia, all these conditions characterized by low HDL and high TGs (Tato et al. 1995; Riemens et al. 1998). A high-fat diet

enhances the CETP activity, whereas the activity decreases during fasting or physical exercise (Son and Zilversmit 1986; Seip et al. 1993).

The gene coding for CETP [OMIM<u>118470</u>] is located in chromosome 16q21 (Sparkes et al. 1987a). Most reports on the mutations resulting in CETP deficiency are based on findings in Japanese population (Brown et al. 1989), while some mutations have been identified in Caucasian populations (Miettinen et al. 1998; Teh et al. 1998). In CETP deficiency, the catabolism of apoA-I and ApoA-II is delayed, whereas the production rate remains unaffected (Ikewaki et al. 1993). Therefore, patients with a hereditary CETP deficiency have elevated levels of serum HDL-C and apoA-I, and retention of cholesteryl esters within the HDL pool (Brown et al. 1989; Inazu et al. 1990). They also have large, TG-poor HDL particles that are enriched with apoE (Yamashita et al. 1990). Serum TG, total cholesterol, and apoB levels are slightly elevated, while serum apoA-I, apoC-III and apoE levels are markedly increased.

The functional polymorphisms in *CETP* locus and in *CETP* promoter region have been extensively studied as potential candidates for the HDL regulation. The common polymorphisms Taq1B in intron 1 and isoleucine 405 to valine (I405V) have been associated with decreased CETP activity, increased HDL-C and increased apoA-I concentration (Gudnason et al. 1999). In the Veterans Affairs HDL-C Intervention Trial (VA-HIT) and in the Framingham Offspring Study, the rare B2 allele in TaqIB associated with higher HDL-C levels and decreased risk for CHD (Ordovas et al. 2000; Brousseau et al. 2002). In Finnish subjects, the I405V polymorphism was significantly associated with HDL-C levels, explaining about 8% of the HDL-C variability in women (Kakko et al. 2001). In men, the I405V and arginine 451 to glutamine (R451Q) polymorphisms associated significantly with carotid IMT, explaining 9.7% of the variability. Promoter polymorphism C to A - 629 relative to the first transcribed nucleotide in the CETP gene (CETP/-629), and the I405V and R451Q genotypes explained about 7% of the variability in carotid IMT in women (Kakko et al. 2001). Alcohol consumption and smoking influence the effects of the CETP polymorphisms on the HDL level regulation (Hannuksela et al. 1994; Fumeron et al. 1995; Corbex et al. 2000; Kakko et al. 2000).

A recent interesting finding was that the VV allelic variant in the I405V polymorphism associates with exceptional longevity (Barzilai et al. 2003). The VV genotype appeared to be linked with significantly larger HDL and LDL particle sizes, lower serum CETP concentrations, and lower prevalence of hypertension and cardiovascular disease. In turn, Agerholm-Larsen showed that alanine 373 for proline substitution (A373P) and R451Q polymorphisms in *CETP* predispose to a decreased HDL-C concentration, but paradoxically, decreased risk of CHD in women not receiving hormone replacement therapy (HRT) (Agerholm-Larsen et al. 2000b). However, an opposite trend was found in men and in women using HRT. In some studies, the variants causing low CETP activity have shown association with increased CHD risk (Zhong et al. 1996; Agerholm-Larsen et al. 2000a). In Danish women, both the VV and IV variants in the I405V increased the risk of ischemic heart disease, despite the elevated levels of HDL-C (Agerholm-Larsen et al. 2000a).

2.3.4 Low HDL-C as a complex disorder – previous linkage findings

Several loci for the low HDL trait have been reported in previous genome-wide scans and candidate gene studies. Allelic variants in the *ABCA1* locus in chromosome 9 have been linked to the common low HDL trait in French-Canadian study samples and in subjects from other origin (Brooks-Wilson et al. 1999; Wang et al. 2000). Kort et al. (Kort et al. 2000) found evidence for linkage for low HDL on chromosome 11q23.3, approximately 10 cM distal to the *APOA1C3A4* cluster. Almasy et al. (Almasy et al. 1999) identified two suggestive loci for HDL level on chromosomes 8 and 15, in a population-based sample of Mexican-Americans. They applied the pedigree-based quantitative-trait

linkage (OTL) analysis, with the intention to avoid the dichotomization of a quantitative phenotype, the level of HDL-C. A linkage evidence for HDL-C and TG on chromosome 8p was found in a sample of 172 twin pairs with no lipid abnormalities (Knoblauch et al. 1997). In the genome-wide scan in families from the Framingham Heart Study, suggestive evidence for linkage for TG/HDLratio was obtained on chromosome 7 (Shearman et al. 2000). The NHLBI Family Heart Study, a multicenter study incorporating altogether 4 population-based cohorts from the Framingham Heart Study, Utah Health Family Tree Study, and two centers from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study reported a QTL for HDL-C on chromosome 5p, and a suggestive linkage evidence for chromosome 13 (Peacock et al. 2001). In the Hypertension Genetic Epidemiology Network study, a locus on chromosome 5 produced suggestive evidence for linkage for HDL-C in variance component analysis (Coon et al. 2001). In a subsequent study also utilizing variance components method in Mexican American families, a QTL locus for HDL-C was found on chromosome 9p (Arva et al. 2002). Recently, chromosome 16q exhibited evidence for linkage for HDL-C in Mexican Americans from the San Antonio Family Heart Study (Mahaney et al. 2003). This locus was placed within a 15 cM region, near the structural loci for the LCAT and CETP genes. In turn, a locus on chromosome 6 has been linked to elevated HDL-C levels in a family with familial hypercholesterolemia (FH) (Canizales-Quinteros et al. 2003).

2.3.5 Environmental factors regulating HDL levels

Several life-style effects contribute to the HDL level regulation (listed in Table 2.). In general, smokers have lower HDL level than non-smokers and the negative association between cigarette smoking and HDL is dose-dependent (Craig et al. 1989). Some medications affect the levels of HDL, including beta-adrenergic blockers, androgenic steroids, and androgenic progestins. Hypertriglyceridemia of any cause is associated with low HDL (Despres et al. 2000). Obesity, total adiposity and hyperglycemia have a lowering effect on HDL, decreasing especially the amount of the larger HDL₂ particles (Williams et al. 1995). HDL increases about 0.03mmol/l (1 mg/dl) for every 3 kg of weight loss in both men and women, provided that the weight reduction is maintained (Dattilo and Kris-Etherton 1992). On the other hand, very-low-fat diets, for example, a vegetarian diet, may also decrease HDL (Knopp et al. 1997). Exogenous estrogen therapy has an HDL-raising effect (Sacks et al. 1995).

HDL- lowering effect	HDL-raising effect
Obesity	Weight reduction
Smoking	Exercise
Hypertriglyceridemia	Alcohol consumption
Beta-blocker therapy	Estrogen therapy
Androgenic sex hormones	Statins
Chronic and acute infections	Fibrates
	Niacin
	Cholestyramine
	Probucol
	CETP inhibitors

Table 2. Factors affecting HDL-C levels

2.3.5.1 Effects of alcohol consumption on HDL

Moderate alcohol consumption protects from atheroclerotic diseases. In a meta-analysis of 42 studies, Rimm et al. (Rimm et al. 1999) concluded that an alcohol intake of 30 g (2.5 servings) per day reduces the CHD risk by 24.7%, through changes in lipids, lipoproteins and fibrinogen. Up to 50% of this protective action was explained by the increase in HDL level. In fact, alcohol may increase the plasma levels of HDL-C even 18% (De Oliveira et al. 2000). The beneficial effect is not dependent on the type of the beverage (wine, beer, or spirit) (van der Gaag et al. 2001). Alcohol increases the production rates of both apoA-I and apoA-II, without affecting their fractional catabolic rate (De Oliveira et al. 2000). Alcohol consumption also decreases the activities of HL and CETP, and increases LPL activity (Taskinen et al. 1985; Savolainen et al. 1990; Hannuksela et al. 1992). It induces the RCT by increasing the cellular cholesterol efflux and cholesterol esterification (van der Gaag et al. 2001). Interestingly, Fumeron et al. showed that alcohol consumption contributes significantly to the effect of CETP/TaqIB polymorphism on HDL-C and CHD risk (Fumeron et al. 1995). They found that the B2 allele associates with increased HDL-C level and decreased CHD risk only in subjects drinking over 25 g/d of alcohol per day. Still, the epidemiological evidence proposes a J- or U-shaped relationship between alcohol consumption and CHD mortality (Agarwal 2002).

2.3.5.2 Effects of exercise on HDL

Physical activity induces beneficial changes in the lipoprotein levels. A positive dose-response effect exists between the kilometers (km) run per week, and an increase in HDL-C. A study in healthy, middle-aged men showed that those who ran 11.3 to 22.6 km per week at moderate intensity achieved the best changes in their lipoproteins (Kokkinos et al. 1995). However, it has also been shown that a threshold of 11.3 to 12.9 km per week should be exceeded in order to attain any signicant increase in HDL-C. Interestingly, recent studies have suggested that genetic regulation, namely CETP and HL genotypes contribute to the effect of exercise on HDL level regulation (Wilund et al. 2002; Halverstadt et al. 2003).

2.3.5.3 Effects of lipid-lowering drugs on HDL

The lowering of LDL-C is considered the primary goal in the prevention of CHD. In the Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP III) guidelines, the LDL-C threshold for the start of drug therapy varied from 3,3 mmol/l to 4.1 mmol/l (130 to 160 mg/dl), depending on the presence of other CHD risk factors ((NCEP) 2001). HMG-CoA inhibitors (statins) and fibric acid derivatives (fibrates) are widely used hypolipidemic drugs in the primary and secondary prevention of CHD. Both of these have a moderate HDL raising effect. In the Helsinki Heart Study and in the Veterans Affairs HDL Intervention Trial (VA-HIT), the HDL-C elevation with gemfibrozil treatment was significantly associated with a reduced number of the CHD events (Manninen et al. 1992; Rubins et al. 1999). However, no such associations have been observed in any of the large-scale secondary or primary prevention trials with statins. Generally, the conclusions on the beneficial HDL-increasing effects by statins are obtained from results of *post hoc* analyses of large intervention trials.

2.3.5.3.1 Statins

The primary target of statins is to decrease LDL-C by inhibiting the HMG-CoA reductase, the ratelimiting enzyme in cellular cholesterol synthesis. Statins also increase the expression of LDL receptors and inhibit the entry of LDL into the circulation (Arad et al. 1992). Their effects on HDL and TGs are moderate. Statins increase HDL-C levels by approximately 4% to 10% (Gotto 2002). Data from *in vitro* studies indicate that certain statins influence both the production and the catabolism of apoA-I, by PPAR- α -mediated up-regulation of *APOA1* gene transcription (Martin et al. 2001). Statins increase the catabolism of HDLs by the up-regulation of SR-B1, which results in increased selective uptake of HDL lipids (Tsuruoka et al. 2002). Statins also reduce the CETPmediated cholesteryl ester transfer from HDL to apoB-containing lipoproteins, which results in increased HDL-C (Guerin et al. 2000).

2.3.5.3.2 Fibric acid derivatives (fibrates)

Fibrates are hypolipidemic drugs that primarily lower TG levels and also raise HDL-C. Fibrates stimulate the fatty-acid oxidation in muscle and liver. In the liver, the oxidative metabolism of fatty acids increases, the synthesis of TGs decreases, and the secretion of VLDL decreases (Staels et al. 1998). In the muscle, fibrates increase the LPL activity and enhance the uptake of fatty acids. On the molecular level, fibrates act through the activation of the PPAR- α (Fruchart et al. 2001). PPARs are nuclear hormone receptors, consisting of three distinct classes termed alpha (α), delta (δ) and gamma (γ), each encoded by a separate gene (Schoonjans et al. 1996). Activated PPAR- α effects the transcription of several genes involved in lipid and energy metabolism, including the induction of apoA-I, apoA-II, SR-B1, LPL, ABCA1, and apoA-V expression, and down-regulation of the apoC-III expression (Staels and Auwerx 1998; Chinetti et al. 2001; Prieur et al. 2003). The PPAR- α activation by fibrates enhances the lipolysis of TRLs and increases the production surface remnants for the formation of HDL particles. Consequenly, TGs decrease and HDL-C rises.

2.3.5.3.3 Cholestyramine, nicotinic acid (niacin) and probucol

Cholestyramine (Shepherd et al. 1979a) and niacin (Shepherd et al. 1979b) are hypolipidemic drugs that raise HDL levels. Cholestyramine stimulates the synthesis of apoA-I whereas niacin increases the synthesis of both apoA-I and apoA-II. The effect of cholestyramine was examined in the Lipid Research Clinics Coronary Primary Prevention Trial, in which the cholestyramine treatment reduced the CHD risk, with a subsequent small increase in HDL-C (1984).

The use of niacin at traditional doses is often limited by side effects. However, the combination therapy with statin and low-dose niacin increases HDL-C levels effectively (Wink et al. 2002). Probucol, an antioxidative and hypolipidemic agent, has been postulated to increase reverse cholesterol transport by enhancing CETP activity, while it causes a marked decrease in HDL-C (McPherson et al. 1991). Though probucol has been shown to reduce the rate of coronary artery restenosis after balloon angioplasty in humans (Tardif et al. 1997), its use in clinical practice is not common.

2.3.5.3.4 CETP inhibitors

The potentially anti-atherogenic effect of reduced CETP activity has raised interest towards developing CETP inhibitors as therapeutic agents to the treatment of hyperlipidemia and low HDL. In rabbits, CETP suppression reduces the levels of LDL and VLDL, increases HDL-C, and increases the expression of LDL receptor (Sugano et al. 1998). Moreover, the CETP suppression decreases the aortic atherosclerotic lesions in experimental rabit models (Okamoto et al. 2000). De Grooth et al. (de Grooth et al. 2002) showed that a 4 week treatment with the CETP inhibitor JJT-705 resulted in significantly elevated levels of HDL-C (34% increase), reduced CETP activity, and minor changes in LDL levels in humans. Similar results were obtained in healthy subjects, in a recent phase-1 multidose study with CETP inhibitor torcetrapib (Clark et al. 2004). However, in some studies the patients with a low CETP activity due to polymorphisms or mutations within the CETP gene have had an increased susceptibility for atheosclerotic disease (Agerholm-Larsen et al. 2000a). Though the function of CETP can be thought to be atherogenic due to its ability to decrease plasma levels of HDL-C, it may also have an antiatherogenic role in the reverse cholesterol transport system. Therefore, more information is needed on the efficacy of chemical CETP inhibitors in humans.

2.4. CARDIOPROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF HDL

2.4.1 Epidemiological studies

Low HDL was recognized as one of the main CHD risk factors already in the early 1950's (Nikkila 1953). To date, numerous epidemiological and interventional studies have confirmed the inverse relationship between HDL levels and CHD event rates (Assmann et al. 1996; Goldbourt et al. 1997; Despres et al. 2000). The estimated reduction of CHD risk by each 0.026 mmol/l (1 mg/dl) increase in HDL-C is 2% in men and 3% in women (Gordon et al. 1989). The ATP III has defined the risk threshold value of low HDL-C level as <1.04 mmol/l (40 mg/dl)((NCEP) 2001). Low HDL-C is an important prognostic risk factor for a new coronary event also in patients with a previously diagnosed CHD (Bolibar et al. 2000). The prognostic value of different HDL subpopulations or apolipoproteins has been investigated in some prospective studies. In "etude PRospective de l'Infarctus du MyocardE" (PRIME) Study, apoA-I was found to be a better CHD risk indicator than total HDL-C (Luc et al. 2002), whereas in the ARIC Study and in the Physicians Health Study, no such differences existed (Stampfer et al. 1991; Sharrett et al. 2001).

2.4.2 Reverse cholesterol transport

The main anti-atherogenic function of HDL is traditionally thought to be the ability to promote the efflux of free cholesterol from cells and to transport it to the liver, a process termed reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) (Figure 3) (Stein and Stein 1999). The ABCA1 plays a key role in the RCT, by mediating the efflux of unesterified cholesterol and phospholipids from the cells into HDL particles (Lawn et al. 1999). Phospholipid is the primary substrate for ABCA1, and the apoA-Iphospholipid complex, the pre- β_1 -HDL particle, is the most effective cholesterol acceptor (Fielding et al. 2000). The esterification of cholesterol by LCAT increases the net efflux of cellular cholesterol to HDL by preventing the re-diffusion of cholesterol back to the cells (Czarnecka and Yokoyama 1995). The cholesterol esters on HDL are eventually transferred to the liver or steroidogenic cells via SR-BI, or to apoB-containing lipoproteins by CETP. The HDL-derived cholesterol in apoBcontaining particles can be internalized to the liver by the LDL receptor (Brown and Goldstein 1986). The selective cholesterol uptake by SR-B1 is enhanced by LCAT (Temel et al. 2003). In contrast to the action in hepatocytes or steroidogenic cells, where SR-B1 mediates the lipid uptake, the SR-B1 expression on macrophages facilitates the cholesterol efflux from the cells into HDL (Ji et al. 1997b). Thus, SR-B1 has a dual enhancing effect on the RCT system. PLTP transfers the surface phospholipids and unesterified cholesterol from apoB-containing lipoproteins to HDL. It also mediates the fusion of HDL particles, thus re-generating both pre-B₁-HDL and HDL₂ particles (Jauhiainen et al. 1993).

Pertubation of the RCT impairs body cholesterol homeostasis; it leads to the deposition of cholesterol in the arterial wall, which initiates the development of arteriosclerosis. Therefore, the modulation of HDL metabolism and the RCT system might be important targets for antiatherosclerotic drug therapy. The ABCA1 expression is regulated by transcription factors, including the sterol regulatory binding protein (SREBP) and the liver-X-receptor alpha / retinoid-X-receptor alpha (LXR α /RXR α) (Repa et al. 2000; Santamarina-Fojo et al. 2001). The SREBP and LXR α /RXR α are up regulated by cellular cholesterol level, oxysterols, and retinoids, which therefore have a positive effect on the ABCA1 expression and the lipid efflux (Costet et al. 2000). PPAR- α induces the *ABCA1*-promoter transcription by enhancing the expression of LXR α (Chinetti et al. 2001). The excess of free fatty acids, in turn, increases the degradation of ABCA1 (Wang and Oram 2002). Inflammatory cytokines, including interferon- γ and lipopolysaccharides, suppress the ABCA1 expression (Baranova et al. 2002; Wang et al. 2002). HDL can also accept cellular cholesterol from macrophages by aqueous diffusion and microsolubilization (Rothblat et al. 1999). These slow processes are not dependent on cellular proteins. LCAT-mediated cholesterol esterification enhances the passive diffusional efflux of unesterified cholesterol from cellular plasma membrane to HDL. During the microsolubilization, phopsholipids on the cellular plasma membrane associate with lipid-free apolipoproteins, which sequester them to the extracellular compartment together with some cholesterol efflux. Nonetheless, passive diffusion and microsolubilization are rather slow and inefficient ways to remove the excess cholesterol from macrophages.



Figure 3. Pathways involved in the reverse cholesterol transport. CE, cholesterol ester; FC, free cholesterol; SR-B1, scavenger receptor B1; HDL₂, high density lipoprotein 2; HDL₃, high density lipoprotein 3; ApoA-I, apolipoprotein A-I; PLTP, phospholipid transfer protein; PL, phospholipid; TG, triglyceride; VLDL, very low density lipoprotein; ApoB, apolipoprotein B; LCAT, lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase; ABCA1, ATP-binding cassette transporter A1; CETP cholesterol ester transfer protein; IDL, intermediate density lipoprotein; LDL, low density lipoprotein; LDL-r, low density lipoprotein receptor; LRP, low density lipoprotein receptor related protein

2.4.3 Pleiotropic effects of HDL

2.4.3.1 HDL-bound Paraoxonase-1

The beneficial effects by which HDL protects against arteriosclerosis and thrombosis extend beyond reverse cholesterol transport (Table 3). HDL protects the arterial wall against oxidative damage by preventing the oxidation of LDL. Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) is an HDL-bound esterase enzyme that is responsible for the prevention of LDL oxidation (Mackness et al. 2002). The PON content of HDL is considered as the main determinant of its anti-inflammatory capacity. It blocks the accumulation of lipid peroxides in LDL, and it prevents the activation of monocytes by oxidised LDL (Watson et al. 1995; Mackness et al. 2000). An increased serum PON1 activity reduces the peroxide and aldehvde formation in HDLs and reduces the susceptibility of HDL to oxidation. In vitro studies have shown that this anti-oxidant activity does not differ between particles containing either apoAI or apoAII (Garner et al. 1998). PON1 knock-out mice express increased oxidation of HDLs and LDLs (Shih et al. 1998). These mice are also more susceptible to the development of atherosclerosis than wild-type mice. The PON1 gene locus is mapped to chromosome 7q21.3 (Humbert et al. 1993). It contains several polymorphisms that modify the serum PON activity and mass concentration (Leviev and James 2000). The association between the common PON1 polymorphisms and the risk of CHD has been proven in a number of cohorts (Serrato and Marian 1995; Sanghera et al. 1997; James et al. 2000). However, contradictory findings have been obtained in some study samples (Herrmann et al. 1996; Rice et al. 1997). Neither the arginine-to-glutamine variant at the position 192 (O192R) or the leucine-to-methionine variant at the position 55 (L55M) showed association with CHD risk in Finnish or German individuals (Antikainen et al. 1996; Gardemann et al. 2000).

T 11 0	A (* (1	•	· ·	CIIDI
I able 3	Anti-ather	ogenic	actions	of HDL
1 uoie 5.	1 milli achter	ogenne	actions	UIIDL

Reverse cholesterol transport
Anti-oxidant activity
Inhibition of cellular adhesion molecule expression
Enhanced endothelium-dependent vasodilatation
Pro-fibrinolytic activity
Anti-thrombotic activity

2.4.3.2 Platelet activating factor (PAF) and Platelet activating factor acetylhydrolase (PAF-AH)

Platelet activating factor (PAF) is a pro-inflammatory phospholipid that activates platelets and inflammatory cells. It has multiple effects including increased vascular permeability, hypotension, and leukocyte adhesion to endothelial cells (Venable et al. 1993; Zimmerman et al. 1996). Endothelial cells produce PAF in response to inflammation and anaphylaxis. HDL has a concentration-dependent inhibitory effect on the endothelial production of PAF (Sugatani et al. 1996). PAF-acetylhydrolase (PAF-AH), also termed as lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A₂, is responsible for the PAF level regulation (Tjoelker and Stafforini 2000). PAF-AH is secreted mainly by macrophages, and in the circulation, on average 70% of this protein binds to LDL, and the remainder to HDL (Tselepis et al. 1995). Plasma levels of PAF-AH are increased in CHD patients (Caslake et al. 2000). In the West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study and in the ARIC Study, the level of PAF-AH had a strong positive association with the risk of coronary events (Packard et al. 2000; Ballantyne et al. 2004).

The HDL-bound LCAT has anti-oxidant properties, as it inactivates PAF by hydrolyzing it into lyso-PAF (Liu and Subbaiah 1994). LCAT also catalyzes the hydrolysis of oxidized phospholipids. In LCAT deficient mice, the activities of PON1 and PAF-AH are markedly decreased (Forte et al. 1999).

2.4.3.3 Inhibition of leukocyte adhesion molecule expression by HDL

The earliest changes in atherogenesis include the adhesion of mononuclear leukocytes to the endothelium, mediated predominantly by leukocyte cellular adhesion molecules (CAMs) including vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and Eselectin (Ross 1999). VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and E-selectin originate from endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells and macrophages (O'Brien et al. 1996). Selectins mediate the initiation of the rolling of leukocytes on the surface of endothelial cells at sites of inflammation or endothelial injury, prior to the firm adhesion and transmigration (Price and Loscalzo 1999). VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 mediate the adhesion of monocytes and lymphocytes to the endothelium. The CAM expression is induced by inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor -alpha (TNF- α) or interleukin-1 (IL-1) (Blankenberg et al. 2003). These up-regulate the CAM expression in various conditions related to increased CHD risk, such as smoking, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, hypertriglyceridemia and insulin resistance (DeSouza et al. 1997; Abe et al. 1998; Mazzone et al. 2001). Injured endothelial surface releases CAMs to the circulation, and the serum concentrations of these soluble forms are considered as markers of their endothelial expression. In hypertensive patients, shear stress force is suggested to increase the endothelial CAM expression. In hypertriglyceridemia, the expression of inflammatory cytokines increases due to the elevated circulating free fatty acids and the decreased endothelial nitric oxide activity (Steinberg et al. 1997; Bauersachs et al. 1999).

HDL particles inhibit the cytokine-induced expression of CAMs in cultured endothelial cells in a concentration dependent manner (Cockerill et al. 2001). Thereby, HDL prevents the recruitment of circulating leukocytes to sites of atherogenesis. The inhibitory effect of HDL is dependent on the phospholipid composition of HDL particles (Baker et al. 2000). HDL inhibits the TNF- α - stimulated sphingosine kinase activity in endothelial cells, which causes the inhibition of CAM expression (Xia et al. 1998; Xia et al. 1999). Furthermore, HDL-associated lysosphingolipids, including sphingosyl-phosphoryl-choline and lysosulfatide, reduce the TNF- α -induced CAM expression (Nofer et al. 2003). Interestingly, fibric acids may have a direct inhibitory effect on the expression of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 in endothelial cells, through the activation of PPAR- α (Pasceri et al. 2000).

2.4.3.4 HDL's effect on the endothelial vasodilatiation and coagulation

HDL enhances the vascular endothelium-dependent vasodilatation by increasing the availability of the nitric oxide (NO). HDL decreases the degradation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) protein in cultured endothelial cells (Rämet et al. 2003). Recently, Nofer at al. (Nofer et al. 2004) showed that HDL-associated lysophospholipids also activate eNOS both in vitro and in isolated mouse and rat aortae. ApoA-I in HDL inhibits the procoagulant activity of human erythrocytes (Epand et al. 1994). HDLs may also prevent the accumulation of platelet thrombi at sites of vascular damage by stimulating prostacyclin synthesis by endothelial cells (Yui et al. 1988).

2.5 CLINICAL CONDITIONS RELATED TO LOW HDL

2.5.1 Familial combined hyperlipidemia (FCHL)

FCHL is a genetic disorder with a population prevalence of 0.3 to 2.0% (Goldstein et al. 1973; Grundy et al. 1987). It is the most frequent familial dyslipidemia among the survivors of myocardial infarction below the age of 60 (Nikkilä and Aro 1973). In fact, subjects affected with FCHL have a 10-fold higher risk for premature CHD (Goldstein et al. 1973; Genest et al. 1992). The FCHL patients typically have elevated fasting TGs, low HDL and elevated apoB.

The FCHL diagnosis is based on the presence of multiple types of hyperlipidemia in affected family members: elevated serum TC levels (Fredrickson's lipid phenotype IIa), elevated TG levels (type IV), or both (type IIb), and a positive family history of premature CHD (Goldstein et al. 1973; Nikkilä and Aro 1973; Grundy et al. 1987). The definition of the lipid phenotypes IIa, IV and IIb for the FCHL diagnosis is based on age- and sex-specific cut-off points (the 90th or 95th percentiles) for TC and TG levels. The metabolic abnormalities in FCHL include high production and slow clearance of apoB-containing lipoproteins (de Graaf and Stalenhoef 1998). In addition, FCHL patients have prolonged postprandial lipemia, due to impaired CMR clearance (Castro Cabezas et al. 1994). Consequently, the residence time for triglyceride rich lipoproteins (TRLs) in the circulation is increased. The FCHL patients have small and dense LDL particles, especially the individuals with lipid phenotypes IIb and IV (Vakkilainen et al. 2002). Moreover, FCHL patients are frequently insulin resistant (Bredie et al. 1997; Pihlajamäki et al. 2000). They also have disturbed postprandial metabolism of non-esterified free fatty acids (NEFA), so that the uptake of NEFA by fibroblasts and adipocytes is impaired, and the NEFA flux to the liver is enhanced (Sniderman et al. 1998; Meijssen et al. 2000).

The molecular basis for the FCHL trait was recently clarified; Pajukanta et al. showed an association between FCHL and the upstream transcription factor 1 (*USF1*) gene on chromosome 1q21 in 60 Finnish FCHL families (Pajukanta et al. 2004). This region was previously linked to FCHL in this family sample (Pajukanta et al. 1998) and in FCHL families from other origin (Coon et al. 2000; Pei et al. 2000; Allayee et al. 2002). In fact, *USF1* regulates the transcriptional activation of several genes involved in the glucose and lipid metabolism (Ribeiro et al. 1999; Portois et al. 2002; Yang et al. 2002).

2.5.2 Low HDL trait as a component of the metabolic syndrome, obesity and type 2 diabetes

The most frequent causes of low HDL-C concentration are the metabolic syndrome, abdominal obesity and type 2 diabetes. These patients share a unique lipid profile characterized by elevated levels of TG and apoB, small, dense LDL particles, and low HDL-C, particularly HDL₂-C. The coincidence of low HDL with many additional risk factors greatly increases the risk for coronary events in these patients. The metabolic abnormalities observed in type 2 diabetes and in the metabolic syndrome become even more intense as the ratio of visceral-to-subcutaneous fat increases (Imbeault et al. 1999).

2.5.2.1 Type 2 diabetes

Type 2 diabetic patients have an excess risk of CHD (Laakso 2001). The same lipid abnormalities are present in individuals with the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes, but the dyslipidemic phenotype tends to be more severe in the patients with type 2 diabetes (Taskinen 2003). HDL-C,

specifically HDL₂-C level is low in the majority of these patients. Patients with type I diabetes, in turn, usually have normal or slightly elevated levels of HDL and apoA-I (Kahri et al. 1993).

2.5.2.2 The metabolic syndrome

The metabolic syndrome comprises a cluster of CHD risk factors: hypertension, hypertriglyceridemia, small, dense LDL particles, low HDL-C, elevated plasma glucose, insulin resistance and visceral fat accumulation (Grundy 1999). Recently, the Adult treatment Panel (ATP) III stated criteria for the clinical diagnosis of the metabolic syndrome as follows: abdominal obesity (waist circumference >102 cm in men and >88cm in women), TG >1.7mmol/l in both genders, HDL-C <1.03 mmol/l in men and <1.29 mmol/l in women, blood pressure (BP) \geq 130/85 mmHg and fasting glucose \geq 6.1 mmol/l in both genders ((NCEP) 2001). Subjects with 3 or more of these risk factors have the metabolic syndrome. If these guidelines are applied, the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in US is over 20% (Park et al. 2003). The corresponding Finnish prevalence was 8.8% in a population sample of middle-aged men (Lakka et al. 2002). However, the prevalence has a relatively wide range variation, depending on the study sample and the definition criteria used, being up to 35.3% in Finnish hypertensive men (Rantala et al. 1999).

Patients with the metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, or abdominal obesity are insulin resistant and hypertriglyceridemic. The lowering of HDL-C is largely a consequence of the elevated TGs, both in the fasting state and postprandially (Rashid et al. 2003). The mass transfer of TGs from TRLs to HDL particles is enhanced, with simultaneous exchange of cholesteryl esters from HDL, via the action of CETP (Tall 1995). TG-rich HDL particles are rapidly hydrolyzed by HL, transforming HDL into smaller, more dense HDL₃-particles with a subsequent release of lipid-poor apoA-I (Rashid et al. 2003). Data from *in vitro* and clinical studies show that the TG-enrichment of HDL enhances the fractional catabolic rate of apoA-I (Clay et al. 1991; Lamarche et al. 1999; Rashid et al. 2002). The increased catabolic rate of apoA-I in insulin resistant individuals has been observed in a kinetic study utilizing stable isotopes (Pont et al. 2002).

2.5.3 Effects of inflammation on HDL

Epidemiological studies have established a link between infection, inflammation and atherosclerosis (Pearson et al. 2003). Measurement of the inflammatory biomarkers can add to the predictive value achieved by the assessment of plasma lipid levels alone (Ridker 2001; Ridker et al. 2003). A similar systemic acute phase response takes place in trauma, myocardial infarction, inflammation, and in acute and chronic infections. The hepatic production of various acute phase reactants increases radically, including C-reactive protein (CRP), secretory phospholipase A₂ (sPLA₂), serum amyloid A (SAA), and ceruloplasmin (Van Lenten et al. 2001). Inflammation affects HDL-C levels. The apolipoprotein composition and anti-oxidant properties of HDL may change during inflammation in such a way that HDL may lose its protective effects (Ivandic et al. 1999; Rye and Duong 2000; Tietge et al. 2000).

As a result of the acute phase response, serum amyloid A (SAA) is released to the circulation where it associates with HDL, with a subsequent displacement of apoA-I from the HDL (Malle et al. 1993; Van Lenten et al. 1995). The SAA-enriched HDL may have reduced capacity to promote reverse cholesterol transport or to prevent LDL from oxidation. The SAA-enriched HDL has reduced activities of LCAT, PON1 and PAF-AH (Van Lenten et al. 2001). Ceruloplasmin, a copper-containing acute phase reactant, is also a constituent of acute phase HDL (Gutteridge and Stocks 1981; Van Lenten et al. 2001). Ceruloplasmin participates in the oxidation of LDL by monocytic cells (Ehrenwald and Fox 1996). The enrichment of HDL with ceruloplasmin may diminish the ability of HDL to inhibit LDL modification, and in fact, it may convert HDL into a pro-inflammatory particle.

Group IIA secretory phospholipase A₂ (sPLA₂) is an acute-phase protein, expressed together with SAA. Plasma levels of sPLA₂ are increased in systemic inflammatory conditions, including rheumatoid arthiritis, sepsis and cardiovascular disease (Hurt-Camejo et al. 2001). Increased sPLA₂ activity within the arterial wall and in plasma may be involved in atherogenesis (Kovanen and Pentikainen 2000; Kovanen and Pentikainen 2003). The over-expression of this protein leads to the accumulation of toxic oxygenated fatty acids in lipoproteins (Pruzanski et al. 1998). sPLA₂ hydrolyses the phospholipids in LDL and HDL particles. The sPLA₂-modified LDL particles are more susceptible to enzymatic modifications. Furthermore, sPLA₂ may induce the accumulation of intracellular lipids in macrophages and cause the retention of LDL particles within the arterial wall (Hakala et al. 2001). *In vitro*, the sPLA₂ -induced phospholipid depletion of HDLs decreases the HDL particle size and decreases their remodeling by CETP (Rye and Duong 2000). The over-expression of sPLA₂ in transgenic mice results in an increased catabolic rate of apoA-I, a reduced amount of larger HDL particles, and a simultaneous increase in the small HDL particles (Tietge et al. 2000; Tietge et al. 2002). Thus, increased sPLA₂ activity during inflammation affects HDL levels.

As a response to the stimulation by cytokines, the cholesterol-loaded macrophages and smooth muscle cells (SMCs) produce matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (Galis et al. 1994). MMPs are a family of enzymes that degrade extracellular matrix in atherosclerotic plaques. Besides acting in the processes concerning matrix turnover and repair, the MMPs can induce the degradation of apoA-I in HDL particles (Lindstedt et al. 1999). The active transport of cholesterol from cells requires a structurally intact cholesterol acceptor. Therefore, this action of MMPs on apoA-I may dramatically decrease the cholesterol efflux from cells and impair the HDL function in the RCT process.

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

A growing interest has focused on HDL as a primary and logic target to prevent CHD. The main objective of this study was to understand the regulation of serum HDL levels. Our rationale focused on the characterization of the low HDL phenotype in Finnish families with low HDL and premature CHD.

The present study aimed to answer the following questions:

1. What are the predisposing loci for low HDL-C in Finnish families with low HDL and premature CHD, and does the *ABCA1* gene contribute to the HDL level regulation in Finnish low HDL families?

2. Are there specific changes in the HDL subclass distribution in subjects affected by familial low HDL, as compared to unaffected family members or normolipidemic control subjects?

3. Which parameters of HDL metabolism best predict the thickening of the arterial wall in the asymptomatic members of low HDL families?

4. Are there precise metabolic alterations responsible for the decreased HDL level in FCHL patients, and what are the roles of HL, LPL, CETP, or PLTP in the HDL level regulation?

5. Does the familial low HDL associate with increased endothelial activation and with increased levels of inflammatory parameters, such as CRP, sICAM-1, sVCAM-1 and sE-selectin?

4 SUBJECTS

4.1 Family collection

The participants for the studies presented in this thesis were selected from multigenerational, carefully characterized low HDL and FCHL pedigrees. The families were collected in Helsinki and Turku University Central Hospitals in Finland, as a part of the European Multicenter Study on Familial Dyslipidemias in Patients with Premature Coronary Heart Disease (EUFAM) (Porkka et al. 1997). The EUFAM study aimed at resolving the genetic and metabolic defects underlying familial dyslipidemias predisposing to early CHD. The family collection consisted of three phases. In the first phase, the probands for the low HDL and FCHL families were selected from patients undergoing elective coronary angiography in Helsinki and Turku University Central Hospitals, and from a registry of patients with confirmed myocardial infarction. To become selected, the proband was required to have at least three accessible first-degree relatives. In the second phase, the probands and all first-degree relatives of the probands were studied to identify low HDL and FCHL families. The third phase comprised extensive metabolic and genetic studies, and all accessible relatives and spouses were contacted and examined. The data collection, laboratory measurements and phenotype determination for both the low HDL and FCHL study samples were performed in the same study center. Also 112 normolipidemic control subjects were studied, including spouses and healthy volunteers with no lipid abnormalities, CHD, diabetes mellitus or lipid lowering medication.

Each study subject gave a written informed consent prior to participating in the study. All samples were collected in accordance with the Helsinki declaration and the ethics committees of the participating centers approved the design of the studies presented in this thesis.

4.2 Low HDL families

Inclusion criteria for the low HDL probands were as follows:

- 1) Age of 30-60 years
- 2) HDL-C level below the 10^{th} age-sex specific Finnish population percentile ($\leq 0.9 \text{ mmol/l in}$ men and $\leq 1.1 \text{ mmol/l in women}$)
- 3) CHD verified by either coronary angiography (>50% stenosis in one or more coronary arteries) or myocardial infarction (MI). The diagnostic criteria for MI were the following: 1. Typical clinical symptoms; 2. Definite electrocardiography findings, according to the Minnesota coding (World Health Organization criteria) (Rose et al. 1982); and 3. Elevated levels of the creatine kinase (CK) enzyme and its cardiac isoenzyme, CK-MB.
- 4) Additional lipid criteria: 1. Total cholesterol (TC) <6.3 mmol/l in men and <6.0 mmol/l in women, 2. triglycerides (TG) <2.3 mmol/l in both genders.

Exclusion criteria for the probands were type I or II diabetes, significant hepatic or renal diseases, untreated hypothyroidism, familial hypercholesterolemia (FH) or body mass index (BMI) >30 kg/m². The family members were coded as affected if their HDL-C levels were below the 10th Finnish age-sex specific population percentile. Families with at least two affected subjects were included in the third phase.

4.3 Familial combined hyperlipidemia families

Low levels of HDL-C characterize the FCHL lipid profile, and the clinical phenotypes of the affected subjects in both FCHL and low HDL widely overlap. Therefore, we extended our studies on the genetic and metabolic regulation of HDL-C levels to the FCHL family material.

Inclusion criteria for the FCHL probands were as follows:

- 1) Age 30-60 years
- 2) CHD
- 3) Serum $TC \ge 90^{th}$ age and gender-specific Finnish population percentile, (Fredrickson's lipid phenotype IIA), or $TG \ge 90^{th}$ percentile (Fredrikson's lipid phenotype IV) or both TC and $TG \ge 90^{th}$ percentile (combined lipid phenotype IIB).

Exclusion criteria for the probands were type 1 diabetes mellitus, hepatic or renal diseases, untreated hypothyroidism and FH. The lymphocyte culture method was used in each proband to exclude FH (Cuthbert et al. 1986). Families with at least two affected (serum TC and/or $TG \ge 90^{th}$ percentile) family members were included in the third phase of the study. Families presenting only the lipid phenotype IIA were excluded. As an example, in the age group of 50 to 54 years, the 90th percentile cut-off level for TC was 7.5 mmol/l in men and 7.1 mmol/l in women. For TG, the corresponding cut-off levels were 3.5 mmol/l and 2.1 mmol/l, respectively.

Altogether 25 low HDL and 29 FCHL families were included in Study I. In Study II, 27 low HDL families were included, and in in Study III, 49 FCHL families were included. Study IV included 43 low HDL families and 112 normolidemic control subjects.

4.4 Population percentiles

The lipid cut-off points used to define the phenotypes in low HDL and FCHL families were Finnish age-sex specific lipid percentiles. For study subjects older than 25 years, percentile criteria were based on the population survey FINRISK (Vartiainen et al. 1994; Vartiainen et al. 2000) For subjects younger than 25 years, the corresponding percentiles were obtained from the Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Young Finns study (Porkka et al. 1994).

5. METHODS

5.1 Lipid, lipoprotein, and other analytical methods

For each participant over 5 years of age, venous blood was drawn for lipid phenotype determination and DNA extraction after a 12 hours overnight fast. The laboratory measurements were performed at the Helsinki University Hospital, Division of Cardiology, and at the National Public Health Institute. Serum TC and TG were determined with an automated Cobas Mira analyser (Hoffman-La Roche, Basel, Switzerland) by enzymatic methods (Hoffman-La Roche kits 0722138 and 0715166 respectively). LDL was calculated using the Friedewald formula in studies I and II, and measured by ultracentrifugation in studies III and IV (Friedewald et al. 1972). In studies I and II, HDL-C was quantified by phosphotungastic acid/magnesium chloride precipitation procedures (Hoffman-La Roche kit 0720674), and in studies III and IV, HDL was guantified by sequential flotation by ultracentrifugation (Taskinen et al. 1988). HDL₂-C and HDL₃-C were separated by sequential flotation in an ultracentrifuge (Taskinen et al. 1988). Concentrations of apoA-I, apoA-II and apoB were measured by immunoturbidometric methods with commercial kits (Boehringer-Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany) and LpA-I particles by differential electroimmunoassay (Sebia, Issy-les-Moulienaux, France) (Parra et al. 1990). The concentration of LpAI-AII -particles was calculated by subtracting the concentration of LpA-I from the total concentration of apoA-I in serum. Plasma glucose concentrations were analyzed by the glucose dehydrogenase method (Precision-G Blood Glucose Testing System, Medisense, Abbott, Illinois, USA). Serum free insulin concentrations were measured by radioimmunoassay (Phadeseph INSULIN RIA, Pharmacia & Upjohn, Uppsala, Sweden) and by fluoroimmunoassay (Wallac AutoDELFIA Insulin, Wallac Oy, Turku, Finland). The homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA IR) was calculated from the fasting plasma glucose and serum insulin concentrations as follows: fasting insulin (µU/ml) x fasting glucose (mmol/l) / 22.5 (Matthews et al. 1985). Any lipid lowering medication was discontinued 4 weeks prior to the blood sampling.

Postheparin lipoprotein HL and LPL activities were measured after an intravenous bolus of heparin (100 IU/kg body weight) that released LPL and HL into the circulation. Blood was drawn 15 minutes after the bolus into heparinized tubes that were kept on ice. LPL activity was measured using an immunochemical assay after inhibition of HL by a specific antiserum, and HL was measured in a medium containing 1.0 M NaCl but no additional serum (Huttunen et al. 1975). CETP activity was determined using a substrate-independent isotope assay that measured radiolabeled CE transfer from exogenous LDL to exogenous HDL, as described by Groener et al (Groener et al. 1986). PLTP activity was measured using a rapid transfer assay, based on the selective precipitation of liposomes by heparin and MnCl₂ (Damen et al. 1982). LDL peak particle sizes were determined using native gradient gel electrophoresis on linear 1 mm thick 2% to 10% gradient gels (Vakkilainen et al. 2002). Two isolated LDL samples, isolated by ultracentrifugation, were used as a size reference on each gel. The particle sizes of the two standard samples were measured by electron microscopy (Forte and Nordhausen 1986). The major peak diameter of LDL particles (LDL size) was determined by comparing the mobility of the sample to the mobility of the reference LDL preparations run on each gel. In addition, a control LDL sample was run on each gel. The levels of serum sICAM-1, sVCAM-1, and sE-selectin 1 levels were determined by using commercially available monoclonal antibody-based ELISAs (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA). Ultra-sensitive CRP was determined by a commercial kit by Medix Biochemica, Kauniainen, Finland.

Subjects completed standard questionnaires to provide data on previous medical history, medication, smoking and alcohol consumption. Body weight and height were measured and BMI calculated as weight/height² (kg/m²). Waist and hip circumference and waist/hip (w/h)-ratio were recorded. Blood pressure was measured in the supine position and hypertension was defined as

systolic blood pressure (SBP) \geq 140 mmHg, diastolic blood pressure (DBP) \geq 90 mmHg, or selfreported use of antihypertensive medications. The metabolic syndrome score was calculated for each study subject in Studies III and IV, using the following determinants: Abdominal obesity (waist circumference >102 cm in men and >88cm in women), TG >1.7mmol/l in both genders, HDL-C <1.03 mmol/l in men and <1.29 mmol/l in women, blood pressure \geq 130/85 mmHg and fasting glucose \geq 6.1 mmol/l in both genders ((NCEP) 2001).

5.2 B-mode ultrasonography and intima media thickness measurement

B-mode ultrasound imaging was used to measure the intima-media complex of carotid artery wall in a selected group of low HDL family members (Study II). The low HDL probands and other family members known to have clinical cardiovascular disease were not included in the Study II, because they would most likely have a high degree of atherosclerosis and thickened carotid artery walls. Also subjects who had lipid lowering treatment or diabetes were excluded. Ultrasound scans were performed with a Hewlett Packard Image Point M2410A ultrasound system (Hewlett Packard, Andover, MA) equipped with a 10 MHz linear array transducer. Scannings were videotaped with a Panasonic AG-MD830E PAL S-VHS VCR. Subjects were examined in the supine position. Longitudinal images from three angles of interrogation (anterolateral, lateral, and posterolateral) were displayed bilaterally for the common carotid artery (CCA) and the carotid bulb (CB). The carotid artery intima media thickness (IMT) was measured at 24 sites: 3 projections for far wall (FW, the carotid wall farthest from the probe) and near wall (NW, the carotid wall closest to the probe) of 4 arterial segments: Right and left CCA and CB (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Images in the B-mode ultrasound measurement. Numbers in the schematic (A) and anatomic (B) illustrations indicate the tissue interfaces as follows: 1. periadventitia-adventitia, 2. adventitia-media, 3. intima-lumen, 4. lumenintima, 5. media-adventitia, and 6. adventitia-periadventitia. The leading edges of the lumen-intima and the mediaadventitia interfaces are visualized to quantify the intima-media thickness in the near and far walls of the carotid bulb and common carotid artery. NW; near wall, FW; far wall, ICA; internal carotid artery, CB; carotid bulb, CCA; common carotid artery, IMT; intima-media thickness. Modified from Kati Ylitalo, Doctoral Thesis 2001.

Two observers at the Research Institute of Public Health, Kuopio, Finland, made IMT measurements from the videotaped scannings. Computer analysis of the images was performed with a PC computer with a video frame grabber interfaced to S-VHS VCR. The Prosound software (Caltech, Pasadena, CA) with an automated boundary detection (Selzer et al. 1994) was used to measure the IMTs at a total of 24 sites corresponding to the 24 sites where the scanning was focused. This software digitizes the video ultrasound image, locates the interfaces, and computes

the IMTs. All measurements were taken in the diastole, measured in the phase when the lumen diameter is at its smallest and IMT at its largest. Three variables were derived from each measurement: the minimum, the mean, and the maximum IMT. For each subject the mean IMT was calculated as the average of all mean IMT measurements over 24 sites (or fewer, if the measurement could not be performed at all 24 sites). Likewise, the mean FW-IMT was calculated to be the average of the mean IMT of FWs of all the segments examined. The maximum IMT was calculated as the average of the thickest points recorded in all the segments studied. The maximum IMTs of CCA and CB were calculated as the average of the thickest points recorded in all the segment. Mean IMT was selected as the primary outcome variable. To estimate the intrasonographer variability in the scannings, the sonographer scanned 10 subjects (12.5% of all subjects in Study II) twice on two different occasions. The coefficient of variation between the mean IMTs of the paired scannings of 10 study subjects twice. The coefficient of variation between the mean IMT of the paired scans was 1.0%, and the absolute difference 0.014 \pm 0.018mm, respectively. The readers were blinded for the identities of the study subjects.

5.3 Genome-wide scan

A two-stage strategy was employed in the low HDL genome-wide scan (Figure 6). In stage 1, all chromosomes were analyzed with 358 microsatellite markers from a modified Weber's screening set 9.0 with an average intermarker spacing of 10 cM (Sheffield et al. 1995). A total of 176 individuals from 20 low HDL families were included and genotyped in stage 1. In stage 2, 11 chromosomal regions that resulted in pairwise lod scores >1.0 in the linkage analyses in stage 1, were covered with 67 additional markers. The significance of these loci was further tested by analyzing the identified loci in an independent study sample of 29 Finnish FCHL families. Data collection, laboratory measurements and phenotype determinations for the low HDL and FCHL families were performed in the same center. Therefore, the clinical and biochemical data in these two samples were fully compatible. Parametric linkage analyses using both dominant and recessive mode of inheritance, and nonparametric ASP analyses were carried out for all the markers.



Figure 6. Flow chart of the study design in the two-stage genome wide scan.

5.3.1 Genotyping

Genotyping was performed at the Department of Human Genetics, University of California, Los Angeles, USA. DNA was isolated according to procedures described earlier (Vandenplas et al. 1984). Pipetting of the polymerase chain reactions (PCR) was performed using two robotic systems: Robbins Hydra Microdispenser, (Robbins Scientific, Sunnyvale, CA, USA), and a Packard MultiPROBE II (Packard Instrument Company, Meriden, CT, USA). The PCR amplification of the samples was performed in microtiter well plates using MJ Research Quadra thermal cyclers (MJ Research Incorporation, Waltham, MA, USA). The genotyping of the fluorescently labeled PCR products was performed using LI-COR DNA 4200 Genetic Analyzer. Raw gel data produced by the LI-COR machines was interpreted into genotypes using SAGA program version 5.1, a software package developed at the University of Washington and licensed to LI-COR. The checking for Mendelian errors was performed by the PedCheck program (Ott 1992; O'Connell and Weeks 1998).

5.3.2 Marker maps

Selected markers from the modified Weber's screening set 9.0 were genotyped in stage 1 of the genome scan. The average intermarker spacing was 10 cM. The markers that failed were replaced with additional microsatellite markers from the Human Genome Database (http://www.gdb.org/), the Cooperative Human Linkage Center map (http://lpg.nci.nih.gov/CHLC/), the Marshfield Medical Research Foundation Genome Database (www.marshfieldclinic.org/research/genetics/), and from the Genetic Location Database (http://cedar.genetics.soton.ac.uk/public_html/). The markers for denser maps in stage 2 were selected and mapped based on the maps of the Human Genome Database, Cooperative Human Linkage Center, the Marshfield Medical Research Foundation Genome Database, and Genethon.

5.4 Sequence analysis of the ATP-binding cassette transporter -A1 gene

Forward and reverse PCR primers of all 49 exons of the *ABCA1* gene (GenBank accession number AAF98175) were used to sequence *ABCA1* in selected low HDL family members. Generally, primers were located within 50–70 basepairs of the splice junction. The primers were designed at Xenon Bioresearch Inc, NRC Innovation Centre, Vancouver, Canada as described in detail by Marcil et al (Marcil et al. 1999). Cycle sequencing was done on the ABI 373 with Big Dye terminators and appropriate exon-flanking primers. Sequences were assembled by means of the Sequencher program (Genecodes corporation).

5.5 Statistical methods

5.5.1 Statistical analyses of continuous and categorical variables

Statistical comparisons of clinical and biomedical parameters were performed with SPSS 11.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Data are expressed as mean± Standard Deviation (SD), as frequencies, or as percentages. Variables with a skewed distribution were log_{10} transformed before the analyses, but the values in the text, tables and figures of this thesis are presented as non-transformed. Continuous variables were compared between the groups by univariate analysis of variance (ANOVA). *P*<0.050 was considered significant (two-tailed). The frequency distribution of the categorical variables was compared between the groups by the χ^2 -test. The correlation coefficients (*r*) for the associations between the biochemical and clinical characteristics were

examined either by Pearson's correlation for continuous variables, partial Pearson's correlation or the Spearman correlation analysis, when appropriate. In study III, stepwise regression analysis was performed on correlations and partial correlations. In study IV, Bonferroni posthoc test was used for multiple comparisons among the three groups. Because the studies were based on a family material, the study subjects did not fully accomplish the assumption of independence. In order to correct for the non-independence of the study subjects, a dummy variable indicating belonging to a certain family was created for each subject in studies II and III (Glantz and Slinker 1990). The dummy variables were included in the univariate analysis and multiple regression analysis as covariates, having always a value of 1, 0, or -1.

5.5.2 Linkage and haplotype analysis

The qualitative statistical methods used in the genome-wide scan included both parametric linkage and non-parametric linkage (NPL) analysis. The MLINK program of the linkage package (Lathrop et al. 1984) version FASTLINK 4.1P (Cottingham et al. 1993; Schaffer et al. 1994) was used to perform the parametric linkage analyses. We used the affecteds-only strategy, in which the subjects were coded either as affected or as unknown based on their HDL-C level below or above the 10th percentile level. The unaffected individuals were genotyped to increase phase information and were treated as if their phenotype were unknown in statistical analyses. The parametric linkage analyses were carried out with both a dominant and a recessive mode of inheritance. Gene frequencies of 0.4% and 8% were used, reflecting an estimated population prevalence of about 1%, respectively. In addition, linkage analyses were performed on the component nuclear families. For each marker, the allele frequencies were estimated from all individuals included in the analysis with the DOWNFREQ program (Terwilliger and Göring 2000).

The affected sib-pair (ASP) analysis was also applied in the linkage calculations. The ASP analysis is a non-parametric method requiring no knowledge of the mode of inheritance of the disease; therefore, it is less dependent on the estimated inheritance parameters. The ASP is based on the fact that two sibs share zero, one or two copies of any locus with a 25%-50%-25% distribution expected under a random Mendelian segregation. Excess allele sharing of disease associate locus can be monitored with a simple χ^2 -test. If it is known from which parent the affected sibs inherited the shared allele, the allele is called identical by descent (IBD). If the alleles are only two copies of the same allele, they are called identical by state (IBS). The IBD status of affected sib-pairs was assessed with an allele sharing analysis on nuclear families with the SIBPAIR program of the ANALYZE package (Kuokkanen et al. 1996; Terwilliger and Göring 2000). The genetic heterogeneity between the families was examined using the HOMOG program (Ott 1986).

The two-point analyses were performed with the AUTOSCAN program, a helper program which enables the analysis of a whole genome-wide scan in a single computer analysis (www.helsinki.fi/~tsjuntun/autoscan/). For regions that showed suggestive evidence of linkage in the two-point analysis, multipoint analyses were performed with the Simwalk2 program, version 2.80 (www.genetics.ucla.edu/software/simwalk2.html) (Sobel and Lange 1996). The clustering analysis option and the parametric location score analysis option were selected for the multipoint analyses. Simwalk 2.80 was utilized to construct haplotypes spanning a 21.8 cM region over the *ABCA1* locus (Brooks-Wilson et al. 1999). The segregation of the haplotype with the low HDL affection status was monitored. Families that exposed potential co-segregation were subjected to the sequencing of the coding region of *ABCA1*.
5.5.3 Quantitative trait analysis by SOLAR program

We used a multipoint variance–components linkage method to test for linkage between marker loci and two quantitative traits, HDL-C and TG. The Sequential Oligogenic linkage Analysis Routines (SOLAR) package, version 1.6.7 was employed for the QTL analysis (Almasy and Blangero 1998). Environmental covariates thought to affect HDL-C and TG (sex, age and BMI), the family ascertainment (HDL or FCHL family), and the proband status were incorporated into the QTL analysis. Both a two-point analysis and a multipoint analysis were performed with the quantitative traits.

6 RESULTS

6.1 Identification of low HDL-C loci in the genome-wide scan (Study I)

6.1.1 Linkage results in a two-stage genome-wide scan

The clinical characteristics of the low HDL family sample in the genome-wide scan are presented in Table 4. The results of the two-point linkage analyses in stage 1 of the genome scan, using either the recessive mode of inheritance or the ASP analysis, are presented in Figure 7. In stage 1, fifteen chromosomal regions on chromosomes 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9, 16, 17, 18, 11, 19, and 20 yielded a lod score >1.0 in the two-point linkage analyses. In addition, a region on chromosome 19 gave a lod score >1.0 in the ASP analysis. The highest lod score of stage 1, 2.9 with a recombination fraction (θ)=0.10, was observed on chromosome 3, using the dominant mode of inheritance, with marker D3S4545. Using either the dominant or recessive mode of inheritance, the markers on chromosomes 1, 2, 3, 8, 17 and 18 showed pairwise lod scores >2.0. On chromosomes 1 and 9, two separate regions produced lod scores >1.0. These two regions were located 72 cM and 10.7 cM apart from each other, respectively.

In stage 2, five additional low HDL families were included in the study. The regions showing twopoint lod scores >1.0 in stage 1 were further studied by genotyping 67 additional markers. The fine mapping produced further support for linkage for chromosomes 2, 3, 8, 16 and 20. Chromosome 2p produced a lod score of 2.1 (θ =0.10). Chromosome 3p produced a lod score of 2.1 (θ =0.06). Locus on chromosome 8q23 resulted in lod score of 2.3 (θ =0.10). The 16q24.1-24.2 region produced a lod score of 2.2 (θ =0.08). Chromosome 20q13.11 yielded a lod score of 1.4 (θ =0.16). For the remaining eight chromosomal regions, no further support for linkage was obtained in stage 2.

	Affected family members		Unaffected family members
	$(HDL-C < 10^{th} perce)$	ntile)	
	n=104		n=115
Age (years)	49.3 ± 15.7		43.7 ± 17.2
Sex (% males)	47		50
BMI (kg/m^2)	26.8 ± 4.1		24.7 ± 4.1
HDL-C (mmol/l)	0.86 ± 0.16		1.37 ± 0.34
TG (mmol/l)	1.69 ± 0.81		1.22 ± 0.59
TC (mmol/l)	5.27 ± 0.97		5.46 ± 1.11
apoA-I (mg/dl)	120 ± 16		147 ± 25
apoA-II (mg/dl)	34 ± 6		38 ± 6
HDL ₂ -C (mmol/l)	0.43 ± 0.19		0.65 ± 0.29
HDL ₃ -C (mmol/l)	0.59 ± 0.11		0.73 ± 0.14

Table 4. Clinical characteristics of the low HDL family members (Study I)

Values are expressed as mean \pm SD.



Figure 7. The highest two-point lod scores of the low HDL study sample for each chromosome in stage 1, using either a recessive mode of inheritance or ASP analysis. On chromosome 1 there was two separate regions producing lod scores >1.0, as indicated by the marker names.

6.1.2 Testing the identified loci in familial combined hyperlipidemia family sample

Low HDL-C is a consistent metabolic finding in FCHL, together with hypertriglyceridemia and increased levels of apoB. Consequently, we used the low HDL trait (HDL-C $<10^{th}$ age-sex specific Finnish population percentile) as the disease phenotype in an independent sample of 29 Finnish FCHL families, and tested the significance of the suggestive low HDL loci identified in the stage 1. Characteristics of the 29 FCHL families are shown in Table 5.

	Affected family r	nembers Unaffected family members	
	$(HDL-C < 10^{tn} percentil)$	e)	
	n= 64	n = 75	
Age (years)	49.0 ± 14.1	45.0 ± 16.8	
Sex (% males)	48	39	
BMI (kg/m2)	28.3 ± 4.1	25.5 ± 3.6	
HDL-C (mmol/l)	0.94 ± 0.25	1.57 ± 0.42	
TG (mmol/l)	3.24 ± 2.52	2.02 ± 1.24	
TC (mmol/l)	6.78 ± 1.32	6.85 ± 1.27	
apoA-I (mg/dl)	125 ± 21	163 ± 25	
apoA-II (mg/dl)	38 ± 9	43 ± 7	
HDL ₂ -C (mmol/l)	0.54 ± 0.30	0.79 ± 0.29	
HDL ₃ -C (mmol/l)	0.60 ± 0.11	0.67 ± 0.16	

Table 5. Clinical characteristics of the FCHL family sample (Study I)

Data are presented as mean \pm S.D.

In a pooled data analysis of low HDL and FCHL families, we found evidence for linkage on three loci, and in FCHL families separately, on one locus. The most significant linkage results of the pooled data on chromosomes 8, 16, and 20 are given in Tables 6, 7, and 8.

 Marker
 Position cM^a
 Pairwise Lod Score^b
 ASP^c
 Simwalk Statistics A^d

 GAAT1A4*
 0.0
 0.0 (0.50) / 0.3 (0.26)
 0.2 / 0.5
 1.3

 D8S1132*
 8.9
 2.3 (0.10) / 4.7 (0.06)
 1.4 / 3.1
 3.3

 D8S592*
 14.9
 0.1 (0.32) / 1.0 (0.18)
 0.2 / 0.9
 2.0

Table 6. Two-point and multipoint chromosome 8q23 linkage evidence (Study I)

Table 7. Two-point and multipoint chromosome 16q24.1-24.2 linkage evidence (Study I)

Marker	Position cM ^a	Pairwise Lod Score ^b	ASP ^c	Simwalk Statistics C ^d
D16S3040	0.0	0.1 (0.32)	0.1	1.1
D16S505*	4.5	1.5 (0.12) / 1.3 (0.18)	1.8 / 1.5	1.2
D16S3091*	6.7	1.9 (0.08) / 2.2 (0.12)	1.8 / 1.9	1.2
D16S402	9.1	0.2 (0.34)	0.6	0.9
D16S3061	17.0	0.0 (0.50)	0.0	0.5

Table 8. Two-point and multipoint chromosome 20q13.11 linkage evidence (Study I)

Marker	Position cM ^a	Pairwise Lod Score ^b	ASP ^c	Simwalk Statistics A ^d
D20S120	0.0	0.8 (0.20)	0.9	1.2
D20S102	3.5	0.4 (0.20)	0.4	1.1
D20S171*	8.7	1.3 (0.16) / 1.9 (0.14)	1.3 / 1.4	1.7
D20S94	11.0	0.4 (0.26)	0.3	1.4
D20S173	11.1	0.6 (0.20)	0.2	1.4

Tables 6, 7, and 8: ^{*}Markers that are also genotyped in the sample group with FCHL. ^{a)}Distance (in cM) from the first marker; ^{b)}Maximum lod scores for the two-point linkage analysis. The recombination fractions (θ) are given in parentheses. The first LOD score is that for the low HDL family sample and the second (i.e., after the slash mark) is that for the pooled sample; ^{c)} Lod scores of the ASP analysis; ^{d)} Results of the NPL analysis from Simwalk, version 2.80, for the pooled sample group. Statistic A is most powerful at detecting linkage to a recessive trait, statistic B is most powerful at detecting linkage to a dominant trait, and statistic C is a more general statistic that indicates if a few founder-alleles are overly represented among affecteds

The highest two-point lod scores of each chromosome in low HDL and FCHL families and in the pooled data set in stage 2 are presented in Figure 8. The highest statistical significance was obtained on 8q23, with a two-point lod score of 4.7 (θ =0.06). The multipoint analysis for a 15 cM region on this locus supported the result, producing NPL scores >3.0. We also found evidence for linkage of low HDL to chromosomes 16q24.1-24.2 [a lod score of 2.2 (θ =0.12)] and 20q13.11 [a lod score of 1.9 (θ =0.14)] in the pooled data analysis. In the FCHL family sample, we observed a promising linkage finding for low HDL on chromosome 2ptel, resulting in an ASP lod score of 3.4 (θ =0.0). This region did not gain further support in pooled analysis of low HDL and FCHL families. Thus, three regions on chromosomes 8, 16 and 20 remained interesting for low HDL trait. In all the statistical analyses, the recessive mode of inheritance gave systematically higher lod scores than the dominant model.

6.1.3 Contribution of the ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 – gene

As *ABCA1* was a promising candidate for the HDL level regulation, we decided to explore the genetic variations in that particular region more precisely than what the density of the genome scan marker map would have provided. Before conducting these detailed analyses, we found it likely that a part of our families would have been linked to the *ABCA1*, in which case the identification of those linked families and their exclusion of the linkage analyses would have helped to decrease genetic heterogeneity in our genome scan data. Two markers located 19 cM and 5.4 cM telomeric to the *ABCA1* produced lod scores of 1.8 (θ =0.06) and 1.3 (θ =0.06) in stage 1 of the genome scan. This region did not gain any further evidence for linkage in the low HDL families in stage 2. Yet, five low HDL families showed potential co-segregation with the *ABCA1* in the haplotype analysis. Genomic DNA of these families was subjected to the sequencing of the coding region of *ABCA1* with the intention to monitor for segregating variants. Sequence analyses identified four previously characterized polymorphisms: The sequence variants corresponding R219K in exon 6, V8251 in exon 16, I883M in exon 17, and R1587K in exon 34. None of the nucleotide changes showed co-segregation with the low HDL trait.

Figure 8. The highest two-point lod scores of the three sample sets for each chromosome in stage 2. The numbers below the horizontal axis indicate the chromosome numbers. On chromosome 2, there were two separate regions producing lod scores >2.0, indicated as 2ptel and 2p. The markers producing the highest lod scores, and the recombination fractions (θ) of the two-point maximum lod score in the parametric linkage analysis are presented separately for each study sample. The distance from pter for each marker is presented in centiMorgans (cM).



6.2 HDL particle composition and apolipoprotein distribution in familial low HDL family members in the carotid intima media thickness (IMT) study (Study II)

All accessible family members in the low HDL families, between 18 to 70 years of age and living at a reasonable distance from Helsinki, were invited into the carotid IMT study. Altogether 89 individuals, from 27 low HDL families were included (Table 9). Of these, 41 had HDL-C level below the 10th age-sex percentile and were termed as affected, and the remaining 48 were unaffected family members, i.e. they had normal HDL-C. Gender distribution was equal among the groups. Affected family members were significantly older, and they had higher BMI, fasting insulin and pulse pressure than unaffected family members. They were also more insulin resistant, as measured by the homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA IR).

Variable	Affected members (n = 41)	family Unaffected members (n = 48)	family P-value*
Age (years)	44.0±10.9	41.2±11.5	0.033
Men/Women (n)	24 / 17	19 / 29	n.s.
Cigarette pack years	5.8±8.4	2.1±6.3	n.s.
Smokers (n) Current	11	7	n.s.
Former	8	4	n.s.
Never	22	37	n.s.
BMI (kg/m^2)	27.3±4.3	23.9±3.8	< 0.001
Waist-hip ratio	0.89 ± 0.08	0.82±0.10	0.005
SBP (mmHg)	128±16	125±14	n.s.
DBP (mmHg)	79±9	79±8	n.s.
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	49±12	46±9	0.022
Hypertension (n)	7	2	0.044
TG (mmol/l)	1.51±0.77	1.13±0.44	n.s.
LDL-C (mmol/l)	3.29 ± 0.84	3.06±0.62	n.s.
TC (mmol/l)	5.00 ± 0.96	5.10±0.73	n.s.
ApoB (mg/dl)	108±31	94±22	n.s.
Glucose (mmol/l)	5.0±0.6	4.7±0.5	0.016
Insulin (mU/l)	8.9±6.5	5.1±2.9	0.002
HOMA IR	2.00±1.43	1.09±0.62	0.001

 Table 9. Characteristics of the low HDL family members (Study II)

Data are presented as mean \pm SD, frequencies, or percentages. *) P-value using the univariate ANOVA, with an adjustment for the family number indicator. HOMA IR; The homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance. Cigarrette pack years, numer of cigarettes smoked daily x years of continued smoking / 20, n.s., not significant.

The affected low HDL family members had reduced levels of apoA-I, apoA-II, LpA-I, LpAI-AII, HDL₂-Cand HDL₃-C as compared to the unaffected (Table 10). The most marked decrease was observed in HDL₂ subclass (109% difference between the groups). The affected subjects also had reduced levels of LpAI-AII particles and apoA-II, but the reduction in these particles was less marked than in HDL₂, LpA-I, and apoA-I. Thus, in Study II, the between-group difference in the HDL subclasses was mainly explained by the reduction of the particles in the larger HDL₂ density range.

	Affected family members	Unaffected family members	P-value ^{*,†,††}	Percentage difference
Variable	n=41	n=48		
HDL-C (mmol/l)	1.00±0.22	1.60±0.43		60.0%
Apo A-I (mg/dl)	117±15	149±23	$<\!\!0.001^{*,\dagger,\dagger\dagger}$	27.4%
Apo A-II (mg/dl)	34±5	40±6	$< 0.001^{*,\dagger,\dagger\dagger}$	17.6%
LpA-I (mg/dl)	35.0±10.9	53.2±16.4	$<\!\!0.001^{*,\dagger,\dagger\dagger}$	52.0%
LpA-I/A-II (mg/dl)	81.8±12.7	96.3±14.3	$<\!\!0.001^{*,\dagger,\dagger\dagger}$	17.7%
HDL ₂ -chol (mmol/l)	0.35±0.14	0.73 ± 0.34	$<\!\!0.001^{*,\dagger,\dagger\dagger}$	109%
HDL ₃ -chol (mmol/l)	0.73±0.15	0.91±0.14	$<\!\!0.001^{*,\dagger,\dagger\dagger}$	21.3%

Table 10. Concentrations of HDL-C and HDL subclasses in the low HDL family members (Study II)

Data are presented as mean \pm SD. ^{*)}P-value when adjusted for the family number indicator, ^{†)}P-value when adjusted for the family number indicator and age and ^{††)}P- value when adjusted for the family number indicator and gender

6.3 Carotid artery intima-media thickness in subjects with familial low HDL (Study II)

The affected subjects had a significantly higher mean IMT (0.79 ± 0.14 mm) than the unaffected subjects (0.75 ± 0.13 mm, *P*=0.021, shown in Table 11). The difference between the affected and unaffected in mean-IMT, CCA-IMT, and Maximum IMT remained significant after adjustment for gender but became non-significant after the adjustment for age. The mean-IMT was higher in males than in females (0.80 ± 0.16 mm vs. 0.74 ± 0.11 mm, *P*=0.018, when adjusted for age).

	Affected family	Unaffected family	P-value*	P-value [†]
	members, n=41	members, n=48		
Mean IMT (mm)	0.79±0.14	0.75±0.13	0.021	0.038
CCA IMT (mm)	0.91±0.15	0.86±0.12	0.021	0.038
CB IMT (mm)	1.13±0.25	1.05±0.28	0.037	n.s.
FW IMT (mm)	0.78±0.15	0.74±0.15	n.s.	n.s.
Maximum-IMT	1.04±0.19	0.95±0.18	0.028	0.045

Table 11. IMT in affected and unaffected low HDL family members (Study II)

* *P*-value for the univariate analysis of variance, with adjustment for the family number indicators; [†] *P*-value with adjustment for the family number indicators and gender



Figure 9 A and B. Relationships between carotid mean IMT and age (9A), and HDL-C and age-adjusted mean IMT (9B) in unaffected (white circles) and affected (black circles) low HDL-C family members in Study II. Significant correlation exists between mean IMT and age (r=0.880, P<0.001) and between age-adjusted mean IMT and HDL-C (r=-0.186, P=0.043). The correlation coefficients in the Figure are calculated without adjustment for family number indicator.

Mean-IMT showed strong positive association with age (r=0.880, P<0.001; Figure 9 A). With adjustment for age and family number indicators, the mean IMT correlated significantly with HDL-C (r=-0.186, P=0.043; Figure 9 B), HDL₂-C (r=-0.208, P=0.029), gender (r=-0.225, P=0.008), and w/h –ratio (r=0.193, P=0.033). Correlation between HDL-C and mean IMT remained statistically significant also after adjustment for gender, but not with adjustment for both gender and age in the same model.

Taken together, in Study II, we found that asymptomatic individuals with familial low HDL have increased carotid artery IMT as compared to their family members with normal HDL-C. A significant inverse association existed between the HDL-C level and mean IMT in these subjects.

6.4 Determinants of low HDL-C in familial combined hyperlipidemia families (Study III)

In Study III, we focused on the underlying metabolic determinants of low HDL-C levels in 49 FCHL families. Affected subjects had higher blood pressure, BMI, fasting insulin level and HOMA IR than unaffected subjects or spouses (Table 12). As expected, the concentrations of TC, TG, LDL-C and apoB were significantly increased and the LDL particle size was decreased in affected family members. The levels of HDL-C, HDL₂-C and HDL₃-C were significantly lower in the affected family members than in the unaffected family members or spouses. The activity levels of HL activity and PLTP were higher in the affected family members activity as compared to the unaffected family members (Table 13).

	FCHL	FCHL	Р	Spouses	<i>P</i> -value ^{b,c}
	Affected	Unaffected	value ^a		
	n=88, 48m/40f	n=88, 48m/40f		n=52, 31m/21f	
Age, years	40.1 ± 11.4	37.7 ± 9.8	n.s.	51.1 ± 7.90	<0.001 ^{b,c}
Hypertensive	17 %	6 %	0.018	21 %	n.s. ^{b,c}
Smokers (%)	45 %	36 %	n.s.	37 %	n.s. ^{b,c}
BMI, kg/m^2	27.0 ± 4.0	25.4 ± 4.0	0.004	26.4 ± 4.5	n.s. ^{b,c}
TC (mmol/l)	6.27 ± 1.02	5.09 ± 0.79	< 0.00	5.48 ± 0.90	$< 0.001^{b}, n.s.^{c}$
TG (mmol/l)	2.32 ± 1.39	1.05 ± 0.39	< 0.00	1.21 ± 0.43	$< 0.001^{b}$, n.s. ^c
HDL-C	1.26 ± 0.35	1.48 ± 0.36	0.001	1.38 ± 0.29	0.004^{b} , n.s. ^c
LDL (mmol/l)	4.00 ± 0.93	3.18 ± 0.78	< 0.00	3.59 ± 0.79	$< 0.001^{b}$, n.s. ^c
ApoB (g/l)	123 ± 27	86 ± 19	< 0.00	98 ± 20	$< 0.001^{b}$, n.s. ^c
LDL size, (nm)	25.7 ± 1.6	26.9 ± 1.2	< 0.00	26.7 ± 1.2	<0.001 ^b , n.s. ^c
Glucose	4.8 ± 0.7	4.7 ± 0.7	n.s.	5.0 ± 0.8	n.s. ^{b,c}
Insulin (mU/l)	10.1 ± 4.7	6.7 ± 3.6	< 0.00	7.1 ± 2.9	<0.001 ^b , n.s. ^c
HOMA IR	2.22 ± 1.19	1.46 ± 0.92	< 0.00	1.64 ± 0.82	$< 0.001^{b}$, n.s. ^c
Waist/hip –ratio	0.89 ± 0.10	0.87 ± 0.09	n.s.	0.91 ± 0.08	n.s. ^{b,c}
Diastolic BP	84 ± 14	77 ± 11	0.001	81 ± 9	0.003^{b} , n.s. ^c
Systolic BP	134 ± 18	125 ± 16	< 0.00	129 ± 16	$< 0.001^{b}$, n.s. ^c
Pulse pressure	50 ± 14	48 ± 10	n.s.	47 ± 12	n.s. ^{b,c}
Glucose	4.8 ± 0.7	4.7 ± 0.7	n.s.	5.0 ± 0.8	n.s. ^{b,c}
HDL ₂ –C	0.63 ± 0.31	0.79 ± 0.33	< 0.00	0.72 ± 0.26	0.035^{b} , n.s. ^c
HDL ₃ –C	0.63 ± 0.12	0.69 ± 0.13	0.002	0.66 ± 0.12	n.s. ^{b,c}
ApoA-I (g/l)	140 ± 26	146 ± 26	0.033	143 ± 23	n.s. ^{b,c}
ApoA-II (g/l)	39.9 ± 6.8	40.3 ± 8.4	n.s.	37.9 ± 6.8	n.s. ^{b,c}
LpA-I (mg/dl)	52.0 ± 14.7	54.6 ± 16.6	n.s.	57.4 ± 15.2	n.s. ^{b,c}
LpAI-AII	87.9 ± 17.0	91.3 ± 18.1	n.s.	86.0 ± 15.3	n.s. ^{b,c}

Table 12. Clinical and biochemical characteristics of study subjects (Study III)

Data are presented as mean \pm SD, frequencies, or percentages. ^{a)}ANOVA for the comparisons between affected and unaffected family members, with adjustment for family number, as well as between spouses and ^{b)}affected and ^{c)}unaffected family members, with adjustment for family number, age, and gender. M, males; f, females.

Table 13. Activities of lipolytic enzymes and lipid transfer proteins (Study II)	II)
--	-----

1	2 2	1	1	2 /	
	FCHL	FCHL	P value ^a	Spouses	P value ^{b,c}
	Affected	Unaffected			
	n=88	n=88		n=52	
HL activity (mU/ml)	357 ± 172	292 ± 138	0.001	282 ± 121	0.013^{b} , n.s. ^c
PLTP activity (µmol/ml/h)	4.66 ± 1.36	4.29 ± 1.34	0.025	4.49 ± 1.23	n.s. ^{b,c}
LPL activity (mU/ml)	212 ± 64	216 ± 69	n.s.	228 ± 67	n.s. ^{b,c}
CETP activity (nmol/ml/h)	21.1 ± 5.7	22.0 ± 6.8	n.s.	21.9 ± 5.7	n.s. ^{b,c}

Data are presented as mean \pm SD. *P*-values are presented for the ANOVA between ^{a)}affected and unaffected family members, with a family number adjustment, and ^{b)}affected family members and spouses, and ^{c)}unaffected family members and spouses, with adjustment for family number, age and gender.

A significant inverse correlation existed between gender-adjusted HDL₂-C and HL activity (r=-0.339, P<0.001, in pooled study group) (Figure 10). These correlations were significant also when the two groups were analyzed separately (in the affected family members r=-0.394, P<0.001, with adjustment for gender, and in the unaffected family members r=-0.416, P<0.001, with adjustment for gender). LPL activity correlated positively with HDL₂-C (r=0.142, P=0.030), whereas PLTP or

CETP activities did not show significant correlations. In multivariate analysis for HDL₂-C, the final model explained 54.8% of the variation (adjusted multiple R^2 =0.548). The variables that remained in the final model were gender, HL activity, TG, BMI, HOMA IR, and LPL activity. Gender had by far the highest standardized coefficient (r=0.246, P<0.001), followed by HL activity (r=-0.213, P=0.008), TG (r=-0.194, P=0.010) and BMI (r=-0.208, P=0.016). HOMA IR and LPL activity did not have an independent contribution to HDL₂-C level in the multivariate analysis.



Figure 10. Correlation between HL activity and HDL₂-C (non-adjusted), separately in affected and unaffected FCHL family members.

HOMA IR showed a strong correlation with HL activity (r=0.309, P=0.002, in the combined study group), (Figure 11). HOMA IR correlated negatively with LDL size (r=-0.274, P=0.003), LpA-I (r=-0.268, P=0.001), apoA-I (r=-0.271, P=0.001), HDL-C (r=-0.357, P<0.001), HDL₂-C (r=-0.293, P=0.002), HDL₃-C(r=-0.232, P=0.007), and LPL activity (r=-0.247, P=0.001). Age-adjusted LDL particle size was associated with HL activity, both in affected subjects analyzed in a separate group (r=-0.320, P=0.002) as well as in the whole group (r=-0.294, P=0.001). The strongest predictor of the age-adjusted LDL particle size were TGs; in the affected FCHL family members (r=-0.652, P<0.001) and in the whole group (r=-0.537, P<0.001). LPL, CETP or PLTP activities did not have significant effects on LDL particle size.



To summarize, affected FCHL family members had decreased HDL-C, especially the HDL₂-subclass. Increased HL contributed to the changes in the HDL pool. The marker for insulin sensitivity, HOMA IR, associated positively with HL activity, inversely with HDL₂-C, and inversely with LDL particle size FCHL family members.

6.5 Soluble cellular adhesion molecules in subjects with familial low HDL (Study IV)

In Study IV, the levels of soluble cellular adhesion molecules (sCAMs) were measured in 91 subjects with low HDL from 43 low HDL families, and in 112 control subjects with no lipid abnormalities. Age and gender distribution between the groups were comparable (Table 14). Low HDL subjects had increased BMI, w/h-ratio, TG, apoB, LDL-C, fasting insulin level, and HOMA IR (Tables 14 and 15).

5		
	Low HDL group	Control group
	n=91 (65m/26f)	n=112 (73m/39f)
Age, years	48.3 ± 12.8	49.1 ± 13.6
CHD, n (%)	29 (32%)	0**
Hypertensive subjects, n (%)	45 (49%)	19 (17%)*
Smokers, n (%)	52 (57%)	30 (27%)*
BMI, kg/m^2	27.5 ± 4.1	24.6 ± 3.1 **
Waist/hip –ratio	0.92 ± 0.08	$0.86 \pm 0.09 **$
SBP, mmHg	128 ± 16	126 ± 17
Glucose (mmol/l)	5.2 ± 0.9	5.0 ± 0.6
Insulin (mU/l)	9.7 ± 5.9	5.6 ± 2.6 **
HOMA IR	2.29 ± 1.63	$1.26 \pm 0.69 **$

Table 14. Clinical characteristics of the study subjects (Study IV)

Data are presented as mean \pm S.D. m; men, w; women. *)Significantly different from the low HDL subjects (*P*-value <0.05); **)Significantly different from the low HDL subjects (*P*-value <0.01)

	Low HDL group	Controls
	n=91	n=112
TC (mmol/l)	5.16 ± 0.94	4.95 ± 0.77
TG (mmol/l)	1.70 ± 0.77	$0.95 \pm 0.35 * \ddagger$
LDL (mmol/l)	3.50 ± 0.84	2.99 ± 0.73 *†
ApoB (g/l)	112 ± 27	$89 \pm 19*$ †
HDL-C (mmol/l)	1.01 ± 0.17	1.63 ± 0.37 *†
HDL ₂ –C (mmol/l)	0.35 ± 0.15	$0.75 \pm 0.31*$ †
HDL ₃ –C (mmol/l)	0.65 ± 0.14	$0.85 \pm 0.15*$ †
ApoA-I (g/l)	115 ± 13	$147 \pm 24*$ †
ApoA-II (g/l)	33 ± 5	37 ± 6*†
LpA-I (mg/dl)	36 ± 10	56 ± 18*†
LpAI-AII (mg/dl)	79 ± 11	$91 \pm 14*$ †

Table 15. Biochemical characteristics of the study subjects (Study IV)

Data are presented as mean \pm S.D. *)Significantly different from low HDL family members (*P*-value <0.010); †)Significantly different from low HDL family members with adjustment for age, gender, BMI and smoking (*P*-value <0.010) Low HDL subjects had significantly higher concentrations of sVCAM-1, sICAM-1, sE-selectin and CRP than the controls (Table 16). The between group differences remained statistically significant for sICAM-1 and sVCAM-1 also after adjustment for age, gender, BMI and smoking. HDL-C had an inverse relation with the levels of sICAM-1 (r=-0.263, P<0.010), sVCAM-1 (r=-0.187, P < 0.010), sE-selectin (r=-0.231, P < 0.010), and CRP (r=-0.250, P < 0.010) in the combined study group (Figure 12).

le 16. S	16. Serum concentrations of soluble cell adhesion molecules (Study IV)					
		Low	HDL	subjects,	Controls N=112	
		N=91			Controls, IV=112	
	SVCAM-1 (ng/ml)	560±147 247±60 52±20 1.73±2.05		$496 \pm 95^{**^{\dagger}}$		
	SICAM-1 (ng/ml)				215±47** [†]	
	sE-selectin (ng/ml)				44±16*	
	CRP (mg/l)				0.85±1.10**	

Tab

Data are presented as mean ± S.D. *)Significantly different from low HDL subjects (P-value <0.05) **)Significantly different from low HDL subjects (P-value <0.01);) Significantly different from low HDL subjects with adjustment for age, gender, BMI and smoking (P-value <0.01)



Figure 12. Correlation results between HDL-C and the levels of CRP, sE-selectin, sICAM-1, and sVCAM-1, in the combined study group. Black circles indicate the low HDL subjects (n=91), and white circles indicate the control subjects (n=112). Correlations and P-values are calculated for the combined study sample, with log₁₀-transformed HDL-C, CRP, sE-selectin, sICAM-1, and sVCAM-1. These correlations were not statistically significant in separate analysis of the two groups.

Next, we categorized the study subjects into three groups according to the features of the metabolic syndrome (Table 17). All low HDL subjects had metabolic syndrome features; 47 low HDL subjects (52%) had 1 to 2 metabolic syndrome features and the remaining 44 low HDL subjects (48%) had 3 or more features. Among the control subjects, 64 (57%) had no features of the metabolic syndrome, 46 (41%) had 1 to 2, and 2 (2%) had 3 or more features of the metabolic syndrome. The levels of sICAM-1, sVCAM-1, sE-selectin and CRP were significantly increased in the subjects having the highest number of the metabolic syndrome features. After adjustment for age, gender, BMI and smoking, the between-group differences remained significant for sVCAM-1 and CRP. Within the low HDL subjects, the level of CRP was significantly higher in those 44 subjects that had 3 or more metabolic syndrome features, as compared to those with 1-2 metabolic syndrome features (2.29 ± 2.25 mg/l vs. 1.21 ± 1.71 mg/l, P<0.001).

<u>p==; ====8</u>			<u> </u>
	No metabolic syndrome features, n=64 (38m/26f)	1-2 metabolic syndrome features n=93 (66m/27f)	3-5 metabolic syndrome features n=46 (34/12)
controls / Low HDL (n)	64/0	46/47	2/44
Age, years	45.0±14.0	50.2±13.1	51.0±11.5*
sVCAM-1 (ng/ml)	484±95	537±142*	560±107**†
sICAM-1 (ng/ml)	211±48	230±53	253±62**
sE-selectin (ng/ml)	40±16	49±18**	55±19**
CRP (mg/l)	0.80±1.22	1.02 ± 1.31	2.32±2.26**†
HDL ₂ -C	0.79±0.33	0.53±0.27**†	0.32±0.16**†
HDL ₃ -C	0.87±0.13	0.75±0.18**†	0.63±0.15**†
ApoAI	150±24	129±24**†	115±13**†
ApoAII	37.3±6.8	34.4±6.1*†	33.5±4.5**†
LpAI	57.9±18.9	45.6±16.9**†	35.3±10.2**†
LpAI-AII	91.9±14.3	83.7±13.7**†	79.8±11.1**†

Table 17. Serum levels of CRP, sE-selectin, sVCAM-1 and sICAM-1 in the combined study sample, categorized according to the presence of the features of the metabolic syndrome (Study IV)

Data are presented as mean \pm S.D. *Significantly different from subjects with no features of the metabolic syndrome (*P*-value <0.05); **Significantly different from subjects with no features of the metabolic syndrome (*P*-value <0.01); †Significantly different from subjects with no features of the metabolic syndrome (*P*-value <0.05), with adjustment for age, gender, BMI and smoking

In summary, subjects with familial low HDL had significantly higher levels of CRP, sICAM-1, sVCAM-1 and sE-selectin as compared to the controls with normal lipid values. The observed increases in the levels of sCAMs were closely associated to the accumulation of the features of the metabolic syndrome.

7 DISCUSSION

The genetic studies of single gene mutations have revealed important mechanisms and pathways that contribute to HDL level regulation. Yet, the major loci affecting serum HDL-C levels at the population level have remained unclear. The first approach in the genetic studies of the low HDL trait in this unique sample of Finnish low HDL families was a candidate gene study (Lilja et al. 2002). The chosen candidate genes were genes encoding proteins involved in either HDL formation or catabolism, or represented some potential novel functions of HDL in anti-atherogenesis. Two regions on chromosomes 1 and 11, harboring the *APOA2* gene and the *APOA1C3A4* cluster, produced suggestive evidence for linkage in the candidate gene approach. A subset of low HDL families presented potential shared haplotypes on these regions, and these families also produced the observed positive lod scores. In the remaining families, no evidence was obtained to support the role of *APOA2* or *APOA1C3A4*. Worth of note, a newly discovered gene involved in TG metabolism, the *APOA5*, locates in the vicinity of the *APOA1C3A4* cluster, thus making the finding on chromosome 11 particularly interesting (Pennacchio et al. 2002; Talmud et al. 2002).

7.1 Significance of the observed low HDL loci in the genome-wide scan

In our study, the genome-wide scan was performed to search for novel genes for the low HDL trait. Our analyses in low HDL and FCHL families revealed initially six suggestive loci for low HDL, on chromosomes 2ptel, 2p, 3p, 8q23, 16q24.1-24.2 and 20q12-13.1. The pooled data analyses of the low HDL and FCHL families supported three of these loci, on 8q23, 16q24.1-24.2 and 20q12-13.1. Interestingly, these loci have shown linkage to HDL, type 2 diabetes, and obesity in other populations. The region on chromosome 8q23 was the most interesting, with a two-point lod score of 4.7. This region has earlier been linked to HDL regulation in genome scan of Mexican-American families using the QTL mapping strategy (Almasy et al. 1999). The results obtained independently both in the above population-based sample and in our well-defined low HDL families suggest that 8q23 harbors a gene or genes involved in the HDL level regulation. To date, however, no such candidate genes have been identified in the 8q23 region that code for proteins involved in lipid metabolism.

A region on chromosome 16q showed suggestive evidence of linkage in our pooled data analysis. Some evidence for linkage to this region has also been reported in Dutch FCHL families (Aouizerat et al. 1999). In fact, chromosome 16q24.1 resulted in a statistically significant lod score of 3.6 for the low HDL trait in the combined data analysis of our FCHL and low HDL families and Dutch FCHL families (Pajukanta et al. 2003). A potential candidate gene in this 16q region is the *FOXC2* gene, which, in fact, associates with obesity, hypertriglyceridemia, and insulin resistance (Cederberg et al. 2001). In insulin-resistant subjects, the subcutaneous adipose tissue expression the *FOXC2* has been shown to be decreased (Yang et al. 2003). Furthermore, allelic variants on the *FOXC2* gene showed association to the TG level regulation (Yanagisawa et al. 2003), suggesting that *FOXC2* may regulate the TG and/or HDL-C levels. Chromosome 16q was reported to regulate the HDL-C level also in Mexican Americans from San Antonio (Mahaney et al. 2003).

The region on 20q has been linked to obesity and to the development of type 2 diabetes, both of these abnormalities overlapping with low HDL (Bowden et al. 1997; Ji et al. 1997a; Lembertas et al. 1997; Zouali et al. 1997; Ghosh et al. 2000). Taken together, our genome-wide scan identified 3 loci (on 8q23, 16q24.1-24.2 and 20q12-13.1) for low HDL in the pooled data analysis of low HDL and FCHL study samples, suggesting a partially shared genetic background for the low HDL and FCHL phenotypes. However, the density of the pooled genome-scan data did not provide further support for the loci on chromosomes 1 and 11, which initially were observed in the candidate-gene study. Up to 8 loci, different from our findings, have emerged in genome-wide scans for HDL level regulation in other study samples (Almasy et al. 1999; Shearman et al. 2000; Coon et al. 2001;

Peacock et al. 2001; Arya et al. 2002; Canizales-Quinteros et al. 2003; Mahaney et al. 2003). The major genes contributing to the common familial low HDL trait are still unclear.

7.3 Methodological limitations in the linkage analyses in the genome-wide scan

Complex disorders involve complicated interactions between genes and the environment; therefore, several confounding factors limit the mapping of complex diseases (Lander and Schork 1994). First, the inheritance patterns that are applied in the linkage analyses may represent over-simplifications. As an example the familial hypoalphalipoproteinemia (FHA), in which the low HDL patients are heterozygous for the *ABCA1* mutations, is considered as an autosomal dominant disorder (Brooks-Wilson et al. 1999). In the present study, in turn, the low HDL trait appeared to follow the recessive mode of inheritance. Conceivably, the mode of inheritance of the familial low HDL trait remains unsolved.

The complex disorders are genetically heterogeneous. Either several different genes or different allelic variants in the same gene can cause the same disease phenotype. In case of incomplete penetrance, a person carries the predisposing gene, but does not have the disease phenotype. We lacked the genotype and a definite phenotype data on many subjects regarding their CHD status. As the penetrance of CHD is age-dependent, the CHD phenotype of the young family members is unknown. Therefore, we could not calculate linkage for the CHD trait. Phenocopies, in turn, were probably relatively common among low HDL subjects. This means that some individuals represent the disease phenotype (reduced HDL-C) because of some secondary, environmental effects like obesity or a sedentary life style, and not because they had inherited the predisposing gene.

The information concerning the population prevalence of familial low HDL is limited. Therefore, the gene frequencies were estimated from multiple sources of incomplete information, which is often the case when studying complex traits. We were forced to rely on assumptions about the allele frequency in parametric linkage analyses. The allele frequencies of 0.4% for the dominant model and 8% for the recessive model were based on the estimated population prevalence of about 1.0%. This was inferred from the prevalence of FCHL, which represents a more precisely characterized trait. Genest et al. (Genest et al. 1992) estimated the prevalence of FCHL to be 13.7% among the subjects with CHD before the age of 60 years. The prevalences of familial low HDL and familial hypertriglyceridemia with low HDL in this same cohort were 4% and 14.7%, respectively (Genest et al. 1992). The population prevalence of FCHL is considered to be 1-2% (Goldstein et al. 1973; Grundy et al. 1987). We estimated the population prevalence of the common form of familial low HDL to be approximately 1.0%. No other allele frequencies were examined since the hypothesized ones represent the best estimates from the information available, and we wished to avoid the problems of multiple testing.

Finally, varying criteria for the definition of the disease phenotype, especially the use of cut-off levels for quantitative traits such as HDL, may serve as a source of error. The QTL analysis by the variance-components methods is not dependent of arbitrary dichotomization of the disease phenotype (Almasy and Blangero 1998). Thus, we also used the SOLAR program to analyze two quantitative measures, HDL-C and triglycerides. The QTL analyses were adjusted for additional covariates in the model, including sex, BMI and age. No genome-wide significance was found in the QTL analyses, probably reflecting the initial ascertainment strategy, which was aimed for a qualitative trait. This strategy produced a lack of substantial variation in serum HDL-C concentration in the study sample, and thus diminished the power and usefulness of the QTL analysis.

7.4 Studies on the ABCA1 region

Neither linkage evidence nor functional variants on *ABCA1* were identified, suggesting that *ABCA1* is not the underlying cause for low HDL-C in Finns. In fact, Kakko et al. (Kakko et al. 2003) recently reported that the *ABCA1* locus was not linked to HDL-C regulation, in a separate sample of Finnish families with premature CHD and low HDL-C. The polymorphisms of *ABCA1* associated only with a small variation of HDL-C level. Neither did the common *ABCA1* variants prove significant association with HDL-C concentrations in the VA-HIT or the Framingham Offspring Study study samples (Brousseau et al. 2001). However, also other cellular proteins may affect lipid transport to the plasma membrane of the efflux into apoA-I. Limited data is currently available on the association between HDL-C levels and the cholesterol efflux function in patients with low HDL-C, but *without* mutations in the *ABCA1*.

7.5 Mechanisms of HDL lowering in hypertriglyceridemic states; FCHL as an example

The FCHL patients in our study had markedly decreased levels of HDL-C, especially HDL₂-C. These data are consistent with the concept that in hypertriglyceridemia, HDL particles are TGenriched, and HDL particle distribution is skewed towards smaller HDL subclasses (Figure 13). The levels of apoA-I, apoA-II, LpA-I or LpAI-AII were also decreased in the affected FCHL family members, but the reduction in these parameters was not as manifest as that observed for HDL₂-C and HDL-C. The HL activity, in turn, was increased in FCHL patients, providing evidence for the role of HL-mediated hydrolysis as a major determinant of HDL₂-C. HL activity also correlated significantly with LDL particle size.

The subjects affected by FCHL have a delayed elimination of atherogenic CMR particles, and therefore, a prolonged residence time of these triglyceride rich particles (TRLs) in the circulation. Consequently, the transfer of TG from the TRLs to HDL increases. The metabolic clearance of the TG-enriched HDL is enhanced due to an increased HL-mediated hydrolysis (Lamarche et al. 1999). This gives rise to the generation of small dense HDL particles as well as lipid-poor apoA-I particles, which are rapidly cleared from circulation mainly via the kidneys (Kee et al. 2002; Rashid et al. 2002). Elevated lipolytic action of HL predominates particularly in insulin resistant states such as obesity and type 2 diabetes. The long residence time of TRLs also favors the core lipid exchange between TRLs and LDL, which results in the conversion of the LDL particles into small and dense form, into LDL subclass pattern B (Vakkilainen et al. 2002). There seems to be symmetry between the mechanisms leading to the generation of small LDL size and to the lowering of HDL in FCHL.



Figure 13. A schematic illustration of the proposed mechanisms of HDL lowering in hypertriglyceridemia. VLDL, very low density lipoprotein; TG, triglyceride; CE, cholesterol ester; LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL high density lipoprotein; HL, hepatic lipase; CETP, cholesterol ester transfer protein; ApoA-I, apolipoprotein A-I

7.5.1 Contribution of PLTP, CETP and LPL on the regulation of HDL levels in FCHL

The TG-enrichment of HDL enhances the PLTP-mediated conversion of HDL to larger and smaller particles (Rye et al. 1998). A previous study in Finnish men showed that PLTP activity associates with the levels of TG, LDL, and BMI (Tahvanainen et al. 1999). In our study sample, PLTP activity was increased in FCHL patients. However, no association existed between PLTP activity and either HDL parameters or HOMA IR, suggesting that PLTP does not mediate the primary changes in HDL metabolism in FCHL patients.

Reduced LPL activity results in an FCHL-like lipoprotein pattern, i.e. elevated levels of TC and TGs, and decreased HDL-C (Reymer et al. 1995b). Accordingly, a partial LPL deficiency, either genetic or acquired, has been suggested to underlie the phenotype of FCHL in some patients. However, we did not observe significant differences in LPL activity level between the affected and unaffected family members, and in the correlation analyses, LPL activity did not show independent contribution to HDL₂-C level regulation. Neither did CETP activity show independent contribution to the HDL-C level regulation. CETP activity levels were comparable between affected and unaffected family members.

7.6 Carotid artery intima-media thickness in subjects with familial low HDL

Increased carotid IMT has been found to associate with the angiographic presence and extent of CHD (Wofford et al. 1991; Geroulakos et al. 1994; Sonoda et al. 2004), and predict future cardiovascular events (Hodis et al. 1998; van der Meer et al. 2004). The IMT measurement has been suggested to reflect early, diffuse atherosclerosis better than angiography, because it detects the atherosclerotic changes even before the actual narrowing of the arterial lumen (Hodis et al. 1998).

A number of traditional cardiovascular risk factors, including age, smoking, blood pressure, and dyslipidemia have been found to associate with carotid IMT (Prati et al. 1992). Some populationbased data exist on the association between IMT and the serum HDL-C concentrations. In a sample of 1013 French middle-aged subjects, an independent association was found between mean IMT and HDL-C in men, but not in women (Ferrieres et al. 1999). In the the Tromsø study, a populationbased study of 6408 men and women, HDL-C emerged as an independent predictor of IMT, together with age, SBP, TC, BMI and smoking (Stensland-Bugge et al. 2001). In the Edinburgh Artery Study that comprised 1106 men and women, a significant univariate correlation was found between IMT and HDL/TC-ratio in women (Mowbray et al. 1997). The multivariate analysis showed association between HDL/TC-ratio and IMT in both genders. In contrast, no association was found between carotid IMT and HDL-C level in a population sample of 481 Finnish subjects (Kakko et al. 2001). In the Muscatine Study, age and LDL-C were significant predictors of IMT, whereas HDL-C predicted IMT only in men in a risk factor load model, when added to LDL-C and DBP (Davis et al. 2001).

Some previous data also exist on the carotid IMT in subjects with low HDL-C. Interestingly, individuals with low HDL-C due to the *ABCA1* mutations and a reduced cholesterol efflux have an accelerated increase in IMT with age (van Dam et al. 2002). Also subjects with primary hypoalphalipoproteinemia (HA) had increased mean IMT, as compared to subjects with normal or high levels of HDL-C (Sirtori et al. 2001).

As the carotid artery IMT measurement may provide a surrogate marker to identify the high-risk individuals, we examined the IMT in the low HDL family members, with no symptoms of CHD. Our main finding was that the mean IMT is significantly increased in the subjects with familial low HDL as compared to the normolipidemic family members. HDL-C and HDL₂-C, but not LDL-C,

TG, or fasting glucose showed significant correlations with the age-adjusted mean IMT. Based on these results we suggest that (1) HDL-C and HDL₂-C are more critical predictors for carotid artery IMT than conventional lipid variables in the low HDL families; (2) the asymptomatic individuals with familial low HDL are at increased risk for the development of atherosclerosis.

The two study groups in the carotid IMT study differed in several aspects, all of which could potentially explain the between-group differences in mean IMT. We were not able to match the subjects in terms of age, BMI or all the other lipid values. However, we defend our approach by the fact that this is a family study. Our study sample was not collected from a general lipid clinic population, and therefore, did not represent a general population. In fact, the two groups differed with respect to the components of the metabolic syndrome, but despite this, not in LDL-C, TC or apoB. This finding appears to be an inherent feature of the low HDL family members.

In all of our analyses, age was observed as the single variable that independently contributed to IMT. When adjusted for both gender and age, there were no significant differences between the affected and unaffected family members in any of the IMT measures. This may be due to the relatively low sample size, and due to the strong effect of age on the IMT. However, in a subsequent study in a subgroup of these low HDL family members, we compared the mean IMT between 18 low HDL subjects and normolipidemic control subjects (Alagona et al. 2003). The controls were pair-matched individually for gender, age and BMI with the low HDL subjects. The low HDL subjects had a significantly higher mean carotid IMT than the controls, emphasizing the role of decreased HDL-C as a predictor of early atherosclerotic changes in asymptomatic individuals. The pulse wave analysis (PWA) was also performed to determine the presence of the arterial stiffness. All the blood pressure variables, however, were comparable between the two groups. Likewise, low HDL subjects and controls did not differ from each other with regard to augmentation or the augmentation index.

7.7 Elevated concentrations of circulating cellular adhesion molecules in low HDL subjects

The earliest changes before the occurrence of atherosclerosis are the recruitment of inflammatory cells from the circulation and their transendothelial migration into the arterial intima (Price and Loscalzo 1999). Adhesion molecules, including ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin, mediate this process in response to several inflammatory stimuli. As the increased cytokine-induced expression of CAMs is crucial in the development of vascular injury, the capability of HDL to inhibit this process is potentially highly anti-atherogenic. The circulating levels of CAMs, the markers of their endothelial expression, are considered to predict the risk of cardiovascular events (Blankenberg et al. 2003).

Our study in the individuals with familial low HDL showed that (1) the low HDL subjects have significantly higher levels of sVCAM-1, sICAM-1, sE-selectin, and CRP, than controls with similar age- and gender distribution; (2) HDL-C is inversely and significantly associated with the levels of sCAMs and CRP; and (3) the levels of sCAMs and CRP increase according to the number of the features of the metabolic syndrome.

The subjects with low HDL presented a complex phenotype that is commonly observed in FCHL or in the metabolic syndrome, a phenotype characterized by elevated fasting insulin, BMI, TG, and apoB. The growing number of the features of the metabolic syndrome predicted the increase in the levels of CAMs and CRP. This is in line with previous studies in healthy subjects and in patients with type 2 diabetes that established a positive association between the traits related to insulin resistance and obesity and the levels of CAMs and CRP (Chen et al. 1999; Festa et al. 2000; Leinonen et al. 2003). Our data is also complementary to those reported by Calabresi et al., who showed that the levels of sICAM-1 and sE-selectin are elevated in individuals with isolated low HDL, and in individuals with low HDL combined to other lipid abnormalities (Calabresi et al. 2002).

Taken together, we suggest that the familial low HDL trait associates with low-grade inflammation and increased endothelial activation. Moreover, the accumulation of the features of the metabolic syndrome aggravates the increase in the inflammatory parameters. The individuals with familial low HDL are predisposed to increased inflammatory cytokine expression, and therefore have an increased risk for atherosclerotic disease.

Does the measurement of soluble adhesion molecules add predictive information on CHD risk, in addition to that offered by traditional risk factors? Increased plasma CRP, a marker of systemic inflammation, is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease (Ridker 2001; Ridker et al. 2003). The prognostic value of VCAM-1, ICAM-1, E-selectin and CRP as predictors of CHD events has been studied in prospective cohort studies involving healthy subjects and CHD patients (Blankenberg et al. 2003). The Physicians' Health Study and the PRIME study showed that increased sICAM-1 is an independent predictor of future CHD events in healthy men (Ridker et al. 1998; Luc et al. 2003). Contradictory results were obtained from the British Regional Heart Study, which found no strong associations between adhesion molecules and CHD risk when adjusted for smoking, blood pressure, lipid values, inflammation and infection, haemostasis and thrombosis, and indicators of socioeconomic status (Malik et al. 2001). In the ARIC study, the Atherogene study, and in the Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention study, increased levels of sICAM-1, sVCAM-1 or sEselectin predicted the risk of future coronary events in patients with CHD or carotid artery atherosclerosis (Hwang et al. 1997; Blankenberg et al. 2001; Haim et al. 2002). Based on these observations, it has been suggested that ICAM-1 serves as a risk predictor for symtomatic disease in healthy individuals, whereas ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin indicate the extent of atherosclerosis in patients with a manifest vascular disease. Together with CRP, the soluble adhesion molecules likely have a role as potential biomarkers for the risk of CHD.

8. SUMMARY

The results of the Studies I-IV can be summarized as follows:

1. The loci on chromosomes 8q23, 16q24.1-24.2 and 20q13.11 may harbor genes essential for the HDL level regulation in Finnish families. In the genome-wide scan, 8q23 produced the strongest statistical evidence for linkage for low HDL, having a lod score of 4.7. This region has been linked to HDL levels in Mexican Americans, but no potential candidate genes have been identified. The loci on 16q24.1-24.2 and 20q13.11 have previously shown association with elevated TGs, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes. No genome-wide significance was found in the quantitative trait analyses for HDL-C or TG, probably due to the strategy of ascertainment, aiming for a qualitative trait. No evidence was observed for the involvement of the *ABCA1* in the HDL level regulation in Finnish families.

2. The affected low HDL family members not only had low HDL-C, but also a major rearrangement in the HDL subpopulation profile, when compared to either unaffected family members or normolipidemic matched controls. The affected subjects had markedly decreased HDL₂-C, LpA-I and apoA-I. The reduction in the levels of HDL₃-C, LpAI-AII and apoA-II particles was less marked than the reduction of the particles residing in the HDL₂ density range. Thus, the low levels of HDL-C in the affected low HDL family members were mostly due to the decrease in large particles.

3. The asymptomatic subjects with familial low HDL had a significantly increased carotid artery IMT. Total HDL-C and HDL₂-C were significantly associated with the mean IMT, with adjustment for age. However, no significant association existed between the age-adjusted IMT and LDL-C, TG, fasting glucose, or parameters of BP. HDL-C and HDL₂-C may be important in predicting the cardiovascular risk in asymptomatic members of low HDL families.

4. The affected FCHL family members had strongly reduced HDL-C and HDL₂-C. They also had increased levels of fasting insulin and HOMA IR, and higher HL activity. Increased HL activity, increased TGs, and elevated BMI associated significantly with decreased HDL₂-C. The TG-enrichment of HDL particles and enhanced HL activity skew the HDL particle distribution towards the smaller subclasses, and decrease the concentration of total HDL-C. In FCHL, HL appears to have a more important role in the HDL level regulation, as compared to PLTP, LPL or CETP.

5. Subjects with familial low HDL had increased serum concentrations of the sICAM-1, sVCAM-1 and sE-selectin, and an increased level of the inflammatory acute phase protein CRP. The majority of the individuals with familial low HDL had a complex phenotype that resembles FCHL or the metabolic syndrome, characterized by elevated fasting insulin, BMI, TG, and apoB. The individuals with the highest number of the metabolic syndrome features had increased levels of sCAMs and CRP, and a marked decrease in the levels of HDL₂-C, apoA-I and LpA-I. The presence of the metabolic sydrome predicted an increased CRP level in subjects with familial low HDL.

9. CONCLUSIONS

The present thesis was carried out to better understand the metabolic and genetic factors underlying low HDL levels in Finnish families. Low HDL-C is a frequently observed lipoprotein abnormality in patients with premature CHD. However, data from patients with rare inborn errors of HDL metabolism indicate that for the protection from atherosclerosis, the altered HDL function is more relevant than the actual amount of HDL *per se*. Our study sample, consisting of well-defined Finnish families ascertained for low HDL-C and FCHL, enabled us to study the metabolic and genetic regulation of HDL in each of these disease entities, as well as in the pooled study sample.

In the present study, three loci were identified to be involved in HDL level regulation in low HDL and FCHL families, suggesting that a partially shared genetic background underlies the low HDL and FCHL traits in Finnish population. These data also support the concept that the common familial low HDL results from a dysregulation of several genes, rather than from a single gene defect.

In FCHL, the low HDL level is a consequence of the prolonged hypertriglyceridemia, the TGenrichment of HDL particles, and the enhanced HL activity. The HDL particle distribution in affected FCHL family members is skewed towards the smaller density range. Most likely, the same regulatory pathways are dysregulated in FCHL and in familial low HDL, resulting in the strongly reduced concentrations of the HDL₂ subclass.

The clinical phenotypes of the familial low HDL, the FCHL, and the metabolic syndrome overlap. The affected family members in low HDL families are characterized by elevated fasting insulin, BMI, TG, and apoB, as well as strongly reduced levels of HDL₂-C, apoA-I and LpA-I. They also have increased levels of leukocyte adhesion molecules and CRP. Besides low HDL-C level, also other factors potentially contribute to the increased inflammatory cytokine expression and endothelial activation, such as a decreased insulin sensitivity and hypertriglyceridemia. The chronic inflammatory process on the vascular endothelium predisposes the low HDL subjects to an increased risk of an atherosclerotic disease. A low HDL level may substitute for a surrogate marker of the pro-atherogenic disturbances. Furthermore, low HDL may precede the manifestations of decreased insulin sensitivity, namely the metabolic syndrome or type 2 diabetes.

10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Department of Medicine, Helsinki University Central Hospital during the years 1998 to 2003. I want to express my gratitude to Professor Marja-Riitta Taskinen for the excellent research facilities. I also want to thank the David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA, Los Angeles, for the exceptional opportunity to carry out part of this work at the Department of Human Genetics in 1999-2001.

I am most grateful to my supervisor, Professor Marja-Riitta Taskinen, for introducing me to the world of lipids. During my research work I have learned that she really is a world-class expert on the field of diabetic dyslipidemia, with exceptional international connections. Her supervision has been the driving force troughout this study. I greatly appreciate her scientific knowledge and productivity.

I want to express my sincere thanks to professor Leena Peltonen-Palotie, for her inspiring guidance, and for giving me the wonderful opportunity to work in her well-equipped laboratory. Collaboration with her has offered some of the best moments promoting my work. I am also very grateful to professor Päivi Pajukanta for her supervision. I appreciate her devotion to science and knowledge in the complex disease genetics. It has been an honor to witness and contribute to the continued success of Leena's, Päivi's, and Marja-Riitta's work in the field of FCHL.

Docent Katariina Aalto-Setälä and professor Markku Savolainen, the reviewers of this thesis, are gratefully acknowledged for their expert and constructive comments. I also thank them for their encouraging attitude towards my study.

My sister, Dr Sc Ella Bingham, is gratefully appreciated for the validation of the English language text of this thesis. I also want to thank for her expert comments on the statistical analyses and on the data presentation.

I have been priviledged to work with several distinguished scientists. I wish to express my sincere thanks to professor Michael Hayden and his co-workers at the University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada, for our good collaboration.

Professor Christian Ehnholm and docent Matti Jauhiainen are greatly appreciated for their interest in my work, and for their valuable advices and constructive comments on my manuscripts. I also want to express my gratitude to docents Jukka T. Salonen, Riitta Salonen and Markus Perola for our good collaboration. Dr Jukka Westerbacka is warmly thanked for his contribution, and for his cheerful friendship and valuable advices in various issues. Dr Heidi Lilja is gratefully acknowledged for her efforts in the genetic studies, and for her friendship and company here and abroad.

I never ceased to admire the excellent work, friendly guidance and great atmosphere created by the great ladies in our laboratory. Helinä Perttunen-Nio, Hannele Hilden, and Virve Naatti are gratefully acknowledged for their skilled assistance and the best organizing skills. Thank you Helinä for keeping up the spirits during the long days with the stable isotopes. I also want to thank Anne Salo, Anne-Mari Syrjänen, Anne Jaakkola, Helena Laakkonen, Ritva Marjanen, Leena Lehikoinen, Ritva Marjanen and Tomi Silvennoinen.

The company of all the past and present fellows at the Department of Medicine is highly appreciated. I want to thank my close collegues Dr. Kati Ylitalo and Dr. Juha Vakkilainen for their support and friendship in the beginning and thereafter. I wish to thank my current collegues Drs Sakari Mänttäri, Sanni Kähkönen, Anne Hiukka, Eeva Leinonen and docent Heikki Koistinen for creating the cheerful atmosphere in our Fellow room in Biomedicum, and for our enjoyable discussions. Dr Ada Alagona is highly appreciated for her careful and thorough work in the carotid

ultrasound study. From the very beginning of my research work, I want to thank doctors Juhani Kahri, Niina Mero-Matikainen, Sanni Lahdenperä, Petteri Knudsen, Raija Malmström, John O'Connor, and Ming-Lin Liu.

My warm thanks goes to professor Hannele Yki-Järvinen and her team, for their good company at the work and during the congress trips. Also all the people at the Leena's lab at the Department of Human Genetics, UCLA, are warmly thanked for their kind help and company during my visit.

I want to express my deepest gratitude to all the low HDL and FCHL family members who volunteered in these studies and made this work possible. I also want to thank all the other volunteers who participated in these studies.

I am indebted to all the friends and relatives for sharing with me the life outside the lab.

This work was supported by grants from the Finnish Cardiovascular Research Foundation, Special State Grants for health science research, The Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation, The Finnish Medical Society Duodecim, August and Lyydia Heino Foundation, The Paulo Foundation, Aarne Koskelo Foundation, and Maud Kuistila Foundation.

Finally, my parents Simo and Riitta are thanked for their support and for all the engouragment during my studies and working abroad. My sister Ella and brothers Antti and Lauri are thanked for their joyful company during the past 29 years. Lauri and my brother-in-law Kenrick are thanked for their help with various issues concerning computers.

I dedicate this book to my dear husband Karri, who I thank for sharing his life with me.

Helsinki, May 2004

Aino Soro-Paavonen

11. REFERENCES

- (1984) The Lipid Research Clinics Coronary Primary Prevention Trial results. II. The relationship of reduction in incidence of coronary heart disease to cholesterol lowering. Jama 251:365-374.
- Aalto-Setälä K, Bisgaier CL, Ho A, Kieft KA, Traber MG, Kayden HJ, Ramakrishnan R, Walsh A, Essenburg AD, Breslow JL (1994) Intestinal expression of human apolipoprotein A-IV in transgenic mice fails to influence dietary lipid absorption or feeding behavior. J Clin Invest 93:1776-1786.
- Aalto-Setälä K, Fisher EA, Chen X, Chajek-Shaul T, Hayek T, Zechner R, Walsh A, Ramakrishnan R, Ginsberg HN, Breslow JL (1992) Mechanism of hypertriglyceridemia in human apolipoprotein (apo) CIII transgenic mice. Diminished very low density lipoprotein fractional catabolic rate associated with increased apo CIII and reduced apo E on the particles. J Clin Invest 90:1889-900.
- Abe Y, El-Masri B, Kimball KT, Pownall H, Reilly CF, Osmundsen K, Smith CW, Ballantyne CM (1998) Soluble cell adhesion molecules in hypertriglyceridemia and potential significance on monocyte adhesion. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 18:723-731.
- Acton S, Osgood D, Donoghue M, Corella D, Pocovi M, Cenarro A, Mozas P, Keilty J, Squazzo S, Woolf EA, Ordovas JM (1999) Association of polymorphisms at the SR-BI gene locus with plasma lipid levels and body mass index in a white population. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:1734-1743.
- Agarwal DP (2002) Cardioprotective effects of light-moderate consumption of alcohol: a review of putative mechanisms. Alcohol Alcohol 37:409-415.
- Agerholm-Larsen B, Nordestgaard BG, Steffensen R, Jensen G, Tybjaerg-Hansen A (2000a) Elevated HDL cholesterol is a risk factor for ischemic heart disease in white women when caused by a common mutation in the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene. Circulation 101:1907-1912.
- Agerholm-Larsen B, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Schnohr P, Steffensen R, Nordestgaard BG (2000b) Common cholesteryl ester transfer protein mutations, decreased HDL cholesterol, and possible decreased risk of ischemic heart disease: The Copenhagen City Heart Study. Circulation 102:2197-2203.
- Alagona C, Soro A, Westerbacka J, Ylitalo K, Salonen JT, Salonen R, Yki-Jarvinen H, Taskinen MR (2003) Low HDL cholesterol concentration is associated with increased intima-media thickness independent of arterial stiffness in healthy subjects from families with low HDL cholesterol. Eur J Clin Invest 33:457-463.
- Allayee H, Krass KL, Pajukanta P, Cantor RM, van der Kallen CJ, Mar R, Rotter JI, de Bruin TW, Peltonen L, Lusis AJ (2002) Locus for elevated apolipoprotein B levels on chromosome 1p31 in families with familial combined hyperlipidemia. Circ Res 90:926-931.
- Almasy L, Blangero J (1998) Multipoint quantitative-trait linkage analysis in general pedigrees. Am J Hum Genet 62:1198-1211.
- Almasy L, Hixson JE, Rainwater DL, Cole S, Williams JT, Mahaney MC, VandeBerg JL, Stern MP, MacCluer JW (1999) Human pedigree-based quantitative-trait-locus mapping: Localization of two genes influencing HDLcholesterol metabolism. Am J Hum Genet 64:1686-1693
- Aminoff M, Carter JE, Chadwick RB, Johnson C, Grasbeck R, Abdelaal MA, Broch H, Jenner LB, Verroust PJ, Moestrup SK, de la Chapelle A, Krahe R (1999) Mutations in CUBN, encoding the intrinsic factor-vitamin B12 receptor, cubilin, cause hereditary megaloblastic anaemia 1. Nat Genet 21:309-313.
- Antikainen M, Murtomaki S, Syvanne M, Pahlman R, Tahvanainen E, Jauhiainen M, Frick MH, Ehnholm C (1996) The Gln-Arg191 polymorphism of the human paraoxonase gene (HUMPONA) is not associated with the risk of coronary artery disease in Finns. J Clin Invest 98:883-885.
- Aouizerat BE, Allayee H, Cantor RM, Davis RC, Lanning CD, Wen PZ, Dallinga-Thie GM, de Bruin TW, Rotter JI, Lusis AJ (1999) A genome scan for familial combined hyperlipidemia reveals evidence of linkage with a locus on chromosome 11. Am J Hum Genet 65:397-412
- Arad Y, Ramakrishnan R, Ginsberg HN (1992) Effects of lovastatin therapy on very-low-density lipoprotein triglyceride metabolism in subjects with combined hyperlipidemia: evidence for reduced assembly and secretion of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins. Metabolism 41:487-493.
- Arya R, Duggirala R, Almasy L, Rainwater DL, Mahaney MC, Cole S, Dyer TD, Williams K, Leach RJ, Hixson JE, MacCluer JW, O'Connell P, Stern MP, Blangero J (2002) Linkage of high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol concentrations to a locus on chromosome 9p in Mexican Americans. Nat Genet 30:102-105.
- Assmann G, Schulte H, von Eckardstein A, Huang Y (1996) High-density lipoprotein cholesterol as a predictor of coronary heart disease risk. The PROCAM experience and pathophysiological implications for reverse cholesterol transport. Atherosclerosis 124:S11-20.
- Assmann G, von Eckardenstein A, Brewer HB (eds) (1995) Familial high density lipoprotein deficiency: Tangier Disease. McGraw-Hill,, New York
- Assmann G, von Eckardstein A, Funke H (1993) High density lipoproteins, reverse transport of cholesterol, and coronary artery disease. Insights from mutations. Circulation 87:III28-34
- Asztalos BF, Sloop CH, Wong L, Roheim PS (1993) Two-dimensional electrophoresis of plasma lipoproteins: recognition of new apo A-I-containing subpopulations. Biochim Biophys Acta 1169:291-300.
- Azoulay M, Henry I, Tata F, Weil D, Grzeschik KH, Chaves ME, McIntyre N, Williamson R, Humphries SE, Junien C (1987) The structural gene for lecithin:cholesterol acyl transferase (LCAT) maps to 16q22. Ann Hum Genet 51:129-136.

- Babirak SP, Brown BG, Brunzell JD (1992) Familial combined hyperlipidemia and abnormal lipoprotein lipase. Arterioscler Thromb 12:1176-1183
- Baker PW, Rye KA, Gamble JR, Vadas MA, Barter PJ (2000) Phospholipid composition of reconstituted high density lipoproteins influences their ability to inhibit endothelial cell adhesion molecule expression. J Lipid Res 41:1261-1267.
- Ballantyne CM, Hoogeveen RC, Bang H, Coresh J, Folsom AR, Heiss G, Sharrett AR (2004) Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, and risk for incident coronary heart disease in middle-aged men and women in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Circulation 109:837-842
- Baranova I, Vishnyakova T, Bocharov A, Chen Z, Remaley AT, Stonik J, Eggerman TL, Patterson AP (2002) Lipopolysaccharide down regulates both scavenger receptor B1 and ATP binding cassette transporter A1 in RAW cells. Infect Immun 70:2995-3003.
- Barter P, Kastelein J, Nunn A, Hobbs R (2003) High density lipoproteins (HDLs) and atherosclerosis; the unanswered questions. Atherosclerosis 168:195-211.
- Barth JL, Argraves WS (2001) Cubilin and megalin: partners in lipoprotein and vitamin metabolism. Trends Cardiovasc Med 11:26-31.
- Barzilai N, Atzmon G, Schechter C, Schaefer EJ, Cupples AL, Lipton R, Cheng S, Shuldiner AR (2003) Unique lipoprotein phenotype and genotype associated with exceptional longevity. Jama 290:2030-2040.
- Bauersachs J, Bouloumie A, Fraccarollo D, Hu K, Busse R, Ertl G (1999) Endothelial dysfunction in chronic myocardial infarction despite increased vascular endothelial nitric oxide synthase and soluble guanylate cyclase expression: role of enhanced vascular superoxide production. Circulation 100:292-298.
- Bielicki JK, Oda MN (2002) Apolipoprotein A-I(Milano) and apolipoprotein A-I(Paris) exhibit an antioxidant activity distinct from that of wild-type apolipoprotein A-I. Biochemistry 41:2089-2096.
- Birn H, Fyfe JC, Jacobsen C, Mounier F, Verroust PJ, Orskov H, Willnow TE, Moestrup SK, Christensen EI (2000) Cubilin is an albumin binding protein important for renal tubular albumin reabsorption. J Clin Invest 105:1353-1361.
- Blankenberg S, Barbaux S, Tiret L (2003) Adhesion molecules and atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 170:191-203.
- Blankenberg S, Rupprecht HJ, Bickel C, Peetz D, Hafner G, Tiret L, Meyer J (2001) Circulating cell adhesion molecules and death in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation 104:1336-1342.
- Bodzioch M, Orso E, Klucken J, Langmann T, Bottcher A, Diederich W, Drobnik W, Barlage S, Buchler C, Porsch-Ozcurumez M, Kaminski WE, Hahmann HW, Oette K, Rothe G, Aslanidis C, Lackner KJ, Schmitz G (1999) The gene encoding ATP-binding cassette transporter 1 is mutated in Tangier disease. Nat Genet 22:347-51
- Boisfer E, Lambert G, Atger V, Tran NQ, Pastier D, Benetollo C, Trottier JF, Beaucamps I, Antonucci M, Laplaud M, Griglio S, Chambaz J, Kalopissis AD (1999) Overexpression of human apolipoprotein A-II in mice induces hypertriglyceridemia due to defective very low density lipoprotein hydrolysis. J Biol Chem 274:11564-11572.
- Bolibar I, von Eckardstein A, Assmann G, Thompson S (2000) Short-term prognostic value of lipid measurements in patients with angina pectoris. The ECAT Angina Pectoris Study Group: European Concerted Action on Thrombosis and Disabilities. Thromb Haemost 84:955-960.
- Bouly M, Masson D, Gross B, Jiang XC, Fievet C, Castro G, Tall AR, Fruchart JC, Staels B, Lagrost L, Luc G (2001) Induction of the phospholipid transfer protein gene accounts for the high density lipoprotein enlargement in mice treated with fenofibrate. J Biol Chem 276:25841-25847.
- Bowden DW, Sale M, Howard TD, Qadri A, Spray BJ, Rothschild CB, Akots G, Rich SS, Freedman BI (1997) Linkage of genetic markers on human chromosomes 20 and 12 to NIDDM in Caucasian sib pairs with a history of diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes 46:882-886.
- Breckenridge WC, Little JA, Alaupovic P, Wang CS, Kuksis A, Kakis G, Lindgren F, Gardiner G (1982) Lipoprotein abnormalities associated with a familial deficiency of hepatic lipase. Atherosclerosis 45:161-179.
- Bredie SJH, Cees JJT, Smits P, Stalenhoef AFH (1997) Nonobese patients with familial combined hyperlipidemia are insulin resistant compared with their nonaffected relatives. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:1465-1471
- Breslow JL, Dammerman M (1995) Genetic determinants of myocardial infarction. Adv Exp Med Biol 369:65-78
- Brewer HB, Jr. (2004) High-density lipoproteins: a new potential therapeutic target for the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24:387-391.
- Brooks-Wilson A, Marcil M, Clee SM, Zhang LH, Roomp K, van Dam M, Yu L, et al. (1999) Mutations in ABC1 in Tangier disease and familial high-density lipoprotein deficiency. Nat Genet 22:336-345
- Brousseau ME, Bodzioch M, Schaefer EJ, Goldkamp AL, Kielar D, Probst M, Ordovas JM, Aslanidis C, Lackner KJ, Bloomfield Rubins H, Collins D, Robins SJ, Wilson PW, Schmitz G (2001) Common variants in the gene encoding ATP-binding cassette transporter 1 in men with low HDL cholesterol levels and coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis 154:607-611.
- Brousseau ME, O'Connor JJ, Jr., Ordovas JM, Collins D, Otvos JD, Massov T, McNamara JR, Rubins HB, Robins SJ, Schaefer EJ (2002) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein TaqI B2B2 genotype is associated with higher HDL cholesterol levels and lower risk of coronary heart disease end points in men with HDL deficiency: Veterans Affairs HDL Cholesterol Intervention Trial. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:1148-1154.
- Brown ML, Inazu A, Hesler CB, Agellon LB, Mann C, Whitlock ME, Marcel YL, Milne RW, Koizumi J, Mabuchi H, et al. (1989) Molecular basis of lipid transfer protein deficiency in a family with increased high-density lipoproteins. Nature 342:448-51.
- Brown MS, Goldstein JL (1986) A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis. Science 232:34-47.

- Brown WV, Baginsky ML (1972) Inhibition of lipoprotein lipase by an apoprotein of human very low density lipoprotein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 46:375-382.
- Brunzell JD (1989) Familial lipoprotein lipase deficiency and other causes of the chylomicronemia syndrome. In: Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D (eds) The metabolic basis of inherited disease. Vol 1. McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, pp 1165-1180
- Bultel-Brienne S, Lestavel S, Pilon A, Laffont I, Tailleux A, Fruchart JC, Siest G, Clavey V (2002) Lipid free apolipoprotein E binds to the class B Type I scavenger receptor I (SR-BI) and enhances cholesteryl ester uptake from lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 277:36092-36099.
- Calabresi L, Gomaraschi M, Villa B, Omoboni L, Dmitrieff C, Franceschini G (2002) Elevated soluble cellular adhesion molecules in subjects with low HDL-cholesterol. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:656-661.
- Canizales-Quinteros S, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Reyes-Rodriguez E, Riba L, Rodriguez-Torres M, Ramirez-Jimenez S, Huertas-Vazquez A, Fragoso-Ontiveros V, Zentella-Dehesa A, Ventura-Gallegos JL, Vega-Hernandez G, Lopez-Estrada A, Auron-Gomez M, Gomez-Perez F, Rull J, Cox NJ, Bell GI, Tusie-Luna MT (2003) Locus on chromosome 6p linked to elevated HDL cholesterol serum levels and to protection against premature atherosclerosis in a kindred with familial hypercholesterolemia. Circ Res 92:569-576.
- Caslake MJ, Packard CJ, Suckling KE, Holmes SD, Chamberlain P, Macphee CH (2000) Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A(2), platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase: a potential new risk factor for coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis 150:413-419.
- Castro Cabezas M, Erkelens DW, Kock LA, de Bruin TW (1994) Postprandial apolipoprotein B100 and B48 metabolism in familial combined hyperlipidaemia before and after reduction of fasting plasma triglycerides. Eur J Clin Invest 24:669-678
- Cederberg A, Gronning LM, Ahren B, Tasken K, Carlsson P, Enerback S (2001) FOXC2 is a winged helix gene that counteracts obesity, hypertriglyceridemia, and diet-induced insulin resistance. Cell 106:563-573.
- Chen NG, Holmes M, Reaven GM (1999) Relationship between insulin resistance, soluble adhesion molecules, and mononuclear cell binding in healthy volunteers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:3485-3489.
- Cheung MC, Albers JJ (1984) Characterization of lipoprotein particles isolated by immunoaffinity chromatography. Particles containing A-I and A-II and particles containing A-I but no A-II. J Biol Chem 259:12201-12209.
- Chinetti G, Lestavel S, Bocher V, Remaley AT, Neve B, Torra IP, Teissier E, Minnich A, Jaye M, Duverger N, Brewer HB, Fruchart JC, Clavey V, Staels B (2001) PPAR-alpha and PPAR-gamma activators induce cholesterol removal from human macrophage foam cells through stimulation of the ABCA1 pathway. Nat Med 7:53-58.
- Choi SY, Goldberg IJ, Curtiss LK, Cooper AD (1998) Interaction between ApoB and hepatic lipase mediates the uptake of ApoB-containing lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 273:20456-20462.
- Clark RW, Sutfin TA, Ruggeri RB, Willauer AT, Sugarman ED, Magnus-Aryitey G, Cosgrove PG, Sand TM, Wester RT, Williams JA, Perlman ME, Bamberger MJ (2004) Raising high-density lipoprotein in humans through inhibition of cholesteryl ester transfer protein: an initial multidose study of torcetrapib. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24:490-497
- Clay MA, Newnham HH, Barter PJ (1991) Hepatic lipase promotes a loss of apolipoprotein A-I from triglycerideenriched human high density lipoproteins during incubation in vitro. Arterioscler Thromb 11:415-422.
- Clay MA, Newnham HH, Forte TM, Barter PI (1992) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein and hepatic lipase activity promote shedding of apo A-I from HDL and subsequent formation of discoidal HDL. Biochim Biophys Acta 1124:52-58.
- Clee SM, Kastelein JJ, van Dam M, Marcil M, Roomp K, Zwarts KY, Collins JA, Roelants R, Tamasawa N, Stulc T, Suda T, Ceska R, Boucher B, Rondeau C, DeSouich C, Brooks-Wilson A, Molhuizen HO, Frohlich J, Genest J, Jr., Hayden MR (2000) Age and residual cholesterol efflux affect HDL cholesterol levels and coronary artery disease in ABCA1 heterozygotes. J Clin Invest 106:1263-1270.
- Clee SM, Zwinderman AH, Engert JC, Zwarts KY, Molhuizen HO, Roomp K, Jukema JW, van Wijland M, van Dam M, Hudson TJ, Brooks-Wilson A, Genest J, Jr., Kastelein JJ, Hayden MR (2001) Common genetic variation in ABCA1 is associated with altered lipoprotein levels and a modified risk for coronary artery disease. Circulation 103:1198-1205.
- Cockerill GW, Huehns TY, Weerasinghe A, Stocker C, Lerch PG, Miller NE, Haskard DO (2001) Elevation of plasma high-density lipoprotein concentration reduces interleukin-1-induced expression of E-selectin in an in vivo model of acute inflammation. Circulation 103:108-112.
- Connelly PW, Hegele RA (1998) Hepatic lipase deficiency. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 35:547-572.
- Coon H, Leppert MF, Eckfeldt JH, Oberman A, Myers RH, Peacock JM, Province MA, Hopkins PN, Heiss G (2001) Genome-wide linkage analysis of lipids in the Hypertension Genetic Epidemiology Network (HyperGEN) Blood Pressure Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:1969-1976.
- Coon H, Myers RH, Borecki IB, Arnett DK, Hunt SC, Province MA, Djousse L, Leppert MF (2000) Replication of linkage of familial combined hyperlipidemia to chromosome 1q with additional heterogeneous effect of apolipoprotein A-I/C-III/A-IV locus. The NHLBI Family Heart Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:2275-2280.
- Corbex M, Poirier O, Fumeron F, Betoulle D, Evans A, Ruidavets JB, Arveiler D, Luc G, Tiret L, Cambien F (2000) Extensive association analysis between the CETP gene and coronary heart disease phenotypes reveals several putative functional polymorphisms and gene-environment interaction. Genet Epidemiol 19:64-80.
- Costet P, Luo Y, Wang N, Tall AR (2000) Sterol-dependent transactivation of the ABC1 promoter by the liver X receptor/retinoid X receptor. J Biol Chem 275:28240-28245.

- Cottingham RW, Jr., Idury RM, Schaffer AA (1993) Faster sequential genetic linkage computations. Am J Hum Genet 53:252-63
- Craig WY, Palomaki GE, Haddow JE (1989) Cigarette smoking and serum lipid and lipoprotein concentrations: an analysis of published data. Bmj 298:784-788.

Cuthbert JA, East CA, Bilheimer DW, Lipsky PE (1986) Detection of familial hypercholesterolemia by assaying functional low-density-lipoprotein receptors on lymphocytes. N Engl J Med 314:879-883.

- Czarnecka H, Yokoyama S (1995) Lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase reaction on cellular lipid released by free apolipoprotein-mediated efflux. Biochemistry 34:4385-4392.
- Damen J, Regts J, Scherphof G (1982) Transfer of [14C]phosphatidylcholine between liposomes and human plasma high density lipoprotein. Partial purification of a transfer-stimulating plasma factor using a rapid transfer assay. Biochim Biophys Acta 712:444-452.
- Dattilo AM, Kris-Etherton PM (1992) Effects of weight reduction on blood lipids and lipoproteins: a meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 56:320-328.
- Davidson WS, Sparks DL, Lund-Katz S, Phillips MC (1994) The molecular basis for the difference in charge between pre-beta- and alpha-migrating high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 269:8959-8965.
- Davis PH, Dawson JD, Riley WA, Lauer RM (2001) Carotid intimal-medial thickness is related to cardiovascular risk factors measured from childhood through middle age: The Muscatine Study. Circulation 104:2815-2819.
- de Graaf J, Stalenhoef AF (1998) Defects of lipoprotein metabolism in familial combined hyperlipidaemia. Curr Opin Lipidol 9:189-196
- de Grooth GJ, Kuivenhoven JA, Stalenhoef AF, de Graaf J, Zwinderman AH, Posma JL, van Tol A, Kastelein JJ (2002) Efficacy and safety of a novel cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitor, JTT-705, in humans: a randomized phase II dose-response study. Circulation 105:2159-2165.
- De Oliveira e Silva ER, Kong M, Han Z, Starr C, Kass EM, Juo S-HH, Foster D, Dansky HM, Merkel M, Cundey K, Brinton EA, Breslow JL, Smith JD (1999) Metabolic and genetic determinants of HDL metabolism and hepatic lipase activity in normolipidemic females. J Lipid Res 40:1211-1221
- De Oliveira ESER, Foster D, McGee Harper M, Seidman CE, Smith JD, Breslow JL, Brinton EA (2000) Alcohol consumption raises HDL cholesterol levels by increasing the transport rate of apolipoproteins A-I and A-II. Circulation 102:2347-2352.
- Deeb SS, Takata K, Peng RL, Kajiyama G, Albers JJ (1990) A splice-junction mutation responsible for familial apolipoprotein A-II deficiency. Am J Hum Genet 46:822-7
- Demant T, Carlson LA, Holmquist L, Karpe F, Nilsson-Ehle P, Packard CJ, Shepherd J (1988) Lipoprotein metabolism in hepatic lipase deficiency: studies on the turnover of apolipoprotein B and on the effect of hepatic lipase on high density lipoprotein. J Lipid Res 29:1603-1611.
- DeSouza CA, Dengel DR, Macko RF, Cox K, Seals DR (1997) Elevated levels of circulating cell adhesion molecules in uncomplicated essential hypertension. Am J Hypertens 10:1335-1341.
- Despres JP, Lemieux I, Dagenais GR, Cantin B, Lamarche B (2000) HDL-cholesterol as a marker of coronary heart disease risk: the Quebec cardiovascular study. Atherosclerosis 153:263-272.
- Durbin DM, Jonas A (1997) The effect of apolipoprotein A-II on the structure and function of apolipoprotein A-I in a homogeneous reconstituted high density lipoprotein particle. J Biol Chem 272:31333-31339.
- Ehnholm C, Huttunen JK, Kinnunen PJ, Miettinen TA, Nikkila EA (1975) Effect of oxandrolone treatment on the activity of lipoprotein lipase, hepatic lipase and phospholipase A1 of human postheparin plasma. N Engl J Med 292:1314-1317.
- Ehrenwald E, Fox PL (1996) Role of endogenous ceruloplasmin in low density lipoprotein oxidation by human U937 monocytic cells. J Clin Invest 97:884-890.
- Eisenberg S (1984) High density lipoprotein metabolism. J Lipid Res 25:1017-1058.
- Epand RM, Stafford A, Leon B, Lock PE, Tytler EM, Segrest JP, Anantharamaiah GM (1994) HDL and apolipoprotein A-I protect erythrocytes against the generation of procoagulant activity. Arterioscler Thromb 14:1775-1783.
- Ferrieres J, Elias A, Ruidavets JB, Cantet C, Bongard V, Fauvel J, Boccalon H (1999) Carotid intima-media thickness and coronary heart disease risk factors in a low-risk population. J Hypertens 17:743-748.
- Festa A, D'Agostino R, Jr., Howard G, Mykkanen L, Tracy RP, Haffner SM (2000) Chronic subclinical inflammation as part of the insulin resistance syndrome: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study (IRAS). Circulation 102:42-47.
- Fielding PE, Nagao K, Hakamata H, Chimini G, Fielding CJ (2000) A two-step mechanism for free cholesterol and phospholipid efflux from human vascular cells to apolipoprotein A-1. Biochemistry 39:14113-14120.
- Fisher RM, Humphries SE, Talmud PJ (1997) Common variation in the lipoprotein lipase gene: effects on plasma lipids and risk of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 135:145-159.
- Forte TM, Nichols AV, Krauss RM, Norum RA (1984) Familial apolipoprotein AI and apolipoprotein CIII deficiency. Subclass distribution, composition, and morphology of lipoproteins in a disorder associated with premature atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest 74:1601-1613.
- Forte TM, Nordhausen RW (1986) Electron microscopy of negatively stained lipoproteins. Methods Enzymol 128:442-457.
- Forte TM, Oda MN, Knoff L, Frei B, Suh J, Harmony JA, Stuart WD, Rubin EM, Ng DS (1999) Targeted disruption of the murine lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase gene is associated with reductions in plasma paraoxonase and platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase activities but not in apolipoprotein J concentration. J Lipid Res 40:1276-1283.

- Franceschini G, Sirtori CR, Capurso A, 2nd, Weisgraber KH, Mahley RW (1980) A-IMilano apoprotein. Decreased high density lipoprotein cholesterol levels with significant lipoprotein modifications and without clinical atherosclerosis in an Italian family. J Clin Invest 66:892-900.
- Frayling TM, Walker M, McCarthy MI, Evans JC, Allen LI, Lynn S, Ayres S, Millauer B, Turner C, Turner RC, Sampson MJ, Hitman GA, Ellard S, Hattersley AT (1999) Parent-offspring trios: a resource to facilitate the identification of type 2 diabetes genes. Diabetes 48:2475-2479.
- Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS (1972) Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. Clin Chem 18:499-502.
- Fruchart JC, Staels B, Duriez P (2001) The role of fibric acids in atherosclerosis. Curr Atheroscler Rep 3:83-92.
- Fumeron F, Betoulle D, Luc G, Behague I, Ricard S, Poirier O, Jemaa R, Evans A, Arveiler D, Marques-Vidal P, et al. (1995) Alcohol intake modulates the effect of a polymorphism of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene on plasma high density lipoprotein and the risk of myocardial infarction. J Clin Invest 96:1664-1671.
- Funke H, von Eckardstein A, Pritchard PH, Albers JJ, Kastelein JJ, Droste C, Assmann G (1991a) A molecular defect causing fish eye disease: an amino acid exchange in lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) leads to the selective loss of alpha-LCAT activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:4855-"4859.
- Funke H, von Eckardstein A, Pritchard PH, Karas M, Albers JJ, Assmann G (1991b) A frameshift mutation in the human apolipoprotein A-I gene causes high density lipoprotein deficiency, partial lecithin: cholesterolacyltransferase deficiency, and corneal opacities. J Clin Invest 87:371-376.
- Galis ZS, Muszynski M, Sukhova GK, Simon-Morrissey E, Unemori EN, Lark MW, Amento E, Libby P (1994) Cytokine-stimulated human vascular smooth muscle cells synthesize a complement of enzymes required for extracellular matrix digestion. Circ Res 75:181-189.
- Gardemann A, Philipp M, Hess K, Katz N, Tillmanns H, Haberbosch W (2000) The paraoxonase Leu-Met54 and Gln-Arg191 gene polymorphisms are not associated with the risk of coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis 152:421-431.
- Garner B, Waldeck AR, Witting PK, Rye KA, Stocker R (1998) Oxidation of high density lipoproteins. II. Evidence for direct reduction of lipid hydroperoxides by methionine residues of apolipoproteins AI and AII. J Biol Chem 273:6088-95.
- Genest JJ, Martin-Munley SS, McNamara JR, Ordovas JM, Jenner J, Myers RH, Silberman SR, Wilson PW, Salem DN, Schaefer EJ (1992) Familial lipoprotein disorders in patients with premature coronary artery disease. Circulation 85:2025-2033
- Geroulakos G, O'Gorman DJ, Kalodiki E, Sheridan DJ, Nicolaides AN (1994) The carotid intima-media thickness as a marker of the presence of severe symptomatic coronary artery disease. Eur Heart J 15:781-785
- Ghosh S, Watanabe RM, Valle TT, Hauser ER, Magnuson VL, Langefeld CD, Ally DS, et al. (2000) The Finland-United States investigation of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus genetics (FUSION) study. I. An autosomal genome scan for genes that predispose to type 2 diabetes. Am J Hum Genet 67:1174-1185.
- Ginsberg HN, Le NA, Goldberg IJ, Gibson JC, Rubinstein A, Wang-Iverson P, Norum R, Brown WV (1986) Apolipoprotein B metabolism in subjects with deficiency of apolipoproteins CIII and AI. Evidence that apolipoprotein CIII inhibits catabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins by lipoprotein lipase in vivo. J Clin Invest 78:1287-1295.
- Glantz S, Slinker B (1990) Primer of applied regression and analysis of variance. McGraw-Hill, Inc, New York
- Goldbourt U, Yaari S, Medalie JH (1997) Isolated low HDL cholesterol as a risk factor for coronary heart disease mortality. A 21-year follow-up of 8000 men. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:107-113
- Goldstein JL, Schrott HG, Hazzard WR, Bierman EL, Motulsky AG (1973) Hyperlipidemia in coronary heart disease. II. Genetic analysis of lipid levels in 176 families and delineation of a new inherited disorder, combined hyperlipidemia. J Clin Invest 52:1544-1568
- Gordon DJ, Probstfield JL, Garrison RJ, Neaton JD, Castelli WP, Knoke JD, Jacobs DR, Jr., Bangdiwala S, Tyroler HA (1989) High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. Circulation 79:8-15
- Gotto AM, Jr. (2002) Management of dyslipidemia. Am J Med 112:10S-18S.
- Gotto AM, Jr., Pownall HJ, Havel RJ (1986) Introduction to the plasma lipoproteins. Methods Enzymol 128:3-41.
- Groener JE, Pelton RW, Kostner GM (1986) Improved estimation of cholesteryl ester transfer/exchange activity in serum or plasma. Clin Chem 32:283-286.
- Grundy SM (1999) Hypertriglyceridemia, insulin resistance, and the metabolic syndrome. Am J Cardiol 83:25F-29F.
- Grundy SM, Chait A, Brunzell JD (1987) Familial combined hyperlipidemia workshop. Arteriosclerosis 7:203-207
- Gudnason V, Kakko S, Nicaud V, Savolainen MJ, Kesaniemi YA, Tahvanainen E, Humphries S (1999) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene effect on CETP activity and plasma high-density lipoprotein in European populations. The EARS Group. Eur J Clin Invest 29:116-128.
- Guerin M, Lassel TS, Le Goff W, Farnier M, Chapman MJ (2000) Action of atorvastatin in combined hyperlipidemia : preferential reduction of cholesteryl ester transfer from HDL to VLDL1 particles. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:189-197.
- Guerra R, Wang J, Grundy SM, Cohen JC (1997) A hepatic lipase (LIPC) allele associated with high plasma concentrations of high density lipoprotein cholesterol. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:4532-4537.
- Gutteridge JM, Stocks J (1981) Caeruloplasmin: physiological and pathological perspectives. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 14:257-329.

- Haim M, Tanne D, Boyko V, Reshef T, Goldbourt U, Leor J, Mekori YA, Behar S (2002) Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and long-term risk of acute coronary events in patients with chronic coronary heart disease. Data from the Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention (BIP) Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 39:1133-1338.
- Hakala JK, Oorni K, Pentikainen MO, Hurt-Camejo E, Kovanen PT (2001) Lipolysis of LDL by human secretory phospholipase A(2) induces particle fusion and enhances the retention of LDL to human aortic proteoglycans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:1053-1058.
- Halverstadt A, Phares DA, Ferrell RE, Wilund KR, Goldberg AP, Hagberg JM (2003) High-density lipoproteincholesterol, its subfractions, and responses to exercise training are dependent on endothelial lipase genotype. Metabolism 52:1505-1511.
- Hannuksela M, Marcel YL, Kesaniemi YA, Savolainen MJ (1992) Reduction in the concentration and activity of plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein by alcohol. J Lipid Res 33:737-744.
- Hannuksela ML, Liinamaa MJ, Kesaniemi YA, Savolainen MJ (1994) Relation of polymorphisms in the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene to transfer protein activity and plasma lipoprotein levels in alcohol drinkers. Atherosclerosis 110:35-44.
- Herrmann SM, Blanc H, Poirier O, Arveiler D, Luc G, Evans A, Marques-Vidal P, Bard JM, Cambien F (1996) The Gln/Arg polymorphism of human paraoxonase (PON 192) is not related to myocardial infarction in the ECTIM Study. Atherosclerosis 126:299-303.
- Herz J, Hamann U, Rogne S, Myklebost O, Gausepohl H, Stanley KK (1988) Surface location and high affinity for calcium of a 500-kd liver membrane protein closely related to the LDL-receptor suggest a physiological role as lipoprotein receptor. Embo J 7:4119-4127.
- Hockey KJ, Anderson RA, Cook VR, Hantgan RR, Weinberg RB (2001) Effect of the apolipoprotein A-IV Q360H polymorphism on postprandial plasma triglyceride clearance. J Lipid Res 42:211-217.
- Hodis HN, Mack WJ, LaBree L, Selzer RH, Liu CR, Liu CH, Azen SP (1998) The role of carotid arterial intima-media thickness in predicting clinical coronary events. Ann Intern Med 128:262-269.
- Hoffer MJV, Bredie SJH, Boomsma DI, Raymre PWA, Kastelein JJP, de Knijff P, Demacker PNM, Stalenhoef AFH, Havejes LM, Frants RR (1996) The lipoprotein lipase (Asn291->Ser) mutation is associated with elevated lipid levels in families with familial combined hyperlipidemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 199:159-167
- Humbert R, Adler DA, Disteche CM, Hassett C, Omiecinski CJ, Furlong CE (1993) The molecular basis of the human serum paraoxonase activity polymorphism. Nat Genet 3:73-76.
- Hurt-Camejo E, Camejo G, Peilot H, Oorni K, Kovanen P (2001) Phospholipase A(2) in vascular disease. Circ Res 89:298-304.
- Huttunen JK, Ehnholm C, Kinnunen PK, Nikkila EA (1975) An immunochemical method for the selective measurement of two triglyceride lipases in human postheparin plasma. Clin Chim Acta 63:335-347.
- Hwang SJ, Ballantyne CM, Sharrett AR, Smith LC, Davis CE, Gotto AM, Jr., Boerwinkle E (1997) Circulating adhesion molecules VCAM-1, ICAM-1, and E-selectin in carotid atherosclerosis and incident coronary heart disease cases: the Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities (ARIC) study. Circulation 96:4219-4225.
- Ikewaki K, Rader DJ, Sakamoto T, Nishiwaki M, Wakimoto N, Schaefer JR, Ishikawa T, Fairwell T, Zech LA, Nakamura H, et al. (1993) Delayed catabolism of high density lipoprotein apolipoproteins A-I and A-II in human cholesteryl ester transfer protein deficiency. J Clin Invest 92:1650-1658.
- Imbeault P, Lemieux S, Prud'homme D, Tremblay A, Nadeau A, Despres JP, Mauriege P (1999) Relationship of visceral adipose tissue to metabolic risk factors for coronary heart disease: is there a contribution of subcutaneous fat cell hypertrophy? Metabolism 48:355-362.
- Inazu A, Brown ML, Hesler CB, Agellon LB, Koizumi J, Takata K, Maruhama Y, Mabuchi H, Tall AR (1990) Increased high-density lipoprotein levels caused by a common cholesteryl-ester transfer protein gene mutation. N Engl J Med 323:1234-1238.
- Ivandic B, Castellani LW, Wang XP, Qiao JH, Mehrabian M, Navab M, Fogelman AM, Grass DS, Swanson ME, de Beer MC, de Beer F, Lusis AJ (1999) Role of group II secretory phospholipase A2 in atherosclerosis: 1. Increased atherogenesis and altered lipoproteins in transgenic mice expressing group IIa phospholipase A2. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:1284-1290.
- James RW, Leviev I, Ruiz J, Passa P, Froguel P, Garin MC (2000) Promoter polymorphism T(-107)C of the paraoxonase PON1 gene is a risk factor for coronary heart disease in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes 49:1390-1393.
- Jauhiainen M, Metso J, Pahlman R, Blomqvist S, van Tol A, Ehnholm C (1993) Human plasma phospholipid transfer protein causes high density lipoprotein conversion. J Biol Chem 268:4032-4036.
- Jaye M, Lynch KJ, Krawiec J, Marchadier D, Maugeais C, Doan K, South V, Amin D, Perrone M, Rader DJ (1999) A novel endothelial-derived lipase that modulates HDL metabolism. Nat Genet 21:424-428.
- Jeenah M, Kessling A, Miller N, Humphries S (1990) G to A substitution in the promoter region of the apolipoprotein AI gene is associated with elevated serum apolipoprotein AI and high density lipoprotein cholesterol concentrations. Mol Biol Med 7:233-41
- Ji L, Malecki M, Warram JH, Yang Y, Rich SS, Krolewski AS (1997a) New susceptibility locus for NIDDM is localized to human chromosome 20q. Diabetes 46:876-881.
- Ji Y, Jian B, Wang N, Sun Y, Moya ML, Phillips MC, Rothblat GH, Swaney JB, Tall AR (1997b) Scavenger receptor BI promotes high density lipoprotein-mediated cellular cholesterol efflux. J Biol Chem 272:20982-20985.

- Ji ZS, Dichek HL, Miranda RD, Mahley RW (1997c) Heparan sulfate proteoglycans participate in hepatic lipase and apolipoprotein E-mediated binding and uptake of plasma lipoproteins, including high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 272:31285-31292.
- Jiang XC, Moulin P, Quinet E, Goldberg IJ, Yacoub LK, Agellon LB, Compton D, Schnitzer-Polokoff R, Tall AR (1991) Mammalian adipose tissue and muscle are major sources of lipid transfer protein mRNA. J Biol Chem 266:4631-4639.
- Jiang XC, Qin S, Qiao C, Kawano K, Lin M, Skold A, Xiao X, Tall AR (2001) Apolipoprotein B secretion and atherosclerosis are decreased in mice with phospholipid-transfer protein deficiency. Nat Med 7:847-852.
- Joyce CW, Amar MJ, Lambert G, Vaisman BL, Paigen B, Najib-Fruchart J, Hoyt RF, Jr., Neufeld ED, Remaley AT, Fredrickson DS, Brewer HB, Jr., Santamarina-Fojo S (2002) The ATP binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) modulates the development of aortic atherosclerosis in C57BL/6 and apoE-knockout mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:407-412.
- Kahri J, Groop PH, Viberti G, Elliott T, Taskinen MR (1993) Regulation of apolipoprotein A-I-containing lipoproteins in IDDM. Diabetes 42:1281-1288.
- Kakko S, Kelloniemi J, von Rohr P, Hoeschele I, Tamminen M, Brousseau ME, Kesaniemi YA, Savolainen MJ (2003) ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 locus is not a major determinant of HDL-C levels in a population at high risk for coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis 166:285-290.
- Kakko S, Tamminen M, Paivansalo M, Kauma H, Rantala AO, Lilja M, Reunanen A, Kesaniemi YA, Savolainen MJ (2000) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene polymorphisms are associated with carotid atherosclerosis in men. Eur J Clin Invest 30:18-25.
- Kakko S, Tamminen M, Paivansalo M, Kauma H, Rantala AO, Lilja M, Reunanen A, Kesaniemi YA, Savolainen MJ (2001) Variation at the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene in relation to plasma high density lipoproteins cholesterol levels and carotid intima-media thickness. Eur J Clin Invest 31:593-602.
- Kannel WB, Castelli WP, Gordon T (1979) Cholesterol in the prediction of atherosclerotic disease. New perspectives based on the Framingham study. Ann Intern Med 90:85-91.
- Karathanasis SK, Norum RA, Zannis VI, Breslow JL (1983) An inherited polymorphism in the human apolipoprotein A-I gene locus related to the development of atherosclerosis. Nature 301:718-720.
- Karkkainen M, Oka T, Olkkonen VM, Metso J, Hattori H, Jauhiainen M, Ehnholm C (2002) Isolation and partial characterization of the inactive and active forms of human plasma phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP). J Biol Chem 277:15413-15418.
- Kee P, Rye KA, Taylor JL, Barrett PH, Barter PJ (2002) Metabolism of apoA-I as lipid-free protein or as component of discoidal and spherical reconstituted HDLs: studies in wild-type and hepatic lipase transgenic rabbits. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:1912-1917.
- Knoblauch H, Busjahn A, Munter S, Nagy Z, Faulhaber HD, Schuster H, Luft FC (1997) Heritability analysis of lipids and three gene loci in twins link the macrophage scavenger receptor to HDL cholesterol concentrations. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:2054-2060
- Knopp RH, Walden CE, Retzlaff BM, McCann BS, Dowdy AA, Albers JJ, Gey GO, Cooper MN (1997) Long-term cholesterol-lowering effects of 4 fat-restricted diets in hypercholesterolemic and combined hyperlipidemic men. The Dietary Alternatives Study. Jama 278:1509-1515.
- Knudsen P, Antikainen M, Uusi-Oukari M, Ehnholm S, Lahdenpera S, Bensadoun A, Funke H, Wiebusch H, Assmann G, Taskinen MR, Ehnholm C (1997) Heterozygous hepatic lipase deficiency, due to two missense mutations R186H and L334F, in the HL gene. Atherosclerosis 128:165-174.
- Kokkinos PF, Holland JC, Narayan P, Colleran JA, Dotson CO, Papademetriou V (1995) Miles run per week and highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol levels in healthy, middle-aged men. A dose-response relationship. Arch Intern Med 155:415-420.
- Kort EN, Ballinger DG, Ding W, Hunt SC, Bowen BR, Abkevich V, Bulka K, Campbell B, Capener C, Gutin A, Harshman K, McDermott M, Thorne T, Wang H, Wardell B, Wong J, Hopkins PN, Skolnick M, Samuels M (2000) Evidence of linkage of familial hypoalphalipoproteinemia to a novel locus on chromosome 11q23. Am J Hum Genet 66:1845-1856.
- Kovanen PT, Pentikainen MO (2000) Secretory group II phospholipase A(2) : a newly recognized acute-phase reactant with a role in atherogenesis. Circ Res 86:610-612.
- Kovanen PT, Pentikainen MO (2003) Circulating lipoproteins as proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory particles in atherogenesis. Curr Opin Lipidol 14:411-419.
- Kozyraki R, Fyfe J, Kristiansen M, Gerdes C, Jacobsen C, Cui S, Christensen EI, Aminoff M, de la Chapelle A, Krahe R, Verroust PJ, Moestrup SK (1999) The intrinsic factor-vitamin B12 receptor, cubilin, is a high-affinity apolipoprotein A-I receptor facilitating endocytosis of high-density lipoprotein. Nat Med 5:656-661.
- Krieger M (1999) Charting the fate of the "good cholesterol": identification and characterization of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI. Annu Rev Biochem 68:523-558.
- Kronenberg F, Stuhlinger M, Trenkwalder E, Geethanjali FS, Pachinger O, von Eckardstein A, Dieplinger H (2000) Low apolipoprotein A-IV plasma concentrations in men with coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 36:751-757.
- Kuivenhoven JA, Pritchard H, Hill J, Frohlich J, Assmann G, Kastelein J (1997) The molecular pathology of lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) deficiency syndromes. J Lipid Res 38:191-205.

- Kuokkanen S, Sundvall M, Terwilliger JD, Tienari PJ, Wikstrom J, Holmdahl R, Pettersson U, Peltonen L (1996) A putative vulnerability locus to multiple sclerosis maps to 5p14-p12 in a region syntenic to the murine locus Eae2. Nat Genet 13:477-480
- Kuusi T, Nikkila EA, Saarinen P, Varjo P, Laitinen LA (1982) Plasma high density lipoproteins HDL2, HDL3 and postheparin plasma lipases in relation to parameters of physical fitness. Atherosclerosis 41:209-219.
- Kuusi T, Nikkla EA, Virtanen I, Kinnunen PK (1979) Localization of the heparin-releasable lipase in situ in the rat liver. Biochem J 181:245-246.
- Laakso M (2001) Cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes: challenge for treatment and prevention. J Intern Med 249:225-235.
- Lakka HM, Laaksonen DE, Lakka TA, Niskanen LK, Kumpusalo E, Tuomilehto J, Salonen JT (2002) The metabolic syndrome and total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men. Jama 288:2709-2716.
- Lamarche B, Uffelman KD, Carpentier A, Cohn JS, Steiner G, Barrett PH, Lewis GF (1999) Triglyceride enrichment of HDL enhances in vivo metabolic clearance of HDL apo A-I in healthy men. J Clin Invest 103:1191-1199.
- Lambert G, Chase MB, Dugi K, Bensadoun A, Brewer HB, Jr., Santamarina-Fojo S (1999) Hepatic lipase promotes the selective uptake of high density lipoprotein-cholesteryl esters via the scavenger receptor B1. J Lipid Res 40:1294-1303.
- Lander ES, Schork NJ (1994) Genetic dissection of complex traits. Science 265:2037-2048
- Lathrop GM, Lalouel J-M, Julier CA, Ott J (1984) Strategies for multilocus linkage analysis in humans. Proc in Nat Acad Sci U S A 81:3443-3446
- Law SW, Gray G, Brewer HB, Jr., Sakaguchi AY, Naylor SL (1984) Human apolipoprotein A-I and C-III genes reside in the p11----q13 region of chromosome 11. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 118:934-942.
- Lawn RM, Wade DP, Couse TL, Wilcox JN (2001) Localization of human ATP-binding cassette transporter 1 (ABC1) in normal and atherosclerotic tissues. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:378-385.
- Lawn RM, Wade DP, Garvin MR, Wang X, Schwartz K, Porter JG, Seilhamer JJ, Vaughan AM, Oram JF (1999) The Tangier disease gene product ABC1 controls the cellular apolipoprotein-mediated lipid removal pathway. J Clin Invest 104:R25-31.
- Leinonen E, Hurt-Camejo E, Wiklund O, Hulten LM, Hiukka A, Taskinen MR (2003) Insulin resistance and adiposity correlate with acute-phase reaction and soluble cell adhesion molecules in type 2 diabetes. Atherosclerosis 166:387-394.
- Lembertas AV, Perusse L, Chagnon YC, Fisler JS, Warden CH, Purcell-Huynh DA, Dionne FT, Gagnon J, Nadeau A, Lusis AJ, Bouchard C (1997) Identification of an obesity quantitative trait locus on mouse chromosome 2 and evidence of linkage to body fat and insulin on the human homologous region 20q. J Clin Invest 100:1240-1247.
- Leviev I, James RW (2000) Promoter polymorphisms of human paraoxonase PON1 gene and serum paraoxonase activities and concentrations. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:516-521.
- Lilja HE, Soro A, Ylitalo K, Nuotio I, Viikari JS, Salomaa V, Vartiainen E, Taskinen MR, Peltonen L, Pajukanta P (2002) A candidate gene study in low HDL-cholesterol families provides evidence for the involvement of the APOA2 gene and the APOA1C3A4 gene cluster. Atherosclerosis 164:103-11.
- Lindqvist P, Ostlund-Lindqvist AM, Witztum JL, Steinberg D, Little JA (1983) The role of lipoprotein lipase in the metabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins by macrophages. J Biol Chem 258:9086-9092.
- Lindstedt L, Saarinen J, Kalkkinen N, Welgus H, Kovanen PT (1999) Matrix metalloproteinases-3, -7, and -12, but not -9, reduce high density lipoprotein-induced cholesterol efflux from human macrophage foam cells by truncation of the carboxyl terminus of apolipoprotein A-I. Parallel losses of pre-beta particles and the high affinity component of efflux. J Biol Chem 274:22627-22634.
- Liu M, Subbaiah PV (1994) Hydrolysis and transesterification of platelet-activating factor by lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:6035-6039.
- Luc G, Arveiler D, Evans A, Amouyel P, Ferrieres J, Bard JM, Elkhalil L, Fruchart JC, Ducimetiere P (2003) Circulating soluble adhesion molecules ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 and incident coronary heart disease: The PRIME Study. Atherosclerosis 170:169-176.
- Luc G, Bard JM, Ferrieres J, Evans A, Amouyel P, Arveiler D, Fruchart JC, Ducimetiere P (2002) Value of HDL cholesterol, apolipoprotein A-I, lipoprotein A-I, and lipoprotein A-I/A-II in prediction of coronary heart disease: the PRIME Study. Prospective Epidemiological Study of Myocardial Infarction. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:1155-1161.
- Mackness MI, Durrington PN, Mackness B (2000) How high-density lipoprotein protects against the effects of lipid peroxidation. Curr Opin Lipidol 11:383-388.
- Mackness MI, Mackness B, Durrington PN (2002) Paraoxonase and coronary heart disease. Atheroscler Suppl 3:49-55.
- Mahaney MC, Almasy L, Rainwater DL, VandeBerg JL, Cole SA, Hixson JE, Blangero J, MacCluer JW (2003) A quantitative trait locus on chromosome 16q influences variation in plasma HDL-C levels in Mexican Americans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:339-345.
- Malik I, Danesh J, Whincup P, Bhatia V, Papacosta O, Walker M, Lennon L, Thomson A, Haskard D (2001) Soluble adhesion molecules and prediction of coronary heart disease: a prospective study and meta-analysis. Lancet 358:971-976.
- Malle E, Steinmetz A, Raynes JG (1993) Serum amyloid A (SAA): an acute phase protein and apolipoprotein. Atherosclerosis 102:131-146.

- Mann WA, Meyer N, Weber W, Rinninger F, Greten H, Beisiegel U (1995) Apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase coordinately enhance binding and uptake of chylomicrons by human hepatocytes. Eur J Clin Invest 25:880-882.
- Manninen V, Tenkanen L, Koskinen P, Huttunen JK, Manttari M, Heinonen OP, Frick MH (1992) Joint effects of serum triglyceride and LDL cholesterol and HDL cholesterol concentrations on coronary heart disease risk in the Helsinki Heart Study. Implications for treatment. Circulation 85:37-45.
- Mar R, Pajukanta P, Allayee H, Groenendijk M, Dallinga-Thie G, Krauss RM, Sinsheimer JS, Cantor RM, De Bruin TW, Lusis AJ (2004) Association of the APOLIPOPROTEIN A1/C3/A4/A5 Gene Cluster With Triglyceride Levels and LDL Particle Size in Familial Combined Hyperlipidemia. Circ Res 4:4
- Marcil M, Yu L, Krimbou L, Boucher B, Oram JF, Cohn JS, Genest J, Jr. (1999) Cellular cholesterol transport and efflux in fibroblasts are abnormal in subjects with familial HDL deficiency. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:159-169
- Martin G, Duez H, Blanquart C, Berezowski V, Poulain P, Fruchart JC, Najib-Fruchart J, Glineur C, Staels B (2001) Statin-induced inhibition of the Rho-signaling pathway activates PPARalpha and induces HDL apoA-I. J Clin Invest 107:1423-1432.
- Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC (1985) Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 28:412-419
- Mazzone A, Cusa C, Mazzucchelli I, Vezzoli M, Ottini E, Ghio S, Tossini G, Pacifici R, Zuccaro P (2001) Cigarette smoking and hypertension influence nitric oxide release and plasma levels of adhesion molecules. Clin Chem Lab Med 39:822-826.
- McPherson R, Hogue M, Milne RW, Tall AR, Marcel YL (1991) Increase in plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein during probucol treatment. Relation to changes in high density lipoprotein composition. Arterioscler Thromb 11:476-481.
- Mehrabian M, Castellani LW, Wen PZ, Wong J, Rithaporn T, Hama SY, Hough GP, Johnson D, Albers JJ, Mottino GA, Frank JS, Navab M, Fogelman AM, Lusis AJ (2000) Genetic control of HDL levels and composition in an interspecific mouse cross (CAST/Ei x C57BL/6J). J Lipid Res 41:1936-1946.
- Meijssen S, Castro Cabezas M, Twickler T, Jansen H, Erkelens D (2000) In vivo evidence of defective postprandial and postabsorptive free fatty acid metabolism in familial combined hyperlipidemia. J Lipid Res 41:1096-1102
- Mero N, Suurinkeroinen L, Syvänne M, Knudsen P, Yki-Järvinen H, Taskinen M-R (1999) Delayed clearance of postprandial large TG-rich particles in normolipidemic carriers of LPL Asn291Ser gene variant. J Lipid Res 40:1663-1670
- Middleton-Price HR, van den Berghe JA, Scott J, Knott TJ, Malcolm S (1988) Regional chromosomal localisation of APOA2 to 1q21-1q23. Hum Genet 79:283-285.
- Miettinen HE, Gylling H, Miettinen TA, Viikari J, Paulin L, Kontula K (1997) Apolipoprotein A-IFin. Dominantly inherited hypoalphalipoproteinemia due to a single base substitution in the apolipoprotein A-I gene. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:83-90
- Miettinen HE, Gylling H, Tenhunen J, Virtamo J, Jauhiainen M, Huttunen JK, Kantola I, Miettinen TA, Kontula K (1998) Molecular genetic study of Finns with hypoalphalipoproteinemia and hyperalphalipoproteinemia: a novel Gly230 Arg mutation (LCAT[Fin]) of lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) accounts for 5% of cases with very low serum HDL cholesterol levels. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 18:591-8
- Miller M, Aiello D, Pritchard H, Friel G, Zeller K (1998) Apolipoprotein A-I(Zavalla) (Leu159-->Pro): HDL cholesterol deficiency in a kindred associated with premature coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 18:1242-1247
- Mowbray PI, Lee AJ, Fowkes GR, Allan PL (1997) Cardiovascular risk factors for early carotid atherosclerosis in the general population: the Edinburgh Artery Study. J Cardiovasc Risk 4:357-362.
- (NCEP) TNCEP (2001) Executive Summary of The Third Report of The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, And Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol In Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Jama 285:2486-2497.
- Nikkila E (1953) Studies on the lipid-protein relationship in normal and pathological sera and the effect of heparin on serum lipoproteins. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 5:9-100.
- Nikkila EA, Kuusi T, Taskinen MR (1982) Role of lipoprotein lipase and hepatic endothelial lipase in the metabolism of high density lipoproteins: A novel concept on choletserol transport in HDL cycle. In: Carlson LA, Pernow, B (ed) Metabolic Risk Factors in Ischemic Cardiovascular Disease. Raven Press, New York, pp 77-84
- Nikkilä EA, Aro A (1973) Family study of serum lipids and lipoproteins in coronary heart disease. The Lancet 1:954-958
- Nissen SE, Tsunoda T, Tuzcu EM, Schoenhagen P, Cooper CJ, Yasin M, Eaton GM, Lauer MA, Sheldon WS, Grines CL, Halpern S, Crowe T, Blankenship JC, Kerensky R (2003) Effect of recombinant ApoA-I Milano on coronary atherosclerosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes: a randomized controlled trial. Jama 290:2292-2300.
- Nofer JR, Geigenmuller S, Gopfert C, Assmann G, Buddecke E, Schmidt A (2003) High density lipoprotein-associated lysosphingolipids reduce E-selectin expression in human endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 310:98-103.
- Nofer JR, van der Giet M, Tolle M, Wolinska I, von Wnuck Lipinski K, Baba HA, Tietge UJ, Godecke A, Ishii I, Kleuser B, Schafers M, Fobker M, Zidek W, Assmann G, Chun J, Levkau B (2004) HDL induces NOdependent vasorelaxation via the lysophospholipid receptor S1P3. J Clin Invest 113:569-581.

- Norum KR, Gjone E (1967) Familial serum-cholesterol esterification failure. A new inborn error of metabolism. Biochim Biophys Acta 144:698-700.
- Norum RA, Lakier JB, Goldstein S, Angel A, Goldberg RB, Block WD, Noffze DK, Dolphin PJ, Edelglass J, Bogorad DD, Alaupovic P (1982) Familial deficiency of apolipoproteins A-I and C-III and precocious coronary-artery disease. N Engl J Med 306:1513-1519.
- O'Brien KD, McDonald TO, Chait A, Allen MD, Alpers CE (1996) Neovascular expression of E-selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule-1, and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in human atherosclerosis and their relation to intimal leukocyte content. Circulation 93:672-682.
- O'Connell JR, Weeks DE (1998) PedCheck: a program for identification of genotype incompatibilities in linkage analysis. Am J Hum Genet 63:259-266
- Okamoto H, Yonemori F, Wakitani K, Minowa T, Maeda K, Shinkai H (2000) A cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitor attenuates atherosclerosis in rabbits. Nature 406:203-207.
- Ordovas JM, Cassidy DK, Civeira F, Bisgaier CL, Schaefer EJ (1989) Familial apolipoprotein A-I, C-III, and A-IV deficiency and premature atherosclerosis due to deletion of a gene complex on chromosome 11. J Biol Chem 264:16339-16342.
- Ordovas JM, Cupples LA, Corella D, Otvos JD, Osgood D, Martinez A, Lahoz C, Coltell O, Wilson PW, Schaefer EJ (2000) Association of cholesteryl ester transfer protein-TaqIB polymorphism with variations in lipoprotein subclasses and coronary heart disease risk: the Framingham study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:1323-1329.
- Ordovas JM, Schaefer EJ, Salem D, Ward RH, Glueck CJ, Vergani C, Wilson PW, Karathanasis SK (1986) Apolipoprotein A-I gene polymorphism associated with premature coronary artery disease and familial hypoalphalipoproteinemia. N Engl J Med 314:671-677.
- Ott J (1986) Linkage probability and its approximate confidence interval under possible heterogeneity. Genet Epidemiol Suppl 1:251-257.
- Ott J (1992) Strategies for characterizing highly polymorphic markers in human gene mapping. Am J Hum Genet 51:283-290.
- Packard CJ, O'Reilly DS, Caslake MJ, McMahon AD, Ford I, Cooney J, Macphee CH, Suckling KE, Krishna M, Wilkinson FE, Rumley A, Lowe GD (2000) Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 as an independent predictor of coronary heart disease. West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study Group. N Engl J Med 343:1148-1155.
- Pajukanta P, Allayee H, Krass KL, Kuraishy A, Soro A, Lilja HE, Mar R, Taskinen MR, Nuotio I, Laakso M, Rotter JI, de Bruin TW, Cantor RM, Lusis AJ, Peltonen L (2003) Combined analysis of genome scans of dutch and finnish families reveals a susceptibility locus for high-density lipoprotein cholesterol on chromosome 16q. Am J Hum Genet 72:903-917.
- Pajukanta P, Lilja HE, Sinsheimer JS, Cantor RM, Lusis AJ, Gentile M, Duan XJ, Soro-Paavonen A, Naukkarinen J, Saarela J, Laakso M, Ehnholm C, Taskinen MR, Peltonen L (2004) Familial combined hyperlipidemia is associated with upstream transcription factor 1 (USF1). Nat Genet 36:371-376.
- Pajukanta P, Nuotio I, Terwilliger JD, Porkka KVK, Ylitalo K, Pihlajamaki J, Suomalainen AJ, Syvanen AC, Lehtimaki T, Viikari JSA, Laakso M, Taskinen MR, Ehnholm C, Peltonen L (1998) Linkage of familial combined hyperlipidaemia to chromosome 1q21-q23. Nat Genet 18:369-373
- Pajukanta P, Porkka KVK, Antikainen M, Taskinen M-R, Perola M, Murtomäki-Repo S, Ehnholm S, Nuotio I, Suurinkeroinen L, Lahdenkari A-T, Syvänen A-C, Viikari JSA, Ehnholm C, Peltonen L (1997) No evidence of linkage between familial combined hyperlipidemia and genes encoding lipolytic enzymes in Finnish families. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:841-850
- Park YW, Zhu S, Palaniappan L, Heshka S, Carnethon MR, Heymsfield SB (2003) The metabolic syndrome: prevalence and associated risk factor findings in the US population from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Arch Intern Med 163:427-436.
- Parra HJ, Mezdour H, Ghalim N, Bard JM, Fruchart JC (1990) Differential electroimmunoassay of human LpA-I lipoprotein particles on ready-to-use plates. Clin Chem 36:1431-1435
- Pasceri V, Wu HD, Willerson JT, Yeh ET (2000) Modulation of vascular inflammation in vitro and in vivo by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma activators. Circulation 101:235-238.
- Peacock JM, Arnett DK, Atwood LD, Myers RH, Coon H, Rich SS, Province MA, Heiss G (2001) Genome scan for quantitative trait loci linked to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol: The NHLBI Family Heart Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:1823-1828.
- Pearson TA, Mensah GA, Alexander RW, Anderson JL, Cannon RO, 3rd, Criqui M, Fadl YY, Fortmann SP, Hong Y, Myers GL, Rifai N, Smith SC, Jr., Taubert K, Tracy RP, Vinicor F (2003) Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: application to clinical and public health practice: A statement for healthcare professionals from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American Heart Association. Circulation 107:499-511.
- Pei W, Baron H, Muller-Myhsok B, Knoblauch H, Al-Yahyaee SA, Hui R, Wu X, Liu L, Busjahn A, Luft FC, Schuster H (2000) Support for linkage of familial combined hyperlipidemia to chromosome 1q21-q23 in Chinese and German families. Clin Genet 57:29-34.
- Pennacchio LA, Olivier M, Hubacek JA, Cohen JC, Cox DR, Fruchart JC, Krauss RM, Rubin EM (2001) An apolipoprotein influencing triglycerides in humans and mice revealed by comparative sequencing. Science 294:169-173.

- Pennacchio LA, Olivier M, Hubacek JA, Krauss RM, Rubin EM, Cohen JC (2002) Two independent apolipoprotein A5 haplotypes influence human plasma triglyceride levels. Hum Mol Genet 11:3031-3038.
- Perez-Mendez O, Bruckert E, Franceschini G, Duhal N, Lacroix B, Bonte JP, Sirtori C, Fruchart JC, Turpin G, Luc G (2000) Metabolism of apolipoproteins AI and AII in subjects carrying similar apoAI mutations, apoAI Milano and apoAI Paris. Atherosclerosis 148:317-325.
- Pihlajamäki J, Karjalainen L, Karhapää P, Vauhkonen I, Laakso M (2000) Impaired free fatty acid suppression during hyperinsulinemia is a characteristic finding in familial combined hyperlipidemia but insulin resistance is observed only in hypertriglyceridemic patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:164-170
- Pont F, Duvillard L, Florentin E, Gambert P, Verges B (2002) High-density lipoprotein apolipoprotein A-I kinetics in obese insulin resistant patients. An in vivo stable isotope study. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 26:1151-1158.
- Porkka KV, Viikari JS, Ronnemaa T, Marniemi J, Akerblom HK (1994) Age and gender specific serum lipid and apolipoprotein fractiles of Finnish children and young adults. The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Acta Paediatr 83:838-48
- Porkka KVK, Nuotio I, Pajukanta P, Ehnholm C, Suurinkeroinen L, Syvänne M, Lehtimäki T, Lahdenkari AT, Lahdenpera S, Ylitalo K, Antikainen M, Perola M, Raitakari OT, Kovanen P, Viikari JSA, Peltonen L, Taskinen MR (1997) Phenotype expression in familial combined hyperlipidaemia. Atherosclerosis 133:245-253
- Portois L, Tastenoy M, Viollet B, Svoboda M (2002) Functional analysis of the glucose response element of the rat glucagon receptor gene in insulin-producing INS-1 cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1574:175-186.
- Prati P, Vanuzzo D, Casaroli M, Di Chiara A, De Biasi F, Feruglio G, Touboul P (1992) Prevalence and determinants of carotid atherosclerosis in a general population. Stroke 23:1705-1711
- Price DT, Loscalzo J (1999) Cellular adhesion molecules and atherogenesis. Am J Med 107:85-97.
- Prieur X, Coste H, Rodriguez JC (2003) The human apolipoprotein AV gene is regulated by peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-alpha and contains a novel farnesoid X-activated receptor response element. J Biol Chem 278:25468-25480.
- Pruzanski W, Stefanski E, de Beer FC, de Beer MC, Vadas P, Ravandi A, Kuksis A (1998) Lipoproteins are substrates for human secretory group IIA phospholipase A2: preferential hydrolysis of acute phase HDL. J Lipid Res 39:2150-2160.
- Pussinen PJ, Jauhiainen M, Ehnholm C (1997) ApoA-II/apoA-I molar ratio in the HDL particle influences phospholipid transfer protein-mediated HDL interconversion. J Lipid Res 38:12-21.
- Rader DJ, Ikewaki K, Duverger N, Feuerstein I, Zech L, Connor W, Brewer HB, Jr. (1993a) Very low high-density lipoproteins without coronary atherosclerosis. Lancet 342:1455-1458.
- Rader DJ, Schaefer JR, Lohse P, Ikewaki K, Thomas F, Harris WA, Zech LA, Dujovne CA, Brewer HB, Jr. (1993b) Increased production of apolipoprotein A-I associated with elevated plasma levels of high-density lipoproteins, apolipoprotein A-I, and lipoprotein A-I in a patient with familial hyperalphalipoproteinemia. Metabolism 42:1429-1434.
- Rantala AO, Kauma H, Lilja M, Savolainen MJ, Reunanen A, Kesaniemi YA (1999) Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in drug-treated hypertensive patients and control subjects. J Intern Med 245:163-174.
- Rashid S, Barrett PH, Uffelman KD, Watanabe T, Adeli K, Lewis GF (2002) Lipolytically modified triglycerideenriched HDLs are rapidly cleared from the circulation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:483-487.
- Rashid S, Watanabe T, Sakaue T, Lewis GF (2003) Mechanisms of HDL lowering in insulin resistant, hypertriglyceridemic states: the combined effect of HDL triglyceride enrichment and elevated hepatic lipase activity. Clin Biochem 36:421-429.
- Repa JJ, Turley SD, Lobaccaro JA, Medina J, Li L, Lustig K, Shan B, Heyman RA, Dietschy JM, Mangelsdorf DJ (2000) Regulation of absorption and ABC1-mediated efflux of cholesterol by RXR heterodimers. Science 289:1524-1529.
- Reymer PW, Gagne E, Groenemeyer BE, Zhang H, Forsyth I, Jansen H, Seidell JC, Kromhout D, Lie KE, Kastelein J, Hayden MR (1995a) A lipoprotein lipase mutation (Asn291Ser) is associated with reduced HDL cholesterol levels in premature atherosclerosis. Nat Genet 10:28-34
- Reymer PW, Groenemeyer BE, Gagne E, Miao L, Appelman EE, Seidel JC, Kromhout D, Bijvoet SM, van de Oever K, Bruin T, et al. (1995b) A frequently occurring mutation in the lipoprotein lipase gene (Asn291Ser) contributes to the expression of familial combined hyperlipidemia. Hum Mol Genet 4:1543-1549.
- Ribalta J, Figuera L, Fernandez-Ballart J, Vilella E, Castro Cabezas M, Masana L, Joven J (2002) Newly identified apolipoprotein AV gene predisposes to high plasma triglycerides in familial combined hyperlipidemia. Clin Chem 48:1597-1600.
- Ribeiro A, Pastier D, Kardassis D, Chambaz J, Cardot P (1999) Cooperative binding of upstream stimulatory factor and hepatic nuclear factor 4 drives the transcription of the human apolipoprotein A-II gene. J Biol Chem 274:1216-1225.
- Rice GI, Ossei-Gerning N, Stickland MH, Grant PJ (1997) The paraoxonase Gln-Arg 192 polymorphism in subjects with ischaemic heart disease. Coron Artery Dis 8:677-682.
- Ridker PM (2001) High-sensitivity C-reactive protein: potential adjunct for global risk assessment in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Circulation 103:1813-1818.
- Ridker PM, Buring JE, Cook NR, Rifai N (2003) C-reactive protein, the metabolic syndrome, and risk of incident cardiovascular events: an 8-year follow-up of 14 719 initially healthy American women. Circulation 107:391-397.

- Ridker PM, Hennekens CH, Roitman-Johnson B, Stampfer MJ, Allen J (1998) Plasma concentration of soluble intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and risks of future myocardial infarction in apparently healthy men. Lancet 351:88-92.
- Riemens S, van Tol A, Sluiter W, Dullaart R (1998) Elevated plasma cholesteryl ester transfer in NIDDM: relationships with apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins and phospholipid transfer protein. Atherosclerosis 140:71-79.
- Rigotti A, Trigatti BL, Penman M, Rayburn H, Herz J, Krieger M (1997) A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:12610-12615.
- Rimm EB, Williams P, Fosher K, Criqui M, Stampfer MJ (1999) Moderate alcohol intake and lower risk of coronary heart disease: meta-analysis of effects on lipids and haemostatic factors. Bmj 319:1523-1528.
- Romling R, von Eckardstein A, Funke H, Motti C, Fragiacomo GC, Noseda G, Assmann G (1994) A nonsense mutation in the apolipoprotein A-I gene is associated with high-density lipoprotein deficiency and periorbital xanthelasmas. Arterioscler Thromb 14:1915-1922.
- Rose G, Blackburn H, Gillum R (1982) Cardiovascular survey methods, 2d ed. World Health Organization
- Ross R (1999) Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med 340:115-126.
- Rothblat GH, de la Llera-Moya M, Atger V, Kellner-Weibel G, Williams DL, Phillips MC (1999) Cell cholesterol efflux: integration of old and new observations provides new insights. J Lipid Res 40:781-796.
- Rubins HB, Robins SJ, Collins D, Fye CL, Anderson JW, Elam MB, Faas FH, Linares E, Schaefer EJ, Schectman G, Wilt TJ, Wittes J (1999) Gemfibrozil for the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in men with low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Intervention Trial Study Group. N Engl J Med 341:410-418.
- Rumsey SC, Obunike JC, Arad Y, Deckelbaum RJ, Goldberg IJ (1992) Lipoprotein lipase-mediated uptake and degradation of low density lipoproteins by fibroblasts and macrophages. J Clin Invest 90:1504-1512.
- Rust S, Rosier M, Funke H, Real J, Amoura Z, Piette J, Deleuze J, Brewer H, Duverger N, Denefle P, Assmann G (1999) Tangier disease is caused by mutations in the gene encoding ATP-binding cassette transporter 1. Nat Genet 22:352-355
- Rye KA, Clay MA, Barter PJ (1999) Remodelling of high density lipoproteins by plasma factors. Atherosclerosis 145:227-238.
- Rye KA, Duong MN (2000) Influence of phospholipid depletion on the size, structure, and remodeling of reconstituted high density lipoproteins. J Lipid Res 41:1640-1650.
- Rye KA, Jauhiainen M, Barter PJ, Ehnholm C (1998) Triglyceride-enrichment of high density lipoproteins enhances their remodelling by phospholipid transfer protein. J Lipid Res 39:613-622.
- Rämet ME, Ramet M, Lu Q, Nickerson M, Savolainen MJ, Malzone A, Karas RH (2003) High-density lipoprotein increases the abundance of eNOS protein in human vascular endothelial cells by increasing its half-life. J Am Coll Cardiol 41:2288-2297.
- Sacks FM, Gerhard M, Walsh BW (1995) Sex hormones, lipoproteins, and vascular reactivity. Curr Opin Lipidol 6:161-166.
- Sanghera DK, Saha N, Aston CE, Kamboh MI (1997) Genetic polymorphism of paraoxonase and the risk of coronary heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:1067-1073
- Santamarina-Fojo S (1992) Genetic dyslipoproteinemias: Role of lipoprotein lipase and apolipoprotein C-II. Current Opinion in Lipidology 3:186-195
- Santamarina-Fojo S, Dugi KA (1994) Structure, function and role of lipoprotein lipase in lipoprotein metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 5:117-125.
- Santamarina-Fojo S, Remaley AT, Neufeld EB, Brewer HB, Jr. (2001) Regulation and intracellular trafficking of the ABCA1 transporter. J Lipid Res 42:1339-1345.
- Sauvaget D, Chauffeton V, Dugue-Pujol S, Kalopissis AD, Guillet-Deniau I, Foufelle F, Chambaz J, Leturque A, Cardot P, Ribeiro A (2004) In vitro transcriptional induction of the human apolipoprotein A-II gene by glucose. Diabetes 53:672-678.
- Savolainen MJ, Hannuksela M, Seppanen S, Kervinen K, Kesaniemi YA (1990) Increased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol concentration in alcoholics is related to low cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity. Eur J Clin Invest 20:593-599.
- Saxena U, Klein MG, Vanni TM, Goldberg IJ (1992) Lipoprotein lipase increases low density lipoprotein retention by subendothelial cell matrix. Journal of Clinical Investigation 89:373-380
- Schaefer EJ, Ordovas JM, Law SW, Ghiselli G, Kashyap ML, Srivastava LS, Heaton WH, Albers JJ, Connor WE, Lindgren FT, et al. (1985) Familial apolipoprotein A-I and C-III deficiency, variant II. J Lipid Res 26:1089-1101.
- Schaffer AA, Gupta SK, Shriram K, Cottingham RW, Jr. (1994) Avoiding recomputation in linkage analysis. Hum Hered 44:225-37
- Schmitz G, Langmann T, Heimerl S (2001) Role of ABCG1 and other ABCG family members in lipid metabolism. J Lipid Res 42:1513-1520.
- Schoonjans K, Staels B, Auwerx J (1996) The peroxisome proliferator activated receptors (PPARS) and their effects on lipid metabolism and adipocyte differentiation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1302:93-109
- Schultz JR, Verstuyft JG, Gong EL, Nichols AV, Rubin EM (1993) Protein composition determines the antiatherogenic properties of HDL in transgenic mice. Nature 365:762-764.
- Seip RL, Moulin P, Cocke T, Tall A, Kohrt WM, Mankowitz K, Semenkovich CF, Ostlund R, Schonfeld G (1993) Exercise training decreases plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Arterioscler Thromb 13:1359-1367.
- Selzer RH, Hodis HN, Kwong-Fu H, Mack WJ, Lee PL, Liu C-r, Liu C-h (1994) Evaluation of computerized edge tracking for quantifying intima-media thickness of the common carotid artery from B-mode ultrasound images. Atherosclerosis 111:1-11
- Serrato M, Marian AJ (1995) A variant of human paraoxonase/arylesterase (HUMPONA) gene is a risk factor for coronary artery disease. J Clin Invest 96:3005-3008.
- Settasatian N, Duong M, Curtiss LK, Ehnholm C, Jauhiainen M, Huuskonen J, Rye KA (2001) The mechanism of the remodeling of high density lipoproteins by phospholipid transfer protein. J Biol Chem 276:26898-26905.
- Shah PK, Yano J, Reyes O, Chyu KY, Kaul S, Bisgaier CL, Drake S, Cercek B (2001) High-dose recombinant apolipoprotein A-I(milano) mobilizes tissue cholesterol and rapidly reduces plaque lipid and macrophage content in apolipoprotein e-deficient mice. Potential implications for acute plaque stabilization. Circulation 103:3047-3050.
- Sharrett AR, Ballantyne CM, Coady SA, Heiss G, Sorlie PD, Catellier D, Patsch W (2001) Coronary heart disease prediction from lipoprotein cholesterol levels, triglycerides, lipoprotein(a), apolipoproteins A-I and B, and HDL density subfractions: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Circulation 104:1108-1113.
- Shearman AM, Ordovas JM, Cupples LA, Schaefer EJ, Harmon MD, Shao Y, Keen JD, DeStefano AL, Joost O, Wilson PW, Housman DE, Myers RH (2000) Evidence for a gene influencing the TG/HDL-C ratio on chromosome 7q32.3-qter: a genome-wide scan in the Framingham study. Hum Mol Genet 9:1315-1320.
- Sheffield VC, Weber JL, Buetow KH, Murray JC, Even DA, Wiles K, Gastier JM, Pulido JC, Yandava C, Sunden SL, et al. (1995) A collection of tri- and tetranucleotide repeat markers used to generate high quality, high resolution human genome-wide linkage maps. Hum Mol Genet 4:1837-1844
- Shepherd J, Packard CJ, Morgan HG, Third JL, Stewart JM, Lawrie TD (1979a) The effects of cholestyramine on high density lipoprotein metabolism. Atherosclerosis 33:433-444.
- Shepherd J, Packard CJ, Patsch JR, Gotto AM, Jr., Taunton OD (1979b) Effects of nicotinic acid therapy on plasma high density lipoprotein subfraction distribution and composition and on apolipoprotein A metabolism. J Clin Invest 63:858-867.
- Shih DM, Gu L, Xia YR, Navab M, Li WF, Hama S, Castellani LW, Furlong CE, Costa LG, Fogelman AM, Lusis AJ (1998) Mice lacking serum paraoxonase are susceptible to organophosphate toxicity and atherosclerosis. Nature 394:284-287.
- Singaraja RR, Bocher V, James ER, Clee SM, Zhang LH, Leavitt BR, Tan B, Brooks-Wilson A, Kwok A, Bissada N, Yang YZ, Liu G, Tafuri SR, Fievet C, Wellington CL, Staels B, Hayden MR (2001) Human ABCA1 BAC transgenic mice show increased high density lipoprotein cholesterol and ApoAI-dependent efflux stimulated by an internal promoter containing liver X receptor response elements in intron 1. J Biol Chem 276:33969-33979.
- Sirtori CR, Calabresi L, Franceschini G, Baldassarre D, Amato M, Johansson J, Salvetti M, Monteduro C, Zulli R, Muiesan ML, Agabiti-Rosei E (2001) Cardiovascular status of carriers of the apolipoprotein A-I(Milano) mutant: the Limone sul Garda study. Circulation 103:1949-1954.
- Smith KM, Lawn RM, Wilcox JN (1990) Cellular localization of apolipoprotein D and lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase mRNA in rhesus monkey tissues by in situ hybridization. J Lipid Res 31:995-1004.
- Sniderman A, Cianflone K, Arner P, Summers L, Frayn K (1998) The adipocyte, fatty acid trapping, and atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 18:147-151
- Sobel E, Lange K (1996) Descent graphs in pedigree analysis: applications to haplotyping, location scores, and markersharing statistics. Am J Hum Genet 58:1323-1337
- Son YS, Zilversmit DB (1986) Increased lipid transfer activities in hyperlipidemic rabbit plasma. Arteriosclerosis 6:345-351.
- Sonoda M, Yonekura K, Yokoyama I, Takenaka K, Nagai R, Aoyagi T (2004) Common carotid intima-media thickness is correlated with myocardial flow reserve in patients with coronary artery disease: a useful non-invasive indicator of coronary atherosclerosis. Int J Cardiol 93:131-136.
- Sparkes RS, Drayna D, Mohandas T, Klisak I, Heinzmann C, Lawn R, Lusis AJ (1987a) Assignment of cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP) gene to human 16q21. Cytogenet. Cell Genet 46:696
- Sparkes RS, Zollman S, Klisak I, Kirchgessner TG, Komaromy MC, Mohandas T, Schotz MC, Lusis AJ (1987b) Human genes involved in lipolysis of plasma lipoproteins: mapping of loci for lipoprotein lipase to 8p22 and hepatic lipase to 15q21. Genomics 1:138-144.
- Staels B, Auwerx J (1998) Regulation of apo A-I gene expression by fibrates. Atherosclerosis 137 Suppl:S19-S23
- Staels B, Dallongeville J, Auwerx J, Schoonjans K, Leitersdorf E, Fruchart JC (1998) Mechanism of action of fibrates on lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. Circulation 98:2088-2093
- Stampfer MJ, Sacks FM, Salvini S, Willett WC, Hennekens CH (1991) A prospective study of cholesterol, apolipoproteins, and the risk of myocardial infarction. N Eng J Med 325:373-381
- Stary HC (1989) Evolution and progression of atherosclerotic lesions in coronary arteries of children and young adults. Arteriosclerosis 9:I19-32.
- Stein O, Stein Y (1999) Atheroprotective mechanisms of HDL. Atherosclerosis 144:285-301
- Steinberg D, Parthasarathy S, Carew TE, Khoo JC, Witztum JL (1989) Beyond cholesterol. Modifications of lowdensity lipoprotein that increase its atherogenicity. N Eng J Med 320:915-924

- Steinberg HO, Tarshoby M, Monestel R, Hook G, Cronin J, Johnson A, Bayazeed B, Baron AD (1997) Elevated circulating free fatty acid levels impair endothelium-dependent vasodilation. J Clin Invest 100:1230-1239
- Steinmetz A, Utermann G (1985) Activation of lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase by human apolipoprotein A-IV. J Biol Chem 260:2258-2264.
- Stensland-Bugge E, Bonaa KH, Joakimsen O (2001) Age and sex differences in the relationship between inherited and lifestyle risk factors and subclinical carotid atherosclerosis: the Tromso study. Atherosclerosis 154:437-448.
- Sugano M, Makino N, Sawada S, Otsuka S, Watanabe M, Okamoto H, Kamada M, Mizushima A (1998) Effect of antisense oligonucleotides against cholesteryl ester transfer protein on the development of atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed rabbits. J Biol Chem 273:5033-5036.
- Sugatani J, Miwa M, Komiyama Y, Ito S (1996) High-density lipoprotein inhibits the synthesis of platelet-activating factor in human vascular endothelial cells. J Lipid Mediat Cell Signal 13:73-88.
- Tahvanainen E, Jauhiainen M, Funke H, Vartiainen E, Sundvall J, Ehnholm C (1999) Serum phospholipid transfer protein activity and genetic variation of the PLTP gene. Atherosclerosis 146:107-115.
- Tailleux A, Duriez P, Fruchart JC, Clavey V (2002) Apolipoprotein A-II, HDL metabolism and atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 164:1-13.
- Tall A (1995) Plasma lipid transfer proteins. Annu Rev Biochem 64:235-257.
- Talmud PJ, Hawe E, Martin S, Olivier M, Miller GJ, Rubin EM, Pennacchio LA, Humphries SE (2002) Relative contribution of variation within the APOC3/A4/A5 gene cluster in determining plasma triglycerides. Hum Mol Genet 11:3039-3046.
- Tardif JC, Cote G, Lesperance J, Bourassa M, Lambert J, Doucet S, Bilodeau L, Nattel S, de Guise P (1997) Probucol and multivitamins in the prevention of restenosis after coronary angioplasty. Multivitamins and Probucol Study Group. N Engl J Med 337:365-372.
- Taskinen MR (2003) LDL-cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol or triglycerides--which is the culprit? Diabetes Res Clin Pract 61:S19-26.
- Taskinen MR, Kuusi T, Helve E, Nikkila EA, Yki-Jarvinen H (1988) Insulin therapy induces antiatherogenic changes of serum lipoproteins in noninsulin-dependent diabetes. Arteriosclerosis 8:168-177
- Taskinen MR, Valimaki M, Nikkila EA, Kuusi T, Ehnholm C, Ylikahri R (1982) High density lipoprotein subfractions and postheparin plasma lipases in alcoholic men before and after ethanol withdrawal. Metabolism 31:1168-1174.
- Taskinen MR, Valimaki M, Nikkila EA, Kuusi T, Ylikahri R (1985) Sequence of alcohol-induced initial changes in plasma lipoproteins (VLDL and HDL) and lipolytic enzymes in humans. Metabolism 34:112-119.
- Tato F, Vega GL, Tall AR, Grundy SM (1995) Relation between cholesterol ester transfer protein activities and lipoprotein cholesterol in patients with hypercholesterolemia and combined hyperlipidemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:112-120
- Teh EM, Dolphin PJ, Breckenridge WC, Tan MH (1998) Human plasma CETP deficiency: identification of a novel mutation in exon 9 of the CETP gene in a Caucasian subject from North America. J Lipid Res 39:442-456.
- Temel RE, Parks JS, Williams DL (2003) Enhancement of scavenger receptor class B type I-mediated selective cholesteryl ester uptake from apoA-I(-/-) high density lipoprotein (HDL) by apolipoprotein A-I requires HDL reorganization by lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase. J Biol Chem 278:4792-4799.
- Terwilliger JD, Göring HH (2000) Gene mapping in the 20th and 21st centuries: statistical methods, data analysis, and experimental design. Hum Biol 72:63-132.
- Tietge UJ, Maugeais C, Cain W, Grass D, Glick JM, de Beer FC, Rader DJ (2000) Overexpression of secretory phospholipase A(2) causes rapid catabolism and altered tissue uptake of high density lipoprotein cholesteryl ester and apolipoprotein A-I. J Biol Chem 275:10077-10084.
- Tietge UJ, Maugeais C, Lund-Katz S, Grass D, deBeer FC, Rader DJ (2002) Human secretory phospholipase A2 mediates decreased plasma levels of HDL cholesterol and apoA-I in response to inflammation in human apoA-I transgenic mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:1213-1218.
- Tikkanen MJ, Nikkila EA, Kuusi T, Sipinen SU (1982) High density lipoprotein-2 and hepatic lipase: reciprocal changes produced by estrogen and norgestrel. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 54:1113-1117.
- Tilly-Kiesi M, Zhang Q, Ehnholm S, Kahri J, Lahdenpera S, Ehnholm C, Taskinen MR (1995) ApoA-IHelsinki (Lys107-->0) associated with reduced HDL cholesterol and LpA-I:A-II deficiency. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:1294-306
- Tjoelker LW, Stafforini DM (2000) Platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolases in health and disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1488:102-123.
- Tselepis AD, Dentan C, Karabina SA, Chapman MJ, Ninio E (1995) PAF-degrading acetylhydrolase is preferentially associated with dense LDL and VHDL-1 in human plasma. Catalytic characteristics and relation to the monocyte-derived enzyme. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:1764-1773.
- Tsuruoka H, Khovidhunkit W, Brown BE, Fluhr JW, Elias PM, Feingold KR (2002) Scavenger receptor class B type I is expressed in cultured keratinocytes and epidermis. Regulation in response to changes in cholesterol homeostasis and barrier requirements. J Biol Chem 277:2916-2922.
- Tu AY, Albers JJ (2001) Functional analysis of the transcriptional activity of the mouse phospholipid transfer protein gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 287:921-926.
- Utermann G, Steinmetz A, Paetzold R, Wilk J, Feussner G, Kaffarnik H, Mueller-Eckhardt C, Seidel D, Vogelberg KH, Zimmer F (1982) Apolipoprotein AlMarburg: studies on two kindreds with a mutant of human apolipoprotein AI. Hum Genet 61:329-337.

- Vakkilainen J, Jauhiainen M, Ylitalo K, Nuotio IO, Viikari JS, Ehnholm C, Taskinen MR (2002) LDL particle size in familial combined hyperlipidemia: effects of serum lipids, lipoprotein-modifying enzymes, and lipid transfer proteins. J Lipid Res 43:598-603.
- van Dam MJ, de Groot E, Clee SM, Hovingh GK, Roelants R, Brooks-Wilson A, Zwinderman AH, Smit AJ, Smelt AH, Groen AK, Hayden MR, Kastelein JJ (2002) Association between increased arterial-wall thickness and impairment in ABCA1-driven cholesterol efflux: an observational study. Lancet 359:37-42.
- van der Gaag MS, van Tol A, Vermunt SH, Scheek LM, Schaafsma G, Hendriks HF (2001) Alcohol consumption stimulates early steps in reverse cholesterol transport. J Lipid Res 42:2077-2083.
- van der Meer IM, Bots ML, Hofman A, del Sol AI, van der Kuip DA, Witteman JC (2004) Predictive value of noninvasive measures of atherosclerosis for incident myocardial infarction: the Rotterdam Study. Circulation 109:1089-1094.
- van der Vliet HN, Sammels MG, Leegwater AC, Levels JH, Reitsma PH, Boers W, Chamuleau RA (2001) Apolipoprotein A-V: a novel apolipoprotein associated with an early phase of liver regeneration. J Biol Chem 276:44512-44520.
- Van Lenten BJ, Hama SY, de Beer FC, Stafforini DM, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, La Du BN, Fogelman AM, Navab M (1995) Anti-inflammatory HDL becomes pro-inflammatory during the acute phase response. Loss of protective effect of HDL against LDL oxidation in aortic wall cell cocultures. J Clin Invest 96:2758-2767.
- Van Lenten BJ, Navab M, Shih D, Fogelman AM, Lusis AJ (2001) The role of high-density lipoproteins in oxidation and inflammation. Trends Cardiovasc Med 11:155-161.
- Vandenplas S, Wud I, Grobler-Rabie A, Brebner K, Ricketts M, Wallis G, Besler A, Boyd C, Mathew C (1984) Blot hybridization analysis of genomic DNA. 21:164-172
- Wang J, Burnett JR, Near S, Young K, Zinman B, Hanley AJ, Connelly PW, Harris SB, Hegele RA (2000) Common and rare ABCA1 variants affecting plasma HDL cholesterol. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:1983-1989.
- Wang XQ, Panousis CG, Alfaro ML, Evans GF, Zuckerman SH (2002) Interferon-gamma-mediated downregulation of cholesterol efflux and ABC1 expression is by the Stat1 pathway. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:e5-9.
- Wang Y, Oram JF (2002) Unsaturated fatty acids inhibit cholesterol efflux from macrophages by increasing degradation of ATP-binding cassette transporter A1. J Biol Chem 277:5692-5697.
- Warden CH, Hedrick CC, Qiao JH, Castellani LW, Lusis AJ (1993) Atherosclerosis in transgenic mice overexpressing apolipoprotein A-II. Science 261:469-472.
- Vartiainen E, Jousilahti P, Alfthan G, Sundvall J, Pietinen P, Puska P (2000) Cardiovascular risk factor changes in Finland, 1972-1997. Int J Epidemiol 29:49-56.
- Vartiainen E, Puska P, Jousilahti P, Korhonen HJ, Tuomilehto J, Nissinen A (1994) Twenty-year trends in coronary risk factors in north Karelia and in other areas of Finland. International Journal of Epidemiology 23:495-504
- Watson AD, Berliner JA, Hama SY, La Du BN, Faull KF, Fogelman AM, Navab M (1995) Protective effect of high density lipoprotein associated paraoxonase. Inhibition of the biological activity of minimally oxidized low density lipoprotein. J Clin Invest 96:2882-91.
- Venable ME, Zimmerman GA, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM (1993) Platelet-activating factor: a phospholipid autacoid with diverse actions. J Lipid Res 34:691-702.
- Whitmore TE, Day JR, Albers JJ (1995) Localization of the human phospholipid transfer protein gene to chromosome 20q12-q13.1. Genomics 28:599-600.
- Williams PT, Haskell WL, Vranizan KM, Krauss RM (1995) The associations of high-density lipoprotein subclasses with insulin and glucose levels, physical activity, resting heart rate, and regional adiposity in men with coronary artery disease: the Stanford Coronary Risk Intervention Project baseline survey. Metabolism 44:106-114.
- Wilund KR, Ferrell RE, Phares DA, Goldberg AP, Hagberg JM (2002) Changes in high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol subfractions with exercise training may be dependent on cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) genotype. Metabolism 51:774-778.
- Wink J, Giacoppe G, King J (2002) Effect of very-low-dose niacin on high-density lipoprotein in patients undergoing long-term statin therapy. Am Heart J 143:514-518.
- Wofford JL, Kahl FR, Howard GR, McKinney WM, Toole JF, Crouse JR, 3rd (1991) Relation of extent of extracranial carotid artery atherosclerosis as measured by B-mode ultrasound to the extent of coronary atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb 11:1786-1794.
- von Eckardstein A, Funke H, Henke A, Altland K, Benninghoven A, Assmann G (1989) Apolipoprotein A-I variants. Naturally occurring substitutions of proline residues affect plasma concentration of apolipoprotein A-I. J Clin Invest 84:1722-1730.
- Xia P, Gamble JR, Rye KA, Wang L, Hii CS, Cockerill P, Khew-Goodall Y, Bert AG, Barter PJ, Vadas MA (1998) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces adhesion molecule expression through the sphingosine kinase pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:14196-14201.
- Xia P, Vadas MA, Rye KA, Barter PJ, Gamble JR (1999) High density lipoproteins (HDL) interrupt the sphingosine kinase signaling pathway. A possible mechanism for protection against atherosclerosis by HDL. J Biol Chem 274:33143-33147.
- Xu S, Laccotripe M, Huang X, Rigotti A, Zannis VI, Krieger M (1997) Apolipoproteins of HDL can directly mediate binding to the scavenger receptor SR-BI, an HDL receptor that mediates selective lipid uptake. J Lipid Res 38:1289-1298.

- Yamakawa-Kobayashi K, Yanagi H, Fukayama H, Hirano C, Shimakura Y, Yamamoto N, Arinami T, Tsuchiya S, Hamaguchi H (1999) Frequent occurrence of hypoalphalipoproteinemia due to mutant apolipoprotein A-I gene in the population: a population-based survey. Hum Mol Genet 8:331-336.
- Yamashita S, Sprecher DL, Sakai N, Matsuzawa Y, Tarui S, Hui DY (1990) Accumulation of apolipoprotein E-rich high density lipoproteins in hyperalphalipoproteinemic human subjects with plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein deficiency. J Clin Invest 86:688-695.
- Yanagisawa K, Hingstrup Larsen L, Andersen G, Drivsholm T, Cederberg A, Westergren R, Borch-Johnsen K, Pedersen O, Enerback S, Hansen T (2003) The FOXC2 -512C>T variant is associated with hypertriglyceridaemia and increased serum C-peptide in Danish Caucasian glucose-tolerant subjects. Diabetologia 46:1576-80.
- Yang X, Enerback S, Smith U (2003) Reduced expression of FOXC2 and brown adipogenic genes in human subjects with insulin resistance. Obes Res 11:1182-1191.
- Yang XP, Freeman LA, Knapper CL, Amar MJ, Remaley A, Brewer HB, Jr., Santamarina-Fojo S (2002) The E-box motif in the proximal ABCA1 promoter mediates transcriptional repression of the ABCA1 gene. J Lipid Res 43:297-306.
- Yla-Herttuala S (1991) Macrophages and oxidized low density lipoproteins in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Ann Med 23:561-567.
- Yui Y, Aoyama T, Morishita H, Takahashi M, Takatsu Y, Kawai C (1988) Serum prostacyclin stabilizing factor is identical to apolipoprotein A-I (Apo A-I). A novel function of Apo A-I. J Clin Invest 82:803-807.
- Zhong S, Sharp DS, Grove JS, Bruce C, Yano K, Curb JD, Tall AR (1996) Increased coronary heart disease in Japanese-American men with mutation in the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene despite increased HDL levels. J Clin Invest 97:2917-2923.
- Zimmerman GA, Elstad MR, Lorant DE, McLntyre TM, Prescott SM, Topham MK, Weyrich AS, Whatley RE (1996) Platelet-activating factor (PAF): signalling and adhesion in cell-cell interactions. Adv Exp Med Biol 416:297-304.
- Zouali H, Hani EH, Philippi A, Vionnet N, Beckmann JS, Demenais F, Froguel P (1997) A susceptibility locus for early-onset non-insulin dependent (type 2) diabetes mellitus maps to chromosome 20q, proximal to the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene. Hum Mol Genet 6:1401-1408.